
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Police and Crime Committee 

Date Wednesday 3 July 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Unmesh Desai AM (Chair) 
Steve O'Connell AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Sian Berry AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 

Len Duvall AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Peter Whittle AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Tuesday 25 June 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  
Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458. 
 
For media enquiries please contact Aoife Nolan, Communications Officer on  
020 7983 4067.  Email: aoife.nolan@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items 
please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:aoife.nolan@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Police and Crime Committee 
Wednesday 3 July 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair. 

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests; 

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Standing Delegation  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the standing delegation set out below, 

which was agreed by the London Assembly (Plenary) meeting on 6 June 2019, to 

Chairs of ordinary committees, sub-committees and working groups to agree, in 

consultation with relevant party Lead Group Members and Deputy Chairs: 

a) The detailed terms of reference for any investigation to be undertaken by the 

relevant committee, sub-committee or working group within its work 

programme as agreed by the GLA Oversight Committee, and any related 

project plans and arrangements for related site visits or informal meetings; 

and 

 

 

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

b) The topic and scope for any additional projects to be added to its work 

programme, where it is not practicable to secure prior approval from the 

GLA Oversight Committee and subject also to subsequent ratification by the 

GLA Oversight Committee. 

 
 

4 Minutes (Pages 5 - 88) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meetings of the 

Police and Crime Committee held on 23 May 2019 and 4 June 2019 to be signed by 

the Chair as correct records. 
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 52 and 57 to 88 are attached for 

Members and officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 
 
 

5 Summary List of Actions (Pages 89 - 110) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed, ongoing and closed actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee, as listed in the report. 
 
 

6 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 111 - 114) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the recent action taken by the Chair under delegated authority, 

following consultation with the party Group Lead Members and Caroline 

Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to: 

(i) Agree the scope and terms of reference for the Committee’s scrutiny 

investigation of sexual offences and rape; and 

(ii) Agree the arrangements for the Committee’s site visit to the Central 

South Basic Command Unit. 

 

(b) Note the summary of the site visit to Brixton Police Station on 19 June 2019, 

as set out in paragraphs 4.2 to 4.4 of the report. 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

7 Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and 
Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service (Pages 115 - 184) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Janette Roker, janette.roker@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6562 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note monthly report from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, attached 

at Appendix 1 to the report, as background to the question and answer 

session with the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and Metropolitan 

Police Service; and 

 

(a) Note the report and answers given by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and 

Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service to the questions asked by 

Members. 
 

 The appendix to the report set out on pages 117 to 184 is attached for Members and officers 

only but is available from the following area of the GLA’s website: www.london.gov.uk/mayor-

assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 
 
 

8 Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Pages 185 - 188) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Janette Roker, janette.roker@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6562 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the progress on its work programme as set out in the report; and 

 

(b) Note the topics for its thematic meetings in July, September and first 

thematic meeting in October 2019, which are subject to approval of the GLA 

Oversight Committee at its meeting on 1 July 2019. 
 
 

9 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday, 17 July 2019 at 10am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

10 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:janette.roker@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
mailto:janette.roker@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 3 July 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 
 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Police and Crime Committee 
Date: Thursday 23 May 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 

  

 
Present: 
 
Unmesh Desai AM (Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Sian Berry AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Peter Whittle AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from: Steve O’Connell AM, Deputy Chair, for whom 

Keith Prince AM attended as a substitute; and Len Duvall AM. 

 

1.2 The Chair welcomed pupils and staff from Oakfield Preparatory School, West Dulwich, who 

observed the meeting from the public gallery.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Thursday 23 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 
3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the Police and Crime Committee meeting held on 30 April 2019 

be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 
 

That the outstanding and completed actions arising from the previous meetings of 

the Committee, as listed in the report, be noted. 

 
 
5   Response to the Committee's Letter on Setting Local Policing Priorities 

and Tackling Neighbourhood Crime (Item 5) 

 
5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
5.2 Resolved: 
 

That the response from the Mayor to the Committee’s letter on setting local 

policing priorities and tackling neighbourhood crime, as attached at Appendix 1 to 

the report, be noted. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Thursday 23 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

6   Hate Crime (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat, as background to 

putting questions to invited guests on hate crime in London. 

 

6.2 The Chairman welcomed the following guests: 

 Dave Rich, Head of Policy, Community Security Trust; 

 Jemma Levene, Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate; 

 Louise Holden, London Deaf & Disabled People Organisation’s Hate Crime Partnership;  

 Henrietta Doyle, Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London; 

 Nick Antjoule, Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop;  

 Superintendent Waheed Khan, Metropolitan Police Service (MPS); and 

 Iman Atta OBE, Director, Tell MAMA.  
 

6.3 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

6.4 During the course of the discussion, the following undertakings were given: 

 The Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London, agreed to provide comments on 

whether housing providers had a role to help disabled people who were being exploited 

by gangs;  

 The Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop, agreed to share Galop’s proposal to the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, which included different options to scale up 

CATCH; 

 The Superintendent, MPS, agreed to: 

-  Provide Comparative figures for satisfaction rates for victims of hate for the way in 

which the MPS had dealt with the hate crime perpetrated against them as 

compared to victim satisfaction rates in other police forces; 

-  Confirm the number of online hate crimes that had been identified and recorded 

by the Central Hate Crime Hub since its establishment in April 2017;  

-  Provide any statistics or achievements in relation to removing posts on websites 

which incited hate crime and comment on the speed with which those links and 

websites were taken down and from which platforms; and 

-  Provide in due course the new risk assessment procedure being developed to help 
frontline officers deal with hate crime. 

 

6.5 At the end of the discussion, the Chairman thanked the guests for their attendance and very 

helpful contributions. 

 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Thursday 23 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

6.6 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the action taken by the Chair under delegated authority, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, 

to agree the scope for the Committee’s investigation of hate crime, be 

noted. 

 

(b) That the report and discussion be noted. 

 

(c) That authority be delegated to the Chair of the Committee, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any 

output from the discussion. 

 
 
7   Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

That the work programme as set out in the report be noted. 

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The date of the next meeting was scheduled for Tuesday, 4 June 2019 at 10am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 

9.1 The Chair, on behalf of the Committee, thanked Rebecca Owen-Evans, former Assistant 

Scrutiny Manager, who had now left the Greater London Authority, for her work in 

supporting the Committee. 

 

9.2 There was no other business the Chair considered urgent. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting 

 

10.1 The meeting ended at 12.42pm. 

 
 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Thursday 23 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

Chair  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
  

London Assembly Police and Crime Committee – 23 May 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 6 – Hate Crime 
 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We now move to the main business item, which is a discussion with invited 

guests on hate crime in London.  I would like to welcome all our guests.  Can I ask you to briefly introduce 

yourselves?  Can I start off with you, Dave? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  My name is Dave Rich.  I am Director of Policy at 

the Community Security Trust (CST). 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  My name is Jemma Levene.  I am Deputy Director of 

Hope Not Hate. 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  My name 

is Louise Holden.  I am the Partnership Manager at Inclusion London for the London Deaf & Disabled People’s 

Organisations Hate Crime Partnership. 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  My name is Henrietta Doyle.  I am 

Policy Officer at Inclusion London, which is a disabled people’s user-led organisation. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Good morning, everyone.  My name is 

Waheed Khan.  I am a Superintendent with the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) and I am the MPS’s hate 

crime lead. 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  Iman Atta, Director of TellMAMA, Measuring Anti-Muslim Attacks. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you.  We have four sets of questions.  I am going to lead off on the first 

set of questions, which is about encouraging victims of hate crime to come forward and report. 

 

Just to set the scene, reports of hate crime are increasing.  In your experience, is this because of an increased 

willingness to report or is it a measurable increase in the number of offences taking place?  This question is 

directed at all of you, if I can start off with you, Dave? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  The antisemitic hate incidents and hate crimes 

reported to CST specifically have been at record high levels for the last three years.  The patterns that they 

show lead us to believe that there is genuinely an increase in the number of incidents taking place, but there is 

probably also an increase in the willingness and motivation to report these incidents.  These both come from 

the same drivers.  We have seen so much talk in public and in political life about antisemitism and so many 

front-page stories over the last two or three years, and this increases the number of antisemitic incidents and 

hate crimes because it puts the issue in the minds of offenders.  It also motivates people to report because 

people in the Jewish community are more concerned and more worried about antisemitism and they are more 

likely to want to have something done about it. 

 

Page 11



 

 
 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  We have seen rising hate crime incidents since the 

referendum vote and that has not gone down yet.  Echoing really much of what Dave has said, in terms of 

general awareness raising meaning that more people are reporting, there are pockets where that is not the 

case.  For example, eastern European communities in London, particularly the Romanian community, lack 

infrastructure for reporting and lack confidence in reporting. 

 

Generally speaking, another thing that we would flag is that some of the sources of hate crime are coming 

from specific engineered campaigns that are being escalated on social media and beyond.  It is important not 

just to look at the levels but to look at where it is coming from and whether there is an engineered campaign 

behind that. 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  Currently, recorded disability hate 

crime is actually dropping.  It did rise.  In 2013 there was only 110 recorded.  This rose to 612 in May 2017 but 

dropped down to 419 in April 2019, which is 4.6% fewer than the previous year. 

 

We think there is a reason for this.  There was a very good initiative in the MPS to raise the response and 

improve the first frontline response of the police.  It was called Disability Hate Crime Matters and the Disabled 

People’s Organisation gave briefings to the police.  Following those briefings there was a rise, but since those 

briefings have stopped there has been a drop.  We are very keen for those briefings or a similar initiative to 

continue in the MPS.  It is absolutely crucial.  They stopped after the cuts and the restructuring, but I heard 

from MPS officers that there are good initiatives taking place, which made me positive that it is going to be 

embedded in the MPS. 

 

It is crucial.  That frontline response from the police when someone actually has the courage to come forward 

to report a hate crime is really vital. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Can I just clarify something?  Did you say at the beginning that the number of 

reported crimes has dropped? 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  Yes.  In May 2017 it rose to 612 

and in April 2019 it had dropped down to 419, which is a 4.6% drop again from last year. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Is that a drop in terms of online hate crimes reported as well? 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  To be honest, I just got the figures.  

I do not know.  It is what is recorded and reported to the MPS.  I do not know the differentiation between the 

two.  It is just disability hate crime. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  I do not want to press you on this, but the information that I have in front of me 

- and this is national survey of England and Wales - says that online hate crime against disabled people has 

risen by a third in the last year. 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  Yes, my colleague was mentioning 

that, but I am talking about London and what is recorded by the MPS.  Yes, again, as you said, nationally there 

is a rise. 

 

Page 12



 

 
 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Nick, we are talking about reporting of hate crimes increasing.  In your 

experience, is this because of an increased willingness to report or a measurable increase in the number of 

offences taking place? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Thank you.  I suspect that in large part - or at least 

an element of it - is increased reporting.  However, I know that we and lots of other anti-hate crime 

organisations in London generally are saying that it is ramping up.  The divisions between communities are 

driving prejudice and an escalation in the scale and seriousness of hate crimes that we are seeing is very 

noticeable.  In terms of just very practically, the types of issues that we are helping people with are far more 

extreme than we would have seen, say, three, four or five years ago.  To my mind, that is having huge impacts 

on communities.  Also, it is a real demonstration of the need for us all to work together better, to think about 

what is driving it and to be working with those people who are victimised to try to get them the response they 

need. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Good morning, everyone.  I would agree 

that there are a number of factors that lead to the reason why we are seeing more reporting to us.  Some of it 

is around the confidence.  People have the option of being able to either approach the police directly or via 

the partners that we have.  Some are around the table here.  As a member of the public, if you do not feel 

confident that you want to approach a police officer, you can approach one of the partners.  That is one way 

that we have seen an increase in reporting. 

 

We also need to take on board that certain events will also maybe lead to an increase in reporting.  We know, 

for example, that following the referendum back in 2016, we saw a spike in the number of hate crimes.  That is 

something that we need to take on board.  I would agree with what is being said, but we need to take on 

board that there are a number of factors rather than one particular factor that we can point to. 

 

Also, the other thing to say is that from a policing perspective, there is an increased awareness.  Officers are 

more aware and better trained in terms of dealing with incidents of hate crime as well. 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  I agree with what my colleagues have just mentioned.  There is a 

global rise in hate across the world.  In anti-Muslim hatred, what we have been seeing in the last three years 

there is a significant increase in reports coming into us but also into police forces.  There is better awareness in 

police forces in flagging and addressing hate incidents and hate crimes. 

 

There is more work on a partnership level between different organisations and referrals between the partner 

agencies that we have because, when we look at hate crimes, we have to look at the intersection of identities 

that we have.  It might be that an individual who is from the lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) 

community has reported to Galop, but that individual has been attacked as well for their Muslim identity and 

so they will be referred onwards to us.  There is an increase in referrals, an increase in awareness, an increase in 

the police’s awareness in flagging these hate crimes. 

 

Brexit has shed a light on what racism is in the United Kingdom (UK) and therefore people are coming more 

forward to report hate incidents and racism. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Moving on, if I can start with you, Iman, how is hate crime experienced by the 

victims you support?  Does it tend to be verbal harassment and physical abuse or is it aggravated or motivated 

crime?  Can you give us a flavour of the cases you get?  And the same question to Dave [Rich], Nick [Antjoule] 

and Henrietta [Doyle]. 

Page 13



 

 
 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  The cases that we get take place in two different forms.  There are 

the street-level cases, the majority of which are abusive behaviour, name-calling.  We are seeing more attacks 

that are demonstrated in physical aggression and more attacks on institutions, on mosques, whether it is 

vandalism, whether it is arson attacks.  We have seen this following the murder of [Fusilier] Lee Rigby  

[22 May 2013] but we continue to see it following trigger events and because institutions are visible.  When 

someone is visible, they are being attacked for their identity. 

 

What we see in the online world, if I can talk about it, is the silent impact on victims.  It is the psychological 

impact that happens when victims are abused online, when you cannot locate the perpetrator, when this 

ongoing hatred goes on.  That carries a huge psychological impact that unfortunately victims carry on.  At 

street level it is abusive behaviour, physical aggression and vandalism on institutions and in the online world it 

is really what is happening in terms of hate speech and the impact on both levels that victims carry on through 

that journey and how we within our work at TellMAMA support those victims through this journey. 

 

From the moment victims come into us, reporting, whether it is reports that they face online or at street level, 

we take them through a journey to provide them with a holistic approach.  It might be that it is a multiple 

agency approach, working with other agencies, and it might be that it is an approach only and solely from our 

anti-Muslim perspective through our work.  We provide them with emotional support, counselling, advocacy 

and lobbying, as well as taking them through the criminal justice system if there is enough evidence that is 

corroborated to take it further. 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  It is a very similar picture with antisemitic hate 

crime.  We get a whole range of types of antisemitic incidents and hate crimes reported to us, but I would say 

the single most common type involves a random Jewish person walking down the street.  They may be 

somehow visibly Jewish because of what they are wearing or carrying and another random person walking or 

driving past shouts antisemitic abuse at them.  If they are unlucky the person tries to throw something at them 

and if they are very unlucky the person tries to throw a punch.  Most of the incidents we have reported to us 

are verbal or written antisemitism, but it is that kind of random interaction or it is targeted antisemitism 

directed at Jewish organisations and at synagogues and very much in the last year or two at prominent Jewish 

public figures, especially those in political life or who are commenting on politics.  Of course, there is an 

increasing amount on social media.  You get the same patterns repeated on social media in terms of targeting 

high-profile people or just random interactions. 

 

Again, we try to give the people who report to us a very similar support.  In fact, TellMAMA and we produced 

this guide, Hate crime: A guide to those affected, which effectively walks a victim or a witness through the 

entire process from when they first report to post-conviction, post-sentencing, post-acquittal even.  It is a very 

straightforward guide to everything they may encounter, what is involved in giving a statement, what is 

involved in giving evidence.  We will accompany witnesses and victims to court to give them that kind of 

support and get them whatever referrals they need.  Our approach is very much a victim-centred approach.  It 

really is about what they most need and want in order to come out of the experience feeling safer, feeling 

heard and feeling like they have got what they want out of that process. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We have a set of questions about raising awareness, but if I can ask you at this 

stage about that guide that you referred to that you have done with TellMAMA, how do you get it out? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  The MPS has been very helpful in helping us to 

distribute it to their officers.  It has been placed in courtrooms as well.  It is something that we have online and 

Page 14



 

 
 

we will send an online copy to everybody who report to us.  We want to get it out there as far as we can.  

Those are the different methods.  The Crown Prosecution Service (CPS), which helped us to write it, and the 

police have been very helpful in that respect. 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  Disabled 

people can experience any type of hate crime.  The main hate crime is verbal on a daily basis.  What we are 

suggesting is that the figures do not reflect the abuse that people are suffering on a daily basis.  They perceive 

it as part of everyday life.  The type of verbal abuse would be, “You should have been aborted.  You do not 

deserve to live.  What is it doing?”  There is a general attitude that disabled people’s lives are less worthy than 

other people’s. 

 

We think that this relates to the rhetoric from politicians reported in the media as saying that disabled people 

are benefit scroungers and are a drain on society.  This was since the Welfare Reform Bill [Welfare Reform 

Act 2012] was introduced.  We have a quote from a disabled woman who said, “I rarely go into town and I do 

not use my big mobility scooter anymore because of the abuse.  I feel safer in my car with the doors locked”.  

It can start off with minor incidents - for example, a neighbour putting bins in front of someone’s car so they 

cannot get in and out of their disabled parking bay - but these things can escalate really quickly. 

 

Disabled people are also called paedophiles and this is not uncommon.  They are isolated in their community.  

They maybe do not act as a general part of the community.  It is very common for disabled people to be 

labelled as paedophiles. 

 

They have been physically attacked, tortured and murdered, and none of these crimes have been identified as 

disability hate crimes.  There was a particular case in 2016 when a woman from Maida Vale admitted three 

counts of assault on a person with learning difficulties.  The perpetrator poured bleach on the woman with 

learning difficulties, hit her with a frying pan, did not give her food and threw her outside naked.  The 

perpetrator was arrested after the victim was taken to hospital.  The victim had been living with the abuser for 

14 months.  This is a good example of what is called ‘cuckooing’. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We are going to come to that later. 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  Sure. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Before I bring you in, Nick, my colleague Assembly Member Hall has a question. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, please.  I am absolutely appalled at what you are saying politicians say because, whilst it 

is very difficult to deal with neighbours who are alleged to have said something, political parties should deal 

with that.  Who?  I can honestly say I have never heard that because I would call it out. 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  I have some quotes.  It was by 

Members of Parliament (MPs) like David Cameron [former Prime Minister].  It started in 2010 when the 

Welfare Reform Bill was beginning to go through Parliament.  I will give you a quote from Iain Duncan Smith 

[former Secretary of State for Work and Pensions].  It is always reported in a newspaper.  It is reported in the 

media.  Iain Duncan Smith said, “We will root out the benefit cheats who pretend to be ill for money.  Some 

people see the welfare state as a money-making scam”.  That was in the Daily Express in 2014.  

George Osborne [former Chancellor of the Exchequer] and David Cameron have all said similar things on a 

similar theme. 

 

Page 15



 

 
 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Susan, can you reply and then I do not want to drift away from -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, but I must call this out.  He is not actually saying that.  He is saying the ones that 

pretend to be disabled.  The people who pretend to be disabled in any which way take money away from those 

who are disabled.  David Cameron himself had a severely disabled child.  That is why I find it -- 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  All right.  You have made your point.  Susan, please. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It does not matter which side of the political argument it is.  That is not what they were 

saying at that time.  They were saying the people that were not and they are the ones that take the money 

away from the disabled and we do not fund the disabled enough anyway.  That is where they were coming 

from. 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  Can I come back on that?  At the 

time, disability benefit fraud was very low.  For the Disability Living Allowance, which is one of the main 

benefits for disabled people, it was 0.5%.  What happened was that this rhetoric was picked up by the 

mainstream media and for each week there was a similar story.  It created a culture in society that -- 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We do have questions later on about the use of language by politicians.  Nick, 

can I come to you? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  At Galop within our LGBT-specialist anti-hate crime 

service, we see a mixture.  People experience various different things.  Part of it is very serious, life-changing 

attacks.  Part of it is more every day, perhaps verbal abuse that happens every week for five years to someone 

where they live.  The impact will just build up and build up.  It is a mixture of things. 

 

To draw out some parts where LGBT hate crime differs slightly, proportionately there tends to be more 

violence involved in anti-LGBT hate crime than other forms of hate.  There is more online abuse, purely when 

you look at the offences and how they divvy up.  When you look at research, there is more sexual violence 

involved in anti-LGBT hate, specifically involving transphobia or that against bisexual women. 

 

Just to pick up on Louise’s [Holden] point about that day-to-day abuse that will build up and has this real risk 

of escalating very quickly, that is also a big part of our caseload.  To my mind, that is one of the real 

opportunities.  For the big portion of our caseload where very serious, life-changing injuries have been caused 

by really extreme violence, there are far more open doors to getting that person what they need.  When there 

are really serious, sustained forms of hatred that are more ongoing in a harassment context, it can be very 

difficult.  However, when you look at lots of the case studies of hate crimes where they have gone very 

seriously wrong, like the [Fiona] Pilkington case or many others, it is those things where partnerships need to 

come together to not miss those opportunities.  Things might be seen as antisocial behaviour but actually they 

can escalate into people’s lives being lost very quickly. 

 

Just to pick up on Dave’s [Rich] point, we also have two guides, really good competitive ones for LGBT victims 

of hate crime and professionals.  I am happy to share them if that would be helpful. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  If I can come to you, Iman, TellMAMA has said that the MPS’s response 

following the Westminster Bridge attack prevented a spike in hate incidents.  How confident are you that 

spikes in hate crime can be avoided in the future? 

 

Page 16



 

 
 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  The Westminster attack and the very co-ordinated approach that 

took place between governments, politicians, civil society organisations and police forces and the messages 

that brought communities together was a model that actually worked for the Westminster attack.  The 

immediate and co-ordinated response, joint communication and the messages coming out from different 

communities in standing against all types of intolerance and extremism, the rapid assessment that took place 

from police forces and governmental officials to ensure places of worship were secured and communities were 

secured.  An online assessment through the Home Office and the MPS or the National Police Chief’s Council 

(NPCC) is important to see where the threat is coming from and how to be able to address it.  What we have 

seen following the Westminster attack is that that co-ordinated approach and those messages came out very 

strongly. 

 

Unfortunately, the UK has been hit following that with further attacks.  The response was an immediate 

response from police forces really to tackle the issue and to address the issue because they were horrific 

attacks, whether it was the Manchester Arena attack, the London Bridge attack or following that the Finsbury 

Park Muslim Welfare House attack and the Parsons Green attack.  There were a few attacks where all the 

resources went into the response and the joint messaging that we had seen following Westminster was not all 

in unity as it was communicated across following the Westminster attacks.  That plan of action that the MPS 

has put together with governmental officials, with Home Office and with communities as well coming together 

worked very well following Westminster compared to other terrorist attacks. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Finally, recorded hate crime across many of the different types has been 

increasing since 2014/15.  What happened then to result in the growth in recorded offences?  Can you just 

explain?  Recorded hate crime has increased since 2014/15.  At the same time, there was a growth in recorded 

offences as well.  What happened then to result in a growth in recorded offences? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Basically, anything that is brought to our 

attention is recorded and we will look into it.  We are working with our partners to make sure that we are 

capturing what is reported to us directly and what is reported to them. 

 

I am not sure what the question was.  What are you trying to ask, sorry? 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We had an increase in the reporting of recorded hate crimes over the last five 

years.  At the same time there was also an increase in the growth in recorded offences.  Is it because of better 

police training and procedures? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  It is a combination of everything that we 

have spoken about so far.  It is around police officers being more aware of, when they deal with a hate crime, 

what they need to do.  It is about working with our partners to make sure that we have a consistent message.  

As you were saying, following the Westminster attacks, we had that consistent message so that people had 

confidence.  They know that if they report something will be done about it. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Exactly.  That is the reason why I am asking this question.  We are coming to the 

under-reporting of offences.  After our last session on hate crime, a member of the [former] Metropolitan 

Police Authority texted me to ask, “Why are we still talking 20 years on about reporting and more reporting?”  

Of course, we want people to report more, but the debate is still dominated by the fact that we are still asking 

people to report. 

 

Page 17



 

 
 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Anecdotally, I am sure everyone will agree 

around here.  As much as we know there has been an increase in reporting, that does not capture the full 

picture.  I think everyone will agree with that.  I accept it may have been a debate that is going on for a while, 

but that does not negate from the fact that we do need to encourage people to come forward and report so 

that we get a truer reflection of what happens in London. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  If we just move on to the next set of questions for the next part, which is about 

under-reporting of hate crimes and encouraging victims to come forward and report, I will hand over to my 

colleague Assembly Member Pidgeon. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Lovely.  Thank you.  What is the biggest barrier to people reporting hate crime?  

I am trying to understand also if it differs between different groups in the community.  Picking up from some 

of the comments you have already said, it is almost like most victims have some sort of level of resilience and 

accept everyday racism, hatred or whatever almost as the norm, which is a horrific place to be if that is the 

case.  I wonder.  Let us start with Dave and go around the table.  What is the biggest barrier? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  Research that has been done on this is primarily 

by the European Union Fundamental Rights Agency, which did a large survey of Jewish communities across 

Europe [2018] last year, having done a similar survey six years prior.  That found the most common reason 

given for not reporting is that the person did not think anything would happen as a result.  The next most 

common was that it happens so often.  What is the point?  It is too much trouble. 

 

Within the Jewish community, you get different sectors where you will get differing rates and different 

reasons.  When we work with students at Jewish schools, there is definitely a lack of understanding of what 

hate crime is.  They will have experienced antisemitism quite often on the bus from kids from other schools 

without really understanding that that is what is going on and that it is something worth reporting.  You can 

then look at different parts of the community that are perhaps more integrated into wider communal structures 

or have better or worse engagement with authorities in different ways.  You will get different pockets that 

really need focusing on. 

 

That same European Union survey found that only 21% of British Jews who had experienced antisemitic 

harassment in the previous five years had reported it to anybody.  There is a large problem of under-reporting. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you for that.  Jemma? 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  Yes, it is a similar pattern across, really.  There is a 

normalisation issue, particularly when it comes to gender and particularly when it comes to young people.  

What is considered acceptable or normal behaviour has moved so far from what it should be that people are 

not recognising the hate crime that they are experiencing, certainly not hate speech. 

 

When it comes to some more marginalized communities, particularly new migrant communities, there is a lack 

of trust in authority and a lack of awareness of how to do it.  Language can be a barrier, too.  I am really 

echoing the experience of the Jewish community across all communities that we work with. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you, Jemma.   

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  Picking up on what you were 

saying, disabled people often just soak it up and it is not until they go to their Disabled People’s Organisation, 

Page 18



 

 
 

maybe with another problem to do with their housing or welfare benefits.  It is in the course of a conversation 

that they might tell of an incident and the staff member will recognise it as hate crime. 

 

The other issue, as I mentioned before, is that sometimes the initial police response is not appropriate.  It 

might be because the person is seen as an unreliable witness.  That can happen, particularly with people with 

learning difficulties or mental health support needs.  We have been hearing more recently of two aspects: that 

it is not recognised by the police as a hate crime, and that it is seen as antisocial behaviour and is put on what 

the MPS calls Airspace and is not fully investigated.  I was at an event where there was a large housing 

association and they said they have tried to report disability hate crimes and it has been passed back to them 

as antisocial behaviour that they need to act on. 

 

The other barrier is to do with access needs.  There is a range of access needs.  If it is a deaf person coming to 

report a crime at a police station, then a British Sign Language interpreter may be needed.  A person with 

learning difficulties may not understand what is happening and what the process is.  They may just be in a 

state of shock and so not be able to verbalise what is happening.  There is a huge need for advocacy at the 

police stations.  There is a disadvantage that follows on from that in that sometimes it can take a while for the 

advocate or the appropriate MPS staff member to come.  It might be a matter of weeks or longer and so there 

can then be a delay for the whole process of reporting.  Also, the reporting venue needs to be local.  For 

disabled people travel can be an issue and so it is important that there is a local venue where it can take place. 

 

Another issue is that the disabled person can be isolated.  Sometimes it is a carer or a member of the family 

that is abusing the person and it is difficult for that person to leave their home, get out and report.  That is 

another issue.  Not all disabled people find using the telephone easy.  People are different.  Also, not all 

disabled people have a computer and can report online.  There is a whole variety of different barriers. 

 

This is why it is so important to have local disabled people’s organisations there as a reporting centre because 

quite often those organisations are already known to the disabled person.  The services are fully accessible and 

sometimes the staff member is known and so it is familiar and much easier for a disabled person to talk about 

an incident and then get the follow-on support to report, as we call it, to go to the police.  We support them 

through the process of going to the police and then to court if the investigation and court case goes forward. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Can I just pick up before I bring in Nick the issue of access?  Ninety per cent of 

recorded hate crimes to the MPS came from either a phone call to the police or a visit to a police station.  You 

are talking about access locally.  Clearly, police stations have been closed, many of them over recent years.  

They were not all accessible, I know, but they have been closed.  Is that causing an extra barrier for the people 

you represent in reporting? 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  It can do.  It does not always.  If 

someone goes to a disabled people’s organisation, then a staff member can pick up the phone or they can 

report online.  If it is a disabled person themselves and they are not in touch with other support networks and 

there is not a local station and they do not know about the alternative - because I responded to the 

consultation and I know there was an intention to set up local, hopefully easy-to-access help - then it can. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you.   

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  I would just say firstly that under-reporting is still a 

huge issue.  Just looking at antisocial behaviour, the Government Equalities Office produced a really fantastic 

piece of research last year [2018] that asked over a 100,000 LGBT people in the UK their opinions on issues 

Page 19



 

 
 

including hate crime.  What they found was that just under half of those people who are LGBT had faced some 

form of hate crime recently and that 91% did not report the most serious incident.  That is not 91% under-

reporting in general; that is just the most serious incident.  There is a huge chunk of very serious, impactful 

incidents that people are experiencing, and we do not have the systems in place to incentivise them to be able 

to speak up. 

 

Just to echo what Dave [Rich] was saying about most of the most common barriers, they are the same across 

the board.  One or two that I would add in are normalisation.  Like you were pointing out, for people just to 

feel that some level of hate crime is a normal, accepted part of life is a very widespread experience for lots of 

LGBT people, alongside lots of people who experience hate crime in general.  Also, there is a barrier around 

recognition and actually people recognising that this is hate crime they are experiencing. 

 

One point where LGBT hate crime is so different is a fear of wasting police time.  That is a very common 

experience for people facing homophobia, biphobia or transphobia. 

 

Just to pick apart the question slightly, under-reporting is still a huge issue.  With that said, it has been part of 

our policy in the UK for almost decades of really changing around that improving reporting and the recording, 

which is a really important part of this too.  What we have not been so great at is the next part of the puzzle.  

What happens once people actually report?  What kind of response do they get? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We are going to come to that. 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Great.  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you.  You are quite right.  When I have had people to come to me with 

homophobic hate crime, members of the public, they have come to me because they do not feel the police are 

going to believe them.  They are almost wanting me to help by advocating on their behalf.  Can we come to 

you, Iman, please? 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  From the Muslim community’s perspective and echoing what my 

colleagues have just mentioned, yes, there is a fear of wasting police time.  The element of normalisation 

comes very strongly through in the outreach events that we do across the country. 

 

Women are the number one victims of anti-Muslim hatred.  Of the victims who are reporting to us, 58% are 

women.  They tend to be attacked in two layers: one of sexism because of their gender and two because of 

their visibility.  They say that they have been going down the streets, hearing words and getting abused, but 

never thought that they could come forward and report it and that it would be taken seriously.  They do not 

know their rights.  Definitely, there is no awareness about this.  There is no awareness about things being 

criminal and so people thinking that it will get to a criminal threshold. 

 

The other thing is there is a narrative that is being promoted within certain parts of Muslim communities that 

the Government is not there to trust [the victim] and authorities are not there to trust and, therefore, do not 

go and report.  That is one thing to look at. 

 

There is an element to look at as well in terms of the lack of follow-up with victims.  When victims tend to 

report, there is sometimes a lack of follow-up and informing them of the process.  That victim drops off that 

network and that victim will tell his family or her family and friends and therefore that will create further 

Page 20



 

 
 

barriers.  It is a domino effect.  In some instances, victims would have had a poor outcome and, if they had a 

poor outcome, then again they would not go back and trust the system and report back in. 

 

We need to think really when we are talking about these issues.  What happens to this percentage of victims 

that fall off the system?  What support are they getting?  Who is supporting them?  Where are these reports 

coming through and how do you create that balance and really provide that support to these victims? 

 

The last thing to mention about Muslim communities is that we have over 3 million [members of] Muslim 

communities in the UK.  They come from super diverse backgrounds.  Some of them come from cultures where 

police forces are not there to help in their countries.  That is a huge barrier that we see within certain parts of 

Muslim communities.  They would not even think that police forces are there to support them. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Very interesting.  Thank you for that.  Could I come to you, Waheed?  We have 

heard what some of the barriers are.  We heard earlier from Henrietta about the Disability Hate Crime Matters 

programme specifically, which resulted in a significant increase in reporting.  What did that programme involve 

and why did it stop? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  I actually cannot say why it has stopped, 

but what I can say is that the reason why such initiatives exist is to try to make sure that we are having 

different avenues and different options for people to report so that we can record the hate crime. 

 

From what we have heard, if we just look at what we have heard so far, it is clear that there are a number of 

barriers that lead to not reporting hate crime.  From our perspective, there are probably three things I would 

say that we are doing to try to address these points. 

 

The first obvious one is to say that we cannot solve this by ourselves and it is about working in partnership 

with everyone around this table as well as with the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC). 

 

The second thing to say is that we have funding that we received from MOPAC, for example, that we use to 

engage with the eastern European community, which we find, for reasons that Iman [Atta OBE] put very 

eloquently, are very reluctant to engage with us in the way that they may do with other people.  That is for a 

number of reasons.  It may be because the police forces where they have come from may not work in the same 

way that we operate here, but we try to engage in the best way that we can.  That is another thing that I 

wanted to say. 

 

I also wanted to say that I will take on board exactly what you have said around points around disability and 

how police may not provide that initial response always, but to try to make sure that we are now consistent, 

there is a couple of new approaches that we are introducing.  The first one is following something that has 

been very successful in the domestic violence world, which is around trying to make sure that when an officer 

attends a scene, there is a certain number of things they have to complete, a checklist in effect.  We are 

looking to do the same approach for hate crime so that when an officer attends anywhere in London for a hate 

crime, they make sure that they consistent and make sure they deal with that.  That should hopefully address 

some of the points that you are making. 

 

The other point that I would say is that we are developing a booklet for victims of hate crime.  This is being 

translated.  You will have seen this as well.  It is something that we have developed in partnership with 

everyone here.  The idea behind that is just to try to, again, provide them with a different option and become 

more aware so that they can come to us.  It will be translated into 12 languages. 

Page 21



 

 
 

 

The point I am going to say is that the police, yes, have improved.  There is a lot more that we need to do, but 

hopefully the changes that you will see coming up in the next few months should make a huge difference in 

dealing with the consistency point, which will in turn lead to what Dave was saying around the lack of 

confidence that people in some communities have. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  The MPS has said that many of the hate crimes it records come directly to 

them, as I said earlier, 90%, but a number of your organisations are there supporting people as third-party 

reporters.  Do you encourage reporting directly to the police or reporting through you and how does that 

work?   

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  When people report into TellMAMA, we ask them if they feel 

comfortable.  The majority of the cases that come into us, people do not feel comfortable reporting to police 

forces.  We take them through a journey where, when we feel that they are comfortable in taking it forward to 

police forces, we are there to support them.  We liaise on their behalf with police forces.  As well, when they 

feel comfortable, we give their contact details directly to police forces to contact them.  It depends really on 

the journey with a victim. 

 

One of the things that we tend to do and push for is sharing success stories with those victims who are super 

reluctant to report to police forces, specifically if it is a case that is similar to their case, to showcase that the 

police have acted on this and there has been an arrest at the end of the day or an apology at the end of the 

day on this case.  That again further builds that trust that is currently lacking between victims and police 

forces. 

 

If I look at really why it is important for people to have third-party reporting services like us and other partners, 

it is because it is very community focused.  It is in the heart of the communities.  Different organisations have 

access to community members.  They hold events with different community members and that is where the 

intelligence and the reporting come in.  We do send strong messages to the communities we support.  They 

might be nuanced based on the insight and the research and the dynamics of each and every strength in our 

organisations.  It builds further trust in our organisations with the communities when we deliver our service and 

we follow that journey with the victims who are reporting to us and providing them with the support.  It speaks 

for itself.  Builds and empowers communities. 

 

One of the things not to forget is really that cross-partnership [working] that we are doing ourselves, whether 

it is with the Jewish community, with the LGBT community, with the disabled community, as well as other 

partner agencies that we work with.  It is very important to give the victim the holistic approach on that 

journey. 

 

Last but not least, it is quite effective when communities feel that they have someone representing them and 

speaking on their behalf.  It empowers them in one way, but on another side it gives them a space where they 

make their voice heard that sometimes is not.  So many of the victims that come into us, despite the fact that 

they do not want to go to police forces, will ask us to write about the incident that they have been through 

and post it on our website.  A lot gets picked up by the press on this as well as by police forces that actually 

come to us and say, “We did not know this happened.  How can we help?”  That actually builds further on that 

impact and trust with the victim when they see that the police forces are interested in following on this and 

have approached us to talk about this. 

 

Page 22



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Whilst it is only 10% of cases coming via your third-party organisations, you are 

saying there is an awful lot more coming through the door that you are just supporting and who do not want 

to report and do not want that sort of outcome.  Is that the same for you, Nick? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Firstly, I should say that our stance is about 

empowerment.  It is about saying, “Here are some options”, and totally supporting people in the choices they 

make and helping to inform those choices. 

 

We do lots of lots of talking with Waheed’s team.  Literally every other day more or less, my team is chatting 

with his team. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  The only thing I would say is that from our 

perspective, from the policing perspective, the absolute priority is to make sure that the report is received.  

However, when that is received, we are more than happy.  We understand people may not come to the police 

directly for a variety of reasons, but as long as that report is received, then we can collate that and we can 

work out what the trends and so forth are.  Yes, you are absolutely right.  We have a central team that will 

liaise with all the partners to make sure that the reports we receive are collated and acted upon. 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Reporting is a really key part of this, but what it 

does not necessary flag up is lots of cases that are dealt with by the MPS and we will be doing joint work 

supporting that person to report in the first place but also coming through process, supporting them in the 

courts and everything to either side of that.  It may well be that we speak to someone and they say, “Actually, 

yes, I would like to get it logged, but actually that whole process of having to find myself in court is something 

that literally is not possible for me”, or they are so fearful of being targeted because of who they are already.  

Opening themselves to an authority figure further can leave them feeling difficult, which is people’s fear. 

 

I know that the MPS does fantastic work, but when you think about the fact that it is still in many people’s 

living memory when the police were not there to help them and when being LGBT was against the law and the 

police’s job was literally to arrest them.  It is a very difficult thing to overcome.  Very often, we will help people 

to report and to get things logged down to help them through that process, but also lots of work just getting 

stuff recorded anonymously or just to get it recorded, and we will help them with the impact of what has 

happened, emotional support, getting them moved, getting the perpetrator challenged, helping with the 

financial impact of what happened, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Louise, do you want to say something on that? 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  I really 

echo what my colleagues have said there.  The short answer is, yes, we definitely want people to report.  The 

barriers are previous poor experiences with the police, particularly for the disabled community, if they have had 

previous negative experience or they have been resident in a care home or supported housing or they have a 

really big care package.  Authority figures are a big part of a disabled person’s life.  There is a general fear of 

repercussion. 

 

We are set up a bit differently to the others.  Our local disabled people’s organisations are not just there to 

help people report hate crime.  They are a completely holistic service.  It is really through building up trust with 

that person.  Initially the person may not want to report.  They may just want support to get moved away from 

the perpetrator.  We had a particular case where it was someone’s daughter and they wanted to move away 

from their neighbour, who was also disabled and who was the perpetrator. 

Page 23



 

 
 

 

Yes, we would definitely want people to report.  We know it is really under-reported.  With disability hate 

crime, the percentage is so low of [cases] actually getting to court and it is a lengthy process and it take a real 

toll on someone.  Quite often, if they are seen as a reliable witness and if they are prepared to go through it 

and they are supported through an advocate, they still may not want to follow through with that just because 

of the stress.  Having more advocacy support is so important for disabled people. 

 

We have two disabled people’s organisations as members of the Community Alliance to Combat Hate (CATCH) 

partnership.  This partnership is quite new and so we have been developing relationships.  It has been so 

positive and with the MPS as well, but we all recognise that it could be better.  Thanks. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Lovely.  Thank you.  Jemma, Dave, did you want to add anything on this third-

party reporting and what benefits it has? 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  I would like to add as an organisation that does not 

report for victims.  What we do if we do get reports in is tell people to call the police or to be in touch with 

police, but we also let them know about appropriate community-based agencies like CST, TellMAMA and 

Galop.  We are about to launch a hub that has been funded by the Building a Stronger Britain Together 

programme from the Home Office, which is called When Hate Comes to Town.  This is looking much more at 

the bigger impact on communities but in that it will have a hub that links to all the different partner agencies.  

I did not know about your two guides and so they will now get included in that content.  That is great. 

 

I also want to talk about the fact that hate crime does not ever just have one victim because it leaves a whole 

community fearful and fear of hate crime is an issue in and of itself.  Using the antisemitism example, because 

it has been so much in the public arena, the impact of that on a whole community needs to be taken into 

account as well.  The more we talk about hate crime, whether it is responsible reporting or not, the more 

fearful an impacted group will be.  It is not just an individual victim of a hate crime we need to look at.  We 

need to look at how to work with communities and to build resilience.  Of course, that is something that we 

do, but it is not really relevant to this particular discussion. 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  To answer the original question, yes, we always 

encourage people to report to the police.  If they do not want to, we will offer to do it on their behalf.  Quite a 

lot of people will initially contact CST rather than the police because it is easier and quicker.  If we offer to 

make that report on their behalf, that also answers that need. 

 

There are some people who simply do not want to go down the criminal justice route at all and they contact us 

because they want to tell someone.  They want that experience to be logged and recorded and recognised and 

to be official. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is known that something has happened, yes. 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  Perhaps there is other support and referral that 

they are looking for that is not criminal but that we can still help them with.  If those people again come 

through that process and get the satisfaction and the outcome they need without having had contact with the 

police, then that is still a success even if it does not go down as a recorded offence or a prosecution. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Also, it is helping you in terms of trying to get more accurate data on what is 

really going on.  Thank you for that. 

Page 24



 

 
 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I have one question about third-party reporting in that case.  Are there any significant gaps?  

TellMAMA, Galop and the CST are all third-party reporting groups already.  Is there a disability one and are you 

trying to get one set up?  Hope not Hate mentioned that some eastern European groups in London might 

benefit from being able to -- 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  Shall I 

answer first?  Our partnership is made up of 19 different organisations.  They are all disabled people’s 

organisations.  Some of them are third-party reporting centres and some provide direct hate crime advocacy.  

Others provide training and awareness raising for disabled people themselves to recognise that they have been 

victims. 

 

In general, there is not enough evidence.  We cannot call on research to show that that is an effective way of 

providing another option.  What I would say is that we would like to have more evidence.  We would like more 

research about around that issue for disabled people.  What we know from being a disabled people’s 

organisations ourselves is that when people present to a disabled people’s organisation, it will not necessarily 

be around hate crime.  It will be around something else. 

 

There was one case where a young man came in to use the social group and over a matter of months he started 

disclosing what was happening to him.  It was extremely serious and violent and had been prolonged.  They 

had taken over his flat and there were lots of different things.  It was only after getting him to understand 

what was happening to him that he felt confident to report.  When he reported, two police officers attended 

straight away, but he had communication issues and so he then had to wait about three months to see a 

specialist officer who could take his statement.  In that time, he was still living with those perpetrators.  They 

are still in his environment. 

 

Disabled people would not necessarily see a third-party reporting centre and attend and say, “Yes, I want to 

report a disability hate crime”.  They are more likely to come to a disabled people’s organisation about 

something else and then, through the course of building up trust, they would disclose.  It is better to have lots 

of different avenues for people to report but we do not have enough data on whether that is good for disabled 

people. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  I do not know yet whether the outcome of an 

application process that the Home Office put together has resulted in a project for eastern Europeans.  I know 

that we applied.  There was a wide application.  We did not get the funding.  I do not know if the outcomes of 

the funding addressed specifically the eastern European community.  We had applied for somebody to build a 

bilingual website in English and Romanian specifically for the Romanian community. 

 

The Polish community in Britain tends to be better supported.  There is more infrastructure.  It has more of a 

historical basis.  It is the newer eastern European communities that we are more concerned about in terms of 

not having the infrastructure and, again, going back to what has been said several times already in terms of 

that distrust of authority and not really necessarily seeing themselves as a permanent community yet, which 

means that they are not investing from their side, either, and so not really feeling like an established part of 

London society yet.  That is not true for all eastern Europeans living here, but there is an attitude of, “We do 

not know whether we are here for good and so why would we invest time in creating these kinds of 

infrastructures?”  It is not just about hate crimes but across the community, everything, and also not having 

community figures whom people see within the eastern European communities that people relate to as leaders.  

That is an issue, too. 

Page 25



 

 
 

 

Sian Berry AM:  We also have quite good links with the Gypsy and Traveller community within the London 

Assembly.  Do they have third-party reporting?  You might not know.  The police might know. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  Yes, they do.  They have two or three.  I do not know 

how effective they are or how well used they are, but they do exist. 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  There is one for the Polish community or eastern European 

community.  It is called the Eastern European Resource Centre.  But we and CST as well as the National Police 

Chiefs’ Council (NPCC) hate crime leads have met with them and have shared with them best practices and 

how things work.  They have started doing the work.  Yes, there is one, but the infrastructure is not yet fully 

on and it is a part-time third-party reporting agency. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We have to move on, but one very quick question to you, Henrietta, about 

cuckooing.  You talked earlier about cuckooing, which is often a feature of disability hate crime.  What could 

housing providers in particular do to make sure that alternative housing provision is available for victims of this 

type of crime? 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  By ‘alternative provision’, are you 

talking about support? 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Yes. 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  I will explain what ‘cuckooing’ is.  It 

is when, basically, a disabled person’s home is taken over by people who may be involved in drug dealing or 

prostitution.  They appear to be friends with that person and move in and then take over their premises. 

 

As far as support, it can be a disabled person’s organisation if they are there.  Otherwise, it is the usual means 

of contacting and reporting.  The trouble is that the person does not realise it is a crime and can put up with it 

for years.  I am not sure if I am grasping your question. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  My question was very specific, and you can write to us later.  Do housing 

providers have a role to play in helping people who are being exploited by gangs?  We have to move on and so 

can you be brief? 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  There is an 

absolute role for housing.  Housing is really important for the disabled community.  They are more likely to be 

on a low income and be long-time residents of that community and so moving is very traumatic for somebody.  

The housing associations really need training on recognising hate crime and then supporting to report that.  

Thank you. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Yes.  If you have more ideas, write to us later about more training.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  This is to all the panel.  I might start with you, Dave.  In your experience, what works well 

in building awareness of hate crime?  Do you think enough attention is being given to awareness raising and 

preventing hate crime before it happens rather than responding after an incident? 

 

Page 26



 

 
 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  In terms of what builds awareness, there are 

different ways to spread that.  Publicity of successes is always good.  As Gemma said earlier, any publicity 

about the existence of hate crime risks actually affecting community confidence, and so it is very important to 

use the right language and the right message and to bear in mind both the confidence of the individual in an 

individual case and the confidence of a community. 

 

We have also seen in proactive publicity campaigns about hate crime that the posters have then become 

targets for hate crime themselves.  That is something to bear in mind.  It is not a reason not to do it, but it is 

something for the people running the campaigns to be aware of. 

 

One of the problems specific to antisemitic hate crime and Islamophobic hate crime as well is that nobody 

knows how many convictions there are.  There is no CPS data.  We cannot even tell the community that X 

number of people were successfully prosecuted last year for antisemitic hate crime and so X percentage led to 

a conviction. 

 

Part of the work of encouraging reporting is definitely encouraging awareness of what comes out of reporting 

and what the benefits are of reporting.  It is not just about raising awareness of the existence of hate crime.  It 

is about raising awareness of what benefits a person to report it. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you.   

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  I have a slight question.  When you are thinking about 

preventing it happening in the first place, are you talking about educating potential victims of hate crime or 

are you talking about educating people who might be attracted to committing a hate crime? 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I did not mention education at all, actually.  What I was asking for is your experience of 

what works well in building awareness of hate crime.  Is enough attention being given to awareness raising and 

preventing hate crime before it happens rather than responding?  It is more about what you think works well in 

building awareness and whether we are concentrating on that side of it rather than the reactionary side.  It is 

about being more proactive than reactive. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  In that case, really echoing a lot of what Dave [Rich] 

said, the CST has been particularly good within the Jewish community at explaining the importance of 

reporting in order to build up a wider picture.  That is something that anybody can replicate across the piece.  

Particularly perhaps in terms of the LGBT community, you never know when what might feel like wasting 

police time to you stops a far worse crime happening to the next potential victim.  Educating minority 

communities or impacted groups about the importance of being a piece of the jigsaw in terms of building up 

that picture of the kinds of crimes that are being committed, the spaces they are being committed in, whether 

that is online or offline, is very important.  It is getting that message out that even if you feel quite resilient 

and you are not bothered, which goes back to something you said about schoolchildren, “I am not bothered.  I 

am hard enough.  Somebody shouted something antisemitic or Islamophobic at me on the bus, but I do not 

feel the need to even tell my mum and dad”.  It is getting people, especially young people, to understand that 

it helps to stop worse attacks.  That is a message that should be used across the piece. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you.  Louise, did you want to add to that? 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  Yes, thank 

you.  What we have found works really well is having training packages that are delivered by disabled people 

Page 27



 

 
 

for disabled people.  We are lucky enough to have received funding from the National Lottery over the next 

four years to develop a range of modules, but that works fundamentally well. 

 

I must say that the input we have heard from the MPS has been fantastic and the hate crime co-ordinators that 

have attended some of our events now get it.  Once you get it, you cannot un-get it.  There is just a shift in 

attitude.  They are really engaging with disabled people directly and hearing their experiences. 

 

The British Transport Police were completely unaware of the levels of hate crime that occurred on a daily basis 

for people.  They attended one of our events and now are really engaged.  That helps disabled people feel 

more confident to report to the police because they have met them. 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  To touch on your point around prevention, to my 

mind there are two things.  One is really good-quality preventative work with victims of hate crime.  Working 

to empower them, working to give them the skills and the self-worth, reducing isolation and all those other 

things help to create an environment where people have a really huge impact on hate crime and also working 

to challenge those things helps keep them safer from it. 

 

The second thing is working with offenders.  I know that that may seem like the wrong end of the picture.  I 

know you were thinking about before hate crimes have been committed, but there are not huge amounts of 

prosecutions of hate crimes.  It could be far better, but we are talking about many thousands each year.  For all 

of those people who have been found guilty of committing hate crimes, there is no work with them to 

challenge the reasons why they have committed them.  This person hated this community so much that they 

were motivated to commit acts of violence and abuse against them.  There is nothing thinking about how to 

unpick that.  How do we go on to work with that person to prevent them from committing hate crimes again?  

To my mind, that is not a quick win necessarily but is something that really could use some investment to be 

thinking about how we look at being smarter about preventing those crimes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  What you have said there is probably one of the most poignant things of the whole 

meeting today because, if someone has already committed a hate crime, it is quite likely that they will commit 

another one.  If we are not trying to get inside their heads to find out what makes them tick, we are not going 

to do that prevention work, are we?  Would you have any suggestions as to how we might work with those 

people and what we might do? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  I have two things.  One is a crossover with victims’ 

work, which is about restorative justice, where it is appropriate and where it is risk-assessed and victim-led.  It 

can be a really powerful healing experience for victims, certainly alongside criminal justice, not instead of it.  

That can be very useful in terms of helping challenge prejudicial opinions. 

 

The second thing that probably is the bigger one is proper offender workshops.  Within the field of domestic 

abuse, a very core part of the solution to domestic abuse is investing in really good-quality risk assessment 

work with offenders and work to challenge the misogyny that drives people to commit domestic abuse.  That is 

a thing that would be really useful to be learning from. 

 

One thing I would be very keen to avoid is some of the very big organisations that do offender work, the big 

corporate organisations that will just sweep in and do bits of that work, maybe would not be appropriate for 

this.  It would need to be very carefully done in a very proper community way that takes account of the 

different complexities of this work.  A very careful piece of work within the voluntary sector would be my 

preference for how that would happen. 

Page 28



 

 
 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thanks.  Very helpful.  Thank you very much.   

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  There is a role certainly for the proactive 

in terms of raising that awareness as much as there is for the reactive.  In fact, in some ways, if we get the 

reactive side correct, that should lead to more of an increase in awareness and confidence in the proactive 

awareness side.  They both go hand in hand. 

 

I agree with what has been said so far certainly on the awareness, the education and all of that that has been 

said.  There is a role for that.  From our perspective as the police, it is about raising confidence.  Some of that 

is from highlighting the successes.  Where we have successfully prosecuted someone, we should make more of 

that.  Some of that is around how we engage with our communities and the point around working with our 

disability partners.  We know that that leads to a deeper understanding with police officers, as well as 

developing those relationships.  There is that side as well. 

 

Finally, I would say that it is about communication.  As much as everyone around this table will probably 

produce their material that they share with the community, the police need to be doing something like that as 

well.  We are developing, as I have said earlier, something that will be in multiple languages as well as Braille. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Perhaps I could ask another question of you?  It is about recorded offences.  It is difficult 

to provide a figure on how many hate crimes have taken place in the capital because one offence might have 

more than one hate flag attached to it, apparently.  Is there any way that the MPS could look at how hate 

crime is recorded so that we could have an accurate figure? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  We have a central hate crime team and 

what they do on a daily basis is they will look at all of the hate crimes that have been recorded across the MPS, 

those that have been flagged, and then their job is to try to make sure they identify the trends that support 

those investigations, working with our partners as well.  Yes, that is what they are doing and increasingly we 

will find that that should resolve a lot of the issues that were just mentioned. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you.  Sorry, did you have anything to say, Iman? 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  Sharing good results on success stories is good to highlight what is 

happening.  That is true.  It is good to highlight really building more awareness around hate crimes, but there 

are positive messages as well around social cohesion and the balance that we need to really sometimes pick on 

when we are talking about hate crimes.  Sometimes we talk about hate crimes and then that gives a negative 

impact on communities.  We need to find that balance at difficult times in our communities and societies.  As 

much as a report is minor, for us it is important for people to report it because we map the reports that we get 

and, with the reports that we get as well from police forces, we look at where the community tensions are and 

where the hotspots are.  We work with police forces and partner agencies to disseminate messages to support 

communities before tensions arise and before there is a spike following a terrorist attack.  We know that it is 

going to happen, but we should have messages out and disseminated to communities to do some prevention 

work from actually an increase in hate crimes. 

 

I can say that in the recent two years there has been significant work and partnership with police forces.  When 

we get intelligence from communities about an incident taking place within Muslim communities, we inform 

police forces and there is an immediate response and a common message to the communities to ensure 

safeguarding and security measures are in place.  Likewise, when police forces get that knowledge, they tend 

Page 29



 

 
 

to share it with us.  That collaboration and that partnership work is important.  As much as it is important with 

the criminal justice system, it is important across the different strands because sometimes it is antisemitic hate 

crimes that are maybe most demonstrated by Muslim communities or anti-LGBT and, likewise, anti-Islam 

hatred is demonstrated by Jewish communities.  Those communities coming together to stand collectively 

against hatred and coming out with positive messages is an important role that we play to the wider society in 

really how we tackle together the hatred and prevent it. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you.  Going back to the Superintendent, I understand that the MPS Hate Crime 

Diamond Group is working on a plan for awareness raising in schools.  Do you know what progress is being 

made on that so far? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, the Diamond Group is a forum where 

we meet all of our partners and we discuss a number of initiatives and how we can work together, and that is 

one of them.  That I would say is imminent.  We are towards the end of that process and that should be rolled 

out very soon, I would say in the next month or so. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you.  Then to the rest of the panel with the exclusion of the Superintendent on this 

occasion, have any of you had any interaction with the MPS hate crime liaison officers (HCLOs) and, if so, 

what has their impact been so far on awareness and reporting of hate crime?   

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  Yes, we have had several interactions with HCLOs.  They do tend to 

inform communities about hate crime and ways of reporting.  We as well have trained some of the HCLOs on 

what we see in the picture of anti-Islam hatred and that gives them as well an insight into how to approach 

and speak to Muslim communities as well as other communities.  The interaction so far has been good. 

 

One of the things that we need to be careful of and always look at is really the experience and expertise that 

these liaison officers have and whether we lose them halfway through that role or not and how to maintain 

that experience.  We might train 30 officers today and meet with them, but if something happens and 

resources are cut and they drop off the system, what happens to the new ones coming in?  Where does that 

learning journey that those officers have built already go?  How does that work in the handover and moving 

forward? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  I am really optimistic about HCLOs.  It is a new role 

and I know that lots of them are still getting their feet under the table.  I know that we have had conversations 

with lots of them and have dealt with lots of cases jointly with lots of them already.  I am really optimistic.  

They are great.  I know my team is really pleased to have them there. 

 

There is one thing that I am really keen on.  I know that Basic Command Units (BCUs) have lots of autonomy 

over how they allocate resources and so the last thing I want is, six months down the line, for those roles to 

disappear or to have someone nominally a HCLO but actually have no hours attached to the work, which is a 

real danger. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you. 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  We have 

had really good interactions with them.  They are called Hate Crime Co-ordinators now.  It has been really 

positive and so we are really encouraged by it. 

 

Page 30



 

 
 

I will echo what Nick said.  We did have experience where, because there is so low reporting of disability hate 

crime, it has been lumped in with other types.  There was one Hate Crime Co-ordinator who was covering three 

different strands of hate crime over numerous boroughs because of the new BCUs.  That is a hell of a lot of 

work. 

 

As long as the police officer who has been given that role has been properly trained.  We cannot stress enough 

the Disability Hate Crime Matters initiative that was so successful a couple of years ago.  It just worked so well, 

and I know that they are going to be looking into developing something along those lines.  It was a briefing.  

We would like to see it embedded as part of the induction for those officers so that they do not lose the 

learning.  Thanks. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you.   

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  There are actually more Hate Crime Co-ordinators for 

boroughs than HCLOs, although I have dealt with one on a personal level when my children experienced 

antisemitism. 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  From our perspective it is definitely useful, and it 

has been useful to have nominated officers at borough or now BCU level who have that hate crime 

responsibility because they sit between dealing with the individual officer who is dealing with an individual 

case that we are working on and dealing with the central MPS hub.  It is at that intermediate level. 

 

I will just echo what others have said.  There is a concern with the new BCU structure.  Each HCLO has a lot of 

ground to cover.  Because the Jewish community in London is not distributed evenly across the capital but it is 

concentrated in two or three of the BCUs, that is perhaps an exaggerated problem. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That was helpful.  Thank you. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  I want to come in now. This is a specific question to you, Jemma.  I have your 

excellent report here [The People vs The Elite: State of Hate 2019].  I must say that there is some excellent 

work there.  Let us look at this issue in a wider context.  What do you think have been the main qualitative 

changes in recent years?  What are the drivers for the rise of hate crime?  In particular, do you think there are 

links between the growth in hate crime and the rise of far-right extremism? 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  Yes, there definitely are links.  With the undermining 

of people’s trust in authority and willingness to engage trust in politicians but actually trust in any authority 

figures, there has been a massive falling off of figures in committees whom people will engage with and will 

trust.  Like you say, people versus the elite as a narrative has meant that people do not feel that they have the 

necessary relationship with their local councillor whom they would see to complain to or drop into their local 

police station.  They would express their anger either online or offline instead.  Definitely, that erosion of 

engagement with all the civic structures that are there to help people has meant that the people who are angry 

enough to commit a hate crime are more likely to do that as a result.  I guess we can go even further back than 

that to look at people’s sense of economic security and people’s sense of aspiration having been completely 

eroded.  There are feelings of frustration and feelings of not having an opportunity and not having a voice and 

all of those things feed into hate crime. 

 

In terms of the growth of the far right, as we have been saying for some time, the violent far right has shrunk 

in the last decade but the core of it is much more violent and dangerous than it has been before, not just from 

Page 31



 

 
 

National Action but from splinter groups from National Action and other groups like that.  It is also younger 

and there is a sense of spurring each other on.  There is a glorification of violence.  There is a glorification of 

rape as a tool of violence, which is happening in closed encrypted groups.  That is spilling out.  What is also 

happening is every time an attack happens, there is that need for one-upmanship to make the next attack 

seem worse.  On top of that, there is the sharing of content.  People who might not want to necessarily 

commit an act of violence will be comfortable watching acts of violence online and sharing insightful content.  

That will obviously spill into offline hate and both verbal and physical attacks.  Yes, it is a really worrying state 

of affairs and it is difficult to see the way forward in terms of re-engaging people with civic society and  

re-engaging people with a system that they feel they can trust. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  In your report, you comment about the way that Parliament has handled the 

Brexit process.  I must say that the survey is not favourable to any party, but there is a report in the Guardian 

two days ago entitled “Racism rising since Brexit vote”.  It was a nationwide survey.  Are you aware of this 

report?  It came out two days ago. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  I am sorry.  I am not sure if I have seen it. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  I was just trying to draw the link between what you have said in your in your 

report, which came out much earlier this year, and this survey, which was reported in the Guardian this week.  

It was a very in-depth survey about rising racism and racist attacks since the Brexit vote of 2016. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  That is exactly what all our polling is showing in terms 

of attitudes.  They have hardened since 2016.  There is a real gap in the middle in British society now between 

people who have hostile views and people who are more positive about things like multiculturalism and have 

more positive views of minority groups in general.  Yes, since the Brexit vote there has definitely been a 

hardening of views and it also was an enabler.  The rhetoric that was used by the leave campaign enabled 

people to say things and the win by the leave campaign enabled people to come out and say things.  Straight 

after the referendum we saw stickering and leafleting specifically targeting minority groups, not just eastern 

Europeans but other minority groups, too.  That rise in hate crime, as I am sure everybody here knows, has not 

gone down since. 

 

Our analysis is that whatever the final outcome of the Brexit process, it is not good news because, if we end up 

having a second referendum, people who are passionate leavers will be very angry and that will spark violence.  

If we go down a road where we do end up staying in Europe somehow, that would spark violence.  If we do 

leave, then what will happen is the people who are most passionate about leaving will also be with the 

communities who are most likely to be impacted economically.  In the long term it is not good either way for 

those communities. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Chair, can I just raise a point of information related to what was just being discussed?  Those 

are very relevant points that you make and you might expect members of different parties with different views 

on things like the outcome of negotiations and the referendum to join in and make comments at this point.  

We will not because we have been given quite clear guidelines about the fact that it is election day today.  We 

are just being clear that we probably will not carry on despite how relevant you think that is.  We have rules in 

this Chamber. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  I totally agree.  If I may just say, that is absolutely 

right and I appreciate you saying that.  What we do need to all be aware of is the way the tone has changed in 

the last three years and the impact that that is having on wider society. 

Page 32



 

 
 

 

Sian Berry AM:  We can discuss more frankly when it is not an election period. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  This is a question for Mr Khan.  Without straying into the rights and wrongs of what is 

going on today, we have seen a lot of attacks, verbal and occasionally physical, on MPs and politicians.  Do 

you see those as hate crimes?  It seems to me that they are motivated in the same way in some respects as 

other hate crimes against a class of people. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  If someone reports something as a hate 

crime, then we will investigate it and will review whether it constitutes a hate crime, but it is difficult for me to 

comment on individual cases.  The Commissioner [of Police of the Metropolis] has made clear that if 

someone -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  No, I am talking about this as a class.  Politicians are not a protected group in the 

same way as people who have faith or ethnicity, but what we have seen over the last few months in particular, 

certainly, since the murder of Jo Cox [MP], has been - and you had identified this - this relationship between 

certain groups and authority.  We have seen plenty of it in the media.  Would you perceive those as hate crimes 

or as just crimes or not as crimes at all? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  What I would say is that our job as the 

MPS is to facilitate lawful protest, lawful views and freedom of expression to extent that it does not breach 

another kind of law.  Where hate crime is identified and if any speeches or any actions that are done can 

constitute a hate crime and that is brought to our attention, then absolutely we will look into it.  However, as a 

homogeneous group, I guess, the answer would be that we would have to look at the individual circumstances 

and balance that with the fact that we do need to take into account the fact that people have freedom of 

expression so far as it is possible without breaching other laws. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Can I ask you, Iman, if you support the All-Party Parliamentary Group’s call for 

the introduction of a definition of Islamophobia and do you think this would be helpful in tackling hate crime 

against Muslims?  In the interests of time, can you try to be as quick as possible? 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  From a TellMAMA perspective, we welcome a definition to be put 

in place.  As an organisation, our role is not to create a definition.  Our role is to support victims of hate crime.  

However, we welcome the robust discussion that is currently in place around a definition for anti-Muslim 

hatred. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Finally, Waheed, your thoughts on gender-based hate crime.  A number of UK 

police forces are recording misogyny or gender-based hate crimes.  Is this something you would like to see in 

London? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  In London, the Commissioner has made 

clear that we abide by the legislation that outlines what constitutes a hate crime.  Anything that does not 

constitute or fall within the definition that we follow, we would still investigate it, but for the purposes of hate 

crime we follow the legislation.  I do know that there is a review going on that has been led by the Law 

Commission, but as it stands, the Commissioner is clear, that we will investigate those things that fall within the 

definition that exists at the moment. 

 

Page 33



 

 
 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  OK, we will leave it there.  Moving on to the next section, which is support for 

victims, the role of the third sector, and I will hand over to Susan. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  This is a much shorter section and they are mainly to you, Nick, if I may.  How does the work 

you and other organisations carry out through the CATCH consortium differ from the other support roles you 

provide? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  If I give you a quick overview of what CATCH is, if 

that will be helpful. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Broadly, we know, because we have had a very good briefing here. 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Fantastic, very good.  Yes, how it differs would be 

the fact that it is leading specialist, community-based hate crime support services with a huge track record of 

being based within communities, being specialist in working with those communities’ needs, being based 

within those communities and having that huge wealth of expertise.  Obviously, the fact that it deals with all 

strands and the fact that it deals with all boroughs is a really huge boon.  It is really fantastic to be able to deal 

with whoever is facing hate crime in the way that they need to be dealt with.  The fact that it can be 

intersectional, so all the specialist organisations within CATCH have worked very hard to be safe places for 

people from whatever set of identity communities that they belong to. 

 

One of the things that has made it come out with such fantastic results is the fact that it is so victim-focused, 

focused on helping people to cope, recover and helping with empowerment, so through emotional support and 

through practical help.  Just to give you some statistics around what it has actually produced, 76% of CATCH 

clients feel more able to cope as a result of the support they have had, 87% have improved wellbeing, 88% 

feel more empowered as a result of it, which is a really huge testament to that really careful professional 

support work and advocacy work that those advocates do. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How does it differ from your other work that is not within CATCH? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  CATCH is essentially very careful in-depth advocacy 

work and so it will be helping people to report and assisting them through the investigative process.  It will be 

supporting them on the day of court.  It will be helping them with all the other things around that person’s 

experience that impacts them as a result of their experience.  That would be the key thing that makes a 

difference to other support services, that kind of intersectional co-operation between leading services, giving a 

very professional in-depth advocacy service. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How many victims has CATCH supported to date? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  To date, I do not have it off the top of my head, 

but this year just gone, it was just over 400.  As a bit of context, CATCH was initially a pilot project. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, in two boroughs. 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  We are still on that same level of funding.  Even 

though CATCH partners are doing their best to be able to cover pan-London with whatever capacity they have 

right now, it is worthwhile knowing that is within that very limited capacity and still keeping to very careful  

Page 34



 

 
 

in-depth work.  What we would love to be able to do is to be able to offer CATCH properly and to be able to 

promote CATCH and give the best opportunity to everyone who needs it, to be able to access it. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I was going to ask you: do you actually work with victims of hate crime who do not report it? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Yes, absolutely. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You do.  That is included in the 400, is it? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  In what period of time is that? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  That was just last financial year. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  The last year, OK.  How many advocates does CATCH have? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  There is one CATCH advocate within each of the 

partner services.  Within CATCH, that is seven.  It is worth saying, like I was saying about very limited capacity, 

they are on a very small number of hours.  It is proportional roughly to the amount of hate crimes, the kind of 

caseload.  For instance, with race, because there are proportionately more race hate crimes committed and 

reported, there is more capacity within that and there is a differential there.  There are seven advocates, but 

different and quite modest actual hours within them.  What would be fantastic is to be able to actually scale up 

to the really proper level of capacity that London needs. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Most of them are part-time? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  This must have been a mistake: I read that on some of the funding arrangements, £168,814 

was for a part-time caseworker to support LGBT victims of hate.  That is not right, is it? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  No.  That sounds wrong to me, yes.  

 

Susan Hall AM:  £168,000? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  No.  Certainly -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I must say I was a little concerned.  I thought, “I can train for that”.  It is part-time as well.  I 

do not know where that came from, but we will certainly look into it.  You can absolutely assure me that that is 

incorrect? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How do you find these caseworkers and how do you train them? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  I am aware that there are other CATCH partners at 

the table.  I do not know if either of you fancy coming in. 

Page 35



 

 
 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  Sure.  Speaking for CST’s caseworker, we 

advertised and recruited as we would do for any post.  The training is delivered partly by ourselves, based on 

our 30-odd years of working on antisemitic hate crime and the experience that we have.  The advantage of the 

CATCH partnership is that we can also ensure our caseworker gets training and awareness from the other 

CATCH partners, which expands their understanding of different strands of hate crime.  We also access online 

training modules.  There is an online training course called Facing Facts, which is very good for delivering hate 

crime training, so there are plenty of different training options out there. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Fine, thank you.  If I can ask the Superintendent, what impact has CATCH had on the MPS’s 

ability to investigate hate crimes? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  In line with what I said earlier around our 

working with partnerships, CATCH has been really beneficial in the sense that people who may not want to 

approach us, the police, can go directly to colleagues within CATCH.  It has been beneficial in the sense that 

we can capture reports that may otherwise not have come to us, so it has been helpful in that way from our 

perspective in terms of capturing the reporting. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Good.  That is good news.  Back to you, Nick.  CATCH was originally piloted, as you have 

mentioned, in Westminster and Hackney, now operating across the whole of London.  How has the 

organisation changed to meet the increase in the scope of this work? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  We are entering our fourth year, I think it is, and 

like we were talking about earlier, the scale and nature of hate crime has really ramped up.  It would be great 

to be able to give that proper level of capacity to be able to deal with the need out there.  As it is, we have 

changed to account for working with as many boroughs as we are able to within the current capacity and 

certainly lots and lots with MOPAC and with the MPS.  Both of them are really fantastic allies for the 

partnership.  As it is, that borough spread, which is very even across London, relatively speaking, we have not 

had the capacity to be able to go out and actually tell victims about the CATCH service.  It has happened very 

organically.  Because lots of the partners within CATCH have that trust and that track record working with 

communities, it is something that very naturally we have plenty of people to work with. 

 

Now, what we have not been able to do, because the service would be overwhelmed, is to actually go out to 

communities across London, including every single borough, and to be saying to people in a really in-depth 

way, “This is a service that is here and that could really benefit you.”  As it is, within current capacity, that 

would be very difficult because the last thing we want is for the advocates to be overwhelmed. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  OK, actually it has not gone all the way around yet? 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  It depends.  Some of us, as organisations, we do work pan-London 

and pan-UK and so that message will go out through us, but not necessarily through every single organisation 

that is part of CATCH.  There is disparity between what organisations have got in terms of resources and what 

they can really deliver on the ground within the CATCH framework.  That relates to your question: what do 

they do differently outside CATCH?  That is the element where the outreach that other organisations have the 

capacity to do across London can take that CATCH message across with them. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You are going to say no, I am sure, but does CATCH have the resources it needs to deliver as 

hate crime is rising?  You are saying basically you do not have the resource to do that? 

Page 36



 

 
 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  We have the resource to be able to deal with those 

cases that really need some in-depth expert advocacy.  We have the capacity to be doing that.  What we do 

not have the capacity to be doing is to be able to meet the need fully in the way that it really needs and 

deserves. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How much is CATCH funded by?  MOPAC funds you.  Is that right? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Yes, that is right.  I cannot give you the figure off 

the top of my head, I am afraid, but I could provide that afterwards, if that is helpful. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Another figure I have is £350,000 for the advocacy service delivered by the CATCH 

consortium.  Does that seem about right to you? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  I do not have that figure off the top of my head, I 

am sorry. 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  Over two years. 

 

Speaker:  Yes, over two years, £175,000. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It is £175,000 a year, right - thank you from the lady in the audience - and that pays for 

seven part-time advocates? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  That is right. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  In an ideal world, how many advocates would you need? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  In an ideal world, we actually have a proposal that 

we put forward to MOPAC about how we would scale up with several different options there, which I would be 

very happy to share with you, if that would be helpful.  Essentially, we would be looking at a number of 

advocates, ideally a full-time advocate within each of their strands would be absolutely fantastic, with a little 

more within race hate crime, just because that is where there are more complaints. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Just how part-time are these advocates?  Are we looking at one day a week, two days a 

week? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  It depends. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Ballpark.  How part-time? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  Because there are seven different partner 

organisations, it might be a different answer for each different organisation.  On the one hand you may have 

some organisations in the partnership where the advocate is part-time and overworked and you may have 

other organisations in the partnership that have enough of a resource that other staff members who are not 

paid for by MOPAC can assist in the advocacy, so the imbalance will work in both directions across different 

partners, if you like.  But essentially the issue is CATCH is still running at the same level of funding now as it 

had four years ago for just two boroughs and we are now trying to work pan-London and at a higher level of 

Page 37



 

 
 

hate crime, so that in itself tells us that we are not able to deliver the same level of service pan-London today 

as we were delivering in just two boroughs, because the resourcing has not changed. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  If I may add to this, one of the consequences of that 

is that there are off-grid organisations offering support, which will not be anywhere near as professional.  It is 

particularly in the Muslim community, where there are organisations purporting to be a hate crime support 

reporting service who do not have the experience, the training and the networks that TellMAMA has.  While 

the mainstream is being under-resourced, people will look elsewhere and that can be dangerous. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes.  The reason I am asking some of these questions is obviously we are a scrutiny 

committee, we are looking at not only what you do, but also where your funding comes from, should you be 

requiring more, and whether the taxpayer is getting value for money.  When I say part-time, that could be 

somebody who is doing four days a week or it could be somebody that is doing one day a week.  I was trying to 

get a general look to see if it is good value for money for £175,000.  It could be excellent value money.  I have 

absolutely no way of knowing because there does not seem to be an answer.  Chair, perhaps we could get 

some information back just to look because, to be honest, if you are going to go to MOPAC and say, “We need 

more resources”, you are going to have to have this information for them to tell them what you are delivering 

back. 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  Also it would be good to note, adding to what Dave [Rich] and 

Nick [Antjoule] have mentioned, that when you get a case, sometimes the advocate does not look at how 

much work he needs to put into it - or she needs to put into it - because they need to deliver that service to 

the victim.  Though maybe the resources are not enough, at the end of the day, we are  

victim-centred organisations and we will deliver the service to the end, whether we have the resources or not, 

because we need to be accountable to the victims that come into us.  What we are trying to do in the upscaling 

is be able to do that without pressuring other resources within the different organisations, where it is possible, 

to be able to continue to deliver it in the same scale and beyond.  That does not mean that if the victim comes 

to us now and because we have advocates that are on one day or two days that we actually turn victims away 

and tell them, “Apologies, we are not funded to serve you”, if that makes sense. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I understand what you are saying.  It was not part of what I was trying to tease out as an 

answer, but thank you anyway. 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  If I just give you a very neat answer, the average 

would be about three days per week across each of the strands. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Great.  That was the answer, thank you very much.  Thank you, Chair. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Just one bit - you touched on it already, Nick - it is just looking at all the work that 

the advocates do.  Obviously, in this financial climate, where we know that funding is quite challenging, apart 

from the funding, what else would you say the biggest challenge is facing the third sector organisations who 

are supporting the victims? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Again, I am tempted to defer to other CATCH 

partners, but just to give you my very brief opinion, at Galop we work with people facing hate crime, domestic 

abuse and sexual violence.  It is really stark, the level of investment and capacity work that has gone into 

domestic abuse and sexual violence support services.  For instance, an independent domestic violence adviser 

(IDVA) gets roughly a month of training.  There has been so much work kind of building up really good quality, 

Page 38



 

 
 

good practice work that sits behind that, huge recognition of the role.  For an IDVA, they go to court.  They do 

not have to explain, “This is why I am here.”  They will be able to get in there and get their client the things 

they need.  When they are working with someone, getting someone housing, there will be an organisation that 

specialise in working to give that person housing.  Working with economic help, there will be an organisation 

that specialise in that; getting civil remedies. 

 

With hate crime, lots of that is absent.  It is a really difficult role that is often very complex, with people who 

are very high needs.  Right now, there has not been a huge amount of investment around the capacity - by 

which I mean the expertise, the research, the good practice that goes into that role - just yet.  Among us there 

is a huge amount of expertise and grounding in really good professional practice, but there is still a little way to 

go to get us up to that level that right now is there in the sexual violence and domestic abuse field. 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  I would echo that.  One of the key challenges at 

the moment is just the increase in scale.  Another challenge is trying to plan for what is going to happen over 

the next two or three years in terms of all the different various scenarios and trigger events that could cause 

much bigger increases in that scale and how we plan for that and what kind of political environment we will be 

trying to carry out our work in in the future.  The work across our different communities and different 

organisations is hugely beneficial.  The partnership we have with the MPS and with MOPAC is a really 

important and valuable part of that, so ensuring that is going to continue.  Ensuring that the expertise that we 

are talking about here and that we have with the specialist hate crime officers and so on also exists with the 

frontline officers who are dealing with cases on the ground, so from minute one of when a person reports a 

hate crime, they are getting the right kind of service and support and understanding and they are on the right 

pathway already. 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  The 

Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership was created in response to the pilot from CATCH and 

the recognition that we needed more localised services for disabled people.  Two of our partners are members 

of CATCH but I do not know how many hours are allocated to those workers.  It is in line with the number of 

reports that are made, is it not, and -- 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Whereas hate crime is generally there, there was a 

big gap between the different strands.  That has slightly evened out in CATCH allocation, specifically because 

of disability, and it is one of the most prevalent forms of hate crime, despite low reports.  It kind of takes 

account of need in that way, but yes. 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  Yes, and 

we have been having discussions with MOPAC because we have been funding to build capacity, but we are not 

funded to provide direct services, so we capacity-build to the disabled people’s organisations.  We are really 

interested in opening that up wider to the CATCH partnership, as long as the capacity is there for the 

advocates.  What we are concerned about if a disability hate crime matter starts again, we raise awareness 

within our community and there is no advocates to report and support people through that process, so that is 

what we feel about it, yes. 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  Something just to add on to what my colleagues have mentioned, 

there are sometimes messages that undermine the whole agenda of hate crime that we need to look at, so 

despite the work, the specialism, the expertise that is being built within the different partners, there are 

sometimes messages that come out from political leaders, sometimes within communities, that undermine the 

whole agenda that we are all trying to work on.  That is something that is definitely a challenge for some of us 

Page 39



 

 
 

in the third sector organisations.  There are messages sometimes that come from police forces on hate crime 

that are sometimes supportive, sometimes not supportive.  Again, if we are to tell communities there is a need 

to come and report, but then they get messages from police forces that hate crime is not important, where 

does that leave the communities and where does that leave the third sector organisations? 

 

On the element of expertise, and to echo what Nick [Antjoule] has mentioned, as well as what Dave [Rich] has 

mentioned, it is a unique element and specialist skills that you need within the work, whether it is the advocacy 

or the casework.  Let us not forget the casework itself that the caseworkers provide to the victims as the first 

point of contact in hate crime.  That learning journey is important.  Not everyone has those skills.  Yes, you will 

recruit people, yes, you will train people, but you need a certain individual with certain empathy and certain 

elements of emotional intelligence to be able to recruit, as well as individuals that are able to collect evidence 

where they need to be, because sometimes we end up doing work to help and support police forces in their 

investigations. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  I suppose it is really supporting the caseworkers and advocates working on the front 

line, because I note that Galop reported that the proportion of victims who then drop out of the court process 

is lower than average now, just because they have got that key support with the advocates, which helped in 

terms of the reporting and the statistics, because am I sure we all know that the reality is that there are still a 

number of people who are victims of hate crime that do not come forward to report at all.  OK, great, thanks.  I 

will leave it there, Chair. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  One last question in this section and that is from me, just to you, Jemma.  

Coming at this issue from a different angle, and again looking in the wider context, it is important that as a 

society we challenge ideology which may contribute to hate crime.  We have seen a concerning number of hate 

crimes at football stadiums in recent months.  How concerned are you about the role of what you call in your 

report ‘street-based groups’?  As far as this particular sort of problem is concerned, what more do you think 

sporting institutions can be doing to tackle hate crime? 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  The street-based groups, you are talking about things 

Football Lads Alliance (FLA)? 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Yes, all the different names.  They have split off into splinters. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  We are doing our usual job of trying to undermine and 

disrupt those groups.  I am more concerned about mainstream attitudes than I am about street groups, in all 

honesty, and the shift in mainstream attitudes is leaving society more vulnerable than those groups are.  In 

June we will be running another of our Fear and Hope polls, but what we are seeing when we run those kinds 

of polls is that people’s tolerance of violence as a political tool is growing, particularly amongst young people, 

and people’s general hostility to groups - particularly to the Muslim community - is growing, so totally 

mainstream anti-Muslim views are being held.  There is a lot of it in this report and I do not want to bore 

people with statistics, but that is more of a concern, actually, than the growth of street groups. 

 

When we look at the street groups like FLA, if you look at the profile of the people attending, you are talking 

about white men in their late 40s, early 50s are the vast majority.  These are the same people that came out for 

the EDL, but they are the kind of - how would you call it - beer and punch-up types.  That is not the same as a 

wave of national hate crime or a wave of change in attitudes.  They are people who want to turn up, be with 

their tribe, as it were, have a good time on their terms and then go home, but that is not what we are really 

concerned about right now. 

Page 40



 

 
 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Can clubs be doing much more to combat some of the -- 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  Football clubs? 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Yes. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  Yes.  Sport is always a really good way to break down 

barriers.  Some of the stuff that is being done, to be honest, feels a little bit manicured, if I could say that.  

Someone like Raheem Sterling [English professional footballer], as a real individual hero, will have much more 

of an impact than some of the more structural stuff that clubs are doing.  What is interesting is that enabling 

other fans to report hate speech on the terraces is very important.  I know that I have been at a football match 

where I have reported to a steward, given the seat number of the person, who was just being vile, actually - it 

was not any particular speech, it was just across the piece - and they were able to take the seat number and 

record exactly who that person was.  It is making sure that other fans know.  What has happened is there is an 

attitude shift and people do not like it.  More people are going to matches with their families and when it is 

happening in the stadium it is easier to actually monitor who is doing it, to capture it on CCTV.  You have also 

got to think about what is happening before and after the match as well.  Dave, have you got anything you 

would like to add to this, because your -- 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We are up against time, but -- 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  Yes, I definitely agree, football clubs can be 

huge cultural engines of change, if you like, but the clubs do not necessarily have that much control or 

influence over these kind of street movements, who call themselves FLA.  It is a separate issue. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Clearly, taking a stronger stand and condemning the activities of such groups, 

that would help? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  I am not sure it would stop the groups, to be 

honest. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  No, it will not stop the groups, but it does help. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  The other thing to think about is that not everybody 

who identifies with something like FLA is necessarily a racist or an unreconstructed racist. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  No. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  You have to be very careful not to marginalise people 

or to back people into a corner where they then find themselves being identified as something that they are 

not.  When the FLA and the Democratic Football Lads first came out, we monitored them very carefully, but we 

were very careful not to call them far right groups.  They are not far right groups.  There are elements within 

them that are far right, but there is nothing worse than making somebody feel they have been moved to a 

position further to the right than they even identified as initially. 

 

Page 41



 

 
 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Just going to the other end of the spectrum, in the summary of your report in 

2019 you say Al-Muhajiroun, which of course keeps on changing name to evade the law, is likely to become 

more active.  Can you just say a little bit more about that? 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  Yes.  Anjem Choudary is out of prison now, but also 

there are a whole group of people from Al-Muhajiroun who are now out of prison.  While obviously the police 

are doing everything they can to monitor, I know that the Tower Hamlets Tension Monitoring Group is 

constantly monitoring and is very worried about a resurgence. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Fine.  I will now hand over to my colleague, Assembly Member Arbour, to go on 

to the next set of questions re support for victims and the MPS’ response. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Mr Rich, you have spoken very supportively of the police’s role in tackling hate crime.  I 

wonder if the rest of the panel - excluding you, of course, Mr Khan - agree with Mr Rich that, broadly, you 

think that the police are doing a good job on this.  Do any of you think the police are not?  How is that? 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  I will go 

first, if you like.  The officers that I am in contact with through the Diamond Group, the disability outcome 

working group, and various other meetings with all the stakeholders, the messages are really positive.  The 

problem is it sometimes does not translate to on the ground and it very much depends on individual police 

officers, how they are dealing with a report of hate crime.  Getting an embedded programme of training for 

front line officers is really key, but in general, for me, organising the partnership and dealing with the police, a 

very good relationship. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  All right.  Let me go to the next one.  We hear very little - and this one is for you, Mr Khan 

- how other police forces are dealing with hate crime.  We know that the satisfaction rates from victims of hate 

crime has been falling in London, but how do you compare with the rest of the country? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  I am afraid I do not have the figures to 

hand, but what I can say is that we work at a national level with other police forces as well when it comes to 

making sure we are as consistent as we can be, allowing for the fact that each force is different in terms of 

dealing with hate crime.  We have the NPCC lead, who will make sure that that message is given out to all 

forces.  How that is then implemented is for each force to determine. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I am not sure I really -- 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  The short answer is I cannot give you 

statistics because I do not have them to hand.  I can certainly provide them afterwards, if that is what you 

want.  What I can say is that we work with them nationally to make sure that, as the police for the UK, we work 

together with all of our national partners, but each force does have its own autonomy and they will customise 

the guidance that is given nationally to make sure it reflects their forces’ needs. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  There is a feeling - and again, I think it was you who mentioned it, Mr Rich - the 

transformation from borough-based policing to the BCUs has somehow meant some kind of decline in police 

response to this kind of thing.  Did I understand you correctly? 

 

Page 42



 

 
 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  No, I said that there is a concern that those 

HCLOs now have much more ground to cover.  I was not suggesting we have observed a decline, just that that 

is a concern to be aware of moving forward. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I understand.  A couple of others have a view on that.  Yes, you [Iman] first, please. 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  We will have to see how the BCUs will work.  One of the things that 

we need to look at specifically is really the unique fingerprint population in each and every borough.  Now, if 

we are lumping boroughs together, each borough has got its unique fingerprint, its unique population that 

lives in there, its unique problems and issues.  We need to think of this, while lumping boroughs together, if we 

are looking at hate crime, tying it in with far-right activity or extremism, we have to make sure that we are not 

losing that local expertise from a different borough by lumping them together under the BCUs. 

 

Answering your previous question about how the MPS are in tackling hate crime, from an organisational 

perspective in TellMAMA, by working with other forces across the country, we can rate the MPS as one of the 

best police forces in dealing with victims of hate crime, not only from our experience, but also from victims 

that would have reported to the MPS and have come back to us with their feedback.  We are not saying there 

are no issues or concerns.  There are.  It is patchy and inconsistent.  It is not that every single police officer in 

the MPS knows what hate crime is and addresses it equally as the other.  That is something that we need to 

look at in terms of training, resources and the capacity that they have within the different forces. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Thank you for that.   

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  We are glad to hear you talk about satisfaction.  It is 

a really key part of this.  Nationally there is a gap.  People who report hate crime tend to feel less satisfied with 

the response versus people who report crime in general.  It is a big gap and that is national.  Like Iman was 

saying, the MPS is a great force.  I feel like they are a really key partner for us, and specifically [Detective 

Sergeant] Tony’s [Forsyth, Online Hate Crime Hub] team, which is under Waheed [Khan], does fantastic work.  

I feel like with the move to BCUs it is a new thing and there are teething issues.  What I would say is the norm 

now for certainly most cases that come through to us, the investigating officer will be that first response 

officer, generally responsible, and we will sit with them.  Right now, before that risk assessment comes in, I am 

really optimistic about it, that that will be the thing that helps flag up cases that need that additional support.  

As it is, lots of those investigative officers, response officers, have not had that training, that grounding in the 

kind of ins and outs of community need and on hate crime more generally just yet.  Like I say, this is a new 

change, it is a big change.  Like Iman [Atta] was saying, the MPS is one of the better police forces at dealing 

with hate crime. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  The BCU model, the transformation where 

all of London, the MPS changed the way they work from front line policing, that was completed earlier this 

year, so that was when, in March [2019], we can confidently say that all of the different parts of London had 

gone through their transition.  I totally accept the concerns.  They are legitimate concerns.  What I would say is 

that we just need to see how this progresses.  The model is designed with features in there -- 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  You are putting it down to teething troubles, are you? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  I would not even say there are teething 

troubles.  All I am going to say is that the concerns that have been expressed are something that we are 

absolutely alive to and they are something that, for example, the model does reflect.  The model under which 

Page 43



 

 
 

this BCU was rolled out does mandate you are meant to be having a HCLO in every BCU.  Some BCUs have 

actually gone beyond that.  For example, in the north east each of the boroughs within that BCU have their 

own faith officer in addition to what would be a HCLO.  We are trying to be as flexible as we can with the 

resources that we have, but absolutely, there is no place for complacency.  I would say we have got to see how 

this pans out.  The BCU model has only just gone live, but we are absolutely alive to the issues that have been 

raised. 

 

The point around the risk assessment and the change in approach that we are looking to do, that should make 

sure that all of London from a BCU perspective is consistent in how it deals with hate crime in a way that it was 

not perhaps in the past.  That would go a long way to providing that assurance.  That risk assessment and 

making sure that we support people consistently when we go to their homes or wherever the incidents are 

taking place is something that will drive confidence and it is something we have developed with everyone 

around this table, so it does reflect a collective, collaborative effort. 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  There is something Imam [Atta] 

mentioned earlier to do with the priority given to hate crime.  We have had anecdotal reports of disability hate 

crime being reported to police but them saying they are too busy because they are over-stretched.  There is 

the cuts and restructuring, particularly following [Chief Constable] Sara Thornton’s CBE QPM [Chair of the 

NPCC] statement in response to a question about misogynistic hate crime, her saying that they were focusing 

on violent crime.  That has kind of sent a message down.  It appears so.  I do not have research, but the 

response of the police, they are not necessarily prioritising hate crime in the way that we would wish. 

 

I do not want to appear negative because there is some very good work and cross-partnership work by the 

MPS building up in partnerships and we have experienced that through disability hate crime matters, but we 

have also had reports where it has not been taken up. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Thank you.  I do not really want to prolong this very much - this is for you, Mr Khan - but 

the response that we have from the MPS in asking about dealing with hate crime, there appears to be a feeling 

that the rapidity with which an offence is reported is likely to be the most significant thing in determining 

whether or not you catch whoever it is who has been responsible.  Is that in fact the position? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  It very much depends on the 

circumstances of each individual case.  For example, if someone was walking along the street and there was a 

comment made by a passing car, then we will do what we can to try to identify that car, see if there was any 

CCTV, but sometimes it not be possible; were there witnesses?  It very much depends on the circumstances, 

but when that report comes in, the point I was trying to make is that we will be consistent in how we risk 

assess.  Are there any vulnerabilities or are we providing the support to that victim and are we investigating 

fully and cohesively in a way that perhaps we did not do in the past?  Each circumstance is different.  It is 

difficult for me to say that we will always be able to identify someone or we cannot, because it depends on 

what is happening. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Two of the members of the panel, both Dave Rich and Henrietta Doyle, have said it is only 

when people have talked about it after the event that they realise that a crime has been committed.  Have I 

interpreted both of you correctly on that? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  Sometimes.  I would say that is a particular 

problem with children, with schoolchildren. 

 

Page 44



 

 
 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  It is a problem that happens with 

disabled people.  They might mention an incident in passing, as I said, when they go to a service and they just 

mention an incident and it is the staff member that recognises it is a hate crime. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  But both of you are, in effect, reporting in a third-party way.  By having third-party 

reporting, does it speed up or slow down the process?  In other words, giving Mr Khan’s example, somebody 

comes along, drives past me or walks past me or walks past anybody and says something offensive or does 

something offensive, such a person is possibly going to muse on the matter and will talk to his friend, who 

might be a member of one or other of your organisations, in which case, if you like, what they call in crime 

novels ‘the golden hour’ - when you report the thing - is lost.  What I am trying to suggest is maybe  

third-party reporting might be a hindrance rather than a help. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  The kind of challenge or the thing I would 

say back to that is that if they had not gone to the third party, we would never know about it. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  That is true, yes, of course. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  To be fair, I would rather we learnt about 

it at some stage and have that as information that we can use to inform where we then deploy our resources 

rather it not being brought to our attention at all.  I would say I am really grateful for the fact that our partners 

are willing to take on that reporting role. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  On reflect, my question was a foolish one because your answer has dealt with it.  Thank 

you. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I will be as quick as I can, Chair.  Yes, sorry that I have to leave a little earlier.  I need to leave 

at 12.30pm, so just very quickly.  The Online Hate Crime Hub was launched in April 2017 and I wanted to ask 

Superintendent Khan about that.  If I can ask, just to bring a few questions together for essentially a potted 

history of what was done, like why it was set up, what it was tasked with, what it achieved, how many cases it 

took in, what it did in terms of prevention and victim support and how you have measured the success there 

and the changes that have been made recently. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  I cannot give you the statistics, but what I 

can tell you is this: the Online Hate Crime Hub was set up as a result of funding that we received from MOPAC 

to try to make sure that centrally there was a hub, in effect, that would look at the activity online.  However, 

things have moved on since then.  That funding is no longer being provided, but the decision has been taken 

by the MPS to still continue with making sure that there is a central hate crime team, so it is not just looking at 

online activity, it is looking at what happens across the MPS.  It is led by our capable colleague, as mentioned 

by Nick [Antjoule] earlier, [Detective Sergeant] Anthony Forsyth, and what they do is that they will monitor 

what happens online as well as monitor the daily kind of what is flagged or brought to their attention as hate 

crime across London, identify trends, work with our partners to make sure that the officers have the material 

that they need to investigate properly. It has moved beyond that.  It was initially an Online Hate Crime Hub.  

That was in effect merged within a bigger entity that now looks at wider online and offline real-life hate crime. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Essentially it is an intelligence sort of organisation?  Not intelligence, but it is for getting the 

picture of what is going on and that is why you have brought in -- 

 

Page 45



 

 
 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, it is designed as a central point of 

contact for our partners nationally as well as to look at what happens online but supporting those frontline 

officers in the investigations in different parts of London. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The Mayor told us at Mayor’s Question Time this month that 1,600 cases have been dealt 

with.  Does that sound right to you? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  When you say ‘dealt with’, that is probably 

a bit vague.  I would have to know whether you mean in terms of being reported or whether -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That may be the word.  That may be a transcription of what the Mayor said. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Do you see what I mean?  I need a bit 

more accuracy, but in terms of what is reported to us daily, I know roughly what is reported to us on an 

average daily basis.  I am not sure that constitutes that in a year.  Was that a year figure you said? 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Since it started, actually, so that is less per year.  It is 24 months since it was set up. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  On average I would say it is probably 

between 60 or 70 reports per day.  My maths is not that great, but whatever that converts to would be your 

answer. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK, great.  Looking at the statistics overall for hate crime - I will just get my calculator out - I 

can see that between 1,000 and 1,500 cases per month are being dealt with as crimes; that is the crime 

statistics.  If you are doing 60 to 70 a day, then in a month that would be 1,800.  You are basically saying all of 

them are crimes? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  You are not dealing with them separately from any other crimes, you are monitoring and 

keeping an eye on them with that? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  We monitor and we provide the support, 

but the investigation itself is still dealt with by the front-line officers in the borough or the BCU that is 

responsible for it. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  In terms of prevention rather than reported crimes, one of the tasks it had was to speed up 

the removal of online hate speech, effectively, and I guess material that incites hate crime.  You have been 

giving trusted reporter status to certain groups to flag social media which is not further assessed, it is just 

prioritised for removal.  Is that right?  Is that what is happening? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  We work with our colleagues.  If 

something is brought to our attention, then we will raise it with the appropriate teams and then they will work 

to take it down as soon as possible. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes.  In terms of identifying that it is hate speech, the reporting group says to you it is hate 

speech.  No one with the MPS goes, “Is it or not?” and then it gets reported to the online service provider, 

then also maybe somebody looks at it.  I am just thinking, when we say ‘trusted reporter status’, do we take 

Page 46



 

 
 

their word for it and then it goes forwards for removal or is there someone on the way that might downgrade 

it? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Our team would still look at it and give it a 

cast-over, but we would act upon the information that we receive from our partners as well. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  You have got relationships with some of the service providers now online who are accepting 

these reports and acting more swiftly then they were? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  We still need to work on them to improve 

them, but yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Do you have any statistics or achievements to report in terms of the number of things taken 

down over time or the different types of hate crimes? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  I can provide that.  We do, and I know we 

do, but I am afraid I do not have that to hand.  It is something that I am happy to share afterwards. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  If we can get that in writing, because it would be really useful to see.  Maybe also the speed 

with which things are removed after they are reported, just to see how it is progressing, because obviously this 

is an issue.  Certainly, as someone who spends a lot of time online, I can see things that I find offensive that I 

am certain people have reported and they are still there days later. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Absolutely.  I can have that shared with 

yourselves afterwards. 

 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  It does depend very much across the platform as well.  

Some platforms are much more responsive now than others. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, and by platform as well.  We will write to you and ask you for some data that we can 

then study.  That would be really useful. 

 

In terms of the finances, you said that MOPAC had removed funding from the project.  Is that -- 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  The Online Hate Crime Hub was a pilot at 

the time.  It had proved successful in terms of what it was looking to achieve, but we wanted to continue with 

that and build upon that success, to take it away from just focusing solely on online hate crime to focus more 

widely on what happens in London. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  It is not MOPAC removing funding, it is MOPAC paying you to pilot.  You have seen the 

benefits and you have just brought it into your regular work? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Into our mainstream working, yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That means that MOPAC is not now funding something else, it is that is the result of the 

pilot work? 

 

Page 47



 

 
 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  We are not receiving any separate 

funding to continue with this. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  MOPAC is not funding anyone else to do this work? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  No. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is all my questions, if that is helpful. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Moving on to the penultimate section - and we will finish in about 15 to 20 

minutes - support to victims in the criminal justice process.  Can I hand over to you, Andrew? 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Yes.  Perhaps we will start with Dave and work that way around.  The MPS 

Commissioner at our meeting last week or in the last 10 days or so said that many victims of hate crime do not 

want a prosecution.  Do you think that is right? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  Some do, some do not.  Some who are initially 

wary of going down the criminal justice route are happier to do so when they have support from an advocacy 

organisation.  It really varies.  Some victims we work with are more interested in a restorative justice outcome 

than a criminal prosecution outcome.  That is very much dependent on it being done well and done properly 

and being a free choice on their part.  It is a bit trite to say it, but the victims who go through a trial and see a 

conviction and a sentence they are happy with tend to be happier than the ones who go down that route and 

do not get the outcome they want.  Of course, that is unpredictable from the start, but where we work with 

victims who do go to court and give evidence and get the outcome they want, they are very satisfied, so it 

really varies. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Why do people drop out? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  There can be lots of reasons.  Some of the cases 

we have been involved with, people have dropped out because by the time it has come to court, they have left 

the country, they do not live here or they have moved somewhere else or something.  To be honest, the 

victims who we work with on an advocacy basis tend not to drop out, so in order to find out from the victims 

who do drop out why they drop out, you would probably have to go mainly to a group of people who are not 

in contact with any of our organisations. 

 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  The process is extremely long, so some of the victims would drop 

because of the length of the process.  They do not want to live through that emotional and psychological 

impact for a long time following the attack and the incidents that have taken place.  Some of the victims say 

that they did not know their rights, so some victims do not feel comfortable going into the court, seeing the 

perpetrator sitting in front of them or being in the same room.  They are not sometimes even offered the 

option to come in via video-link - so they do not know their rights - into the court, so that actually they are 

not physically there or behind a screen and that actually allows them to drop out. 

 

Victims are not kept informed throughout the process, so from the moment they report, sometimes the 

information getting to them is not up-to-date or not being informed at all and therefore eventually they drop 

through that process. 

 

Page 48



 

 
 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  We have 

covered in other areas just not being believed, the actual incident being treated as antisocial behaviour and not 

as a crime.  The court process can be really traumatising for disabled people.  There are physical access issues, 

because the building may be old.  Also, with British Sign Language interpreters not being readily available and 

the specially trained officers to take the statements to present, quite often the message that it is a disability 

hate crime gets lost in the court process, so the barrister who is representing may not have that information.  If 

they have an advocate with them, that advocate will make sure that that happens.  With domestic violence 

advocates, that process is quite embedded now and that does happen, and those advocates are supporting all 

the different processes to [make sure they] follow what they should be doing.  Really, we would like the same 

for hate crime victims, to have a hate crime advocate that goes all the way through the system, but yes.  There 

are no easy to read documents to understand the process.  Also, just what people have said, it is just so long 

for people and they maybe want to start looking at recovering and getting on with their lives and it is too 

traumatising to go through the whole process. 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  For us, working with people, supporting them in 

court, it is a really big chunk of our advocates’ work.  It is really time-intensive, really valuable, just because 

courtrooms are such a hostile environment, especially with the kind of scrutiny that people are under.  Being 

face-to-face with someone who has targeted you in a really intimate difficult way, it is an incredibly brave 

thing to do.  That is not something that everyone chooses to do, but those people that do, having an advocate 

there to support them, to challenge things when they do not necessarily go right, but also just to be there kind 

of with them by their side is a really valuable thing. 

 

Like Dave [Rich] was saying, where there is an advocate by their side, certainly attrition is not really something 

that we see.  We go to quite big lengths to achieve that, for instance, helping someone to literally get there on 

the day, all those very practical things.  One thing I would say is there are such huge difficulties with delay.  

For instance, a case literally yesterday, one of my team was supporting someone in court on their fourth court 

date.  It had been rearranged three times, this was their fourth one, and then it got delayed again.  Asking 

someone to stick with that is a very difficult thing. 

 

One thing that we have seen that is a new thing is protests outside courts.  Particularly there is a huge 

escalation in transphobia and there has been over the last three or four years.  We have never seen it before, 

but it is pretty much a standard part of trans people’s experience in going to court now, to have transphobic 

protestors outside intimidating them, taking photographs of them, carrying transphobic banners.  Having an 

advocate there by their side is a really valuable way of helping someone to get in the door. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Is that a specific thing, protests outside court for transphobia, or do Muslim people or 

Jewish people involved in these [cases] face the same thing? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  In that particular type, it is specific to 

transphobic cases, but what we have had is cases of prosecutions of far-right activists where there will be a 

demonstration of their supporters outside the court.  That obviously creates immediate safety risks for the 

people giving evidence and also is very intimidating. 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  Equally the same with far-right groups.  We have seen one case 

where we had protests that were run by far-right groups as well on a case, antisemitic, yes. 

 

Page 49



 

 
 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Can I raise a slightly different issue with Louise and/or Henrietta?  That is the 

prosecutions of disability hate crimes are particularly low compared to other forms of hate crime.  You have 

given us a lot of information.  Are there any other reasons why you think this is and how could it be improved? 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  There 

could be some training for the judiciary, because the law is quite complex around hate crime and the different 

strands.  Disability hate crime is an uplift in sentence as opposed to an aggravated hate crime, so we are 

campaigning for parity in the law, as Galop and other strands are supportive of that.  But in terms of right now, 

it can go all the way through, have all the evidence, go all the way through with the CPS, gets to court and the 

judge decides that it is not a disability hate crime and so the sentence uplift is not put on to that sentence.  

There needs to be more awareness around how the hate crime law operates in terms of passing sentence. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  OK, thanks.  We understand that the MPS are developing a new booklet thing to help 

officers in investigating hate crime, so perhaps I could ask Superintendent Khan how far that has got and then 

I will ask the others whether they are aware of it and what they think of it. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  The risk assessment, the kind of checklist, 

in effect it has been agreed.  It is approved.  We are literally just waiting for it to be prepared, printed out, and 

it is something that we will share with our frontline officers.  Probably not printed now, it will be on their 

tablets, but the point is it is ready in the sense that there is no more work to be done, we are just waiting for 

the information technology (IT) solution to be delivered. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Is that going to be quick? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  We are pushing for it as hard as we can.  

What I have been told is that it has now gone to the outsourcing people that will do the final step, so in terms 

of policing, what we can do, we have pushed it as far as we can.  I am grateful to all of our colleagues around 

the table for their input in making sure that it reflects what they want it to do as well. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Perhaps we could see it in due course? 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  Absolutely. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Just following on from that question then, are you collectively aware of it and have 

you contributed to it? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  I am aware of it because it was an issue that was 

discussed at the MPS Hate Crime Diamond Group and it is an example of how that forum is a very useful forum 

to get community input.  I hope having that kind of form in place will mean that victims get a more consistent 

response from front line officers.  Hopefully it will have that outcome. 

 

Henrietta Doyle (Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion London):  Can I just say that the initiative is 

really positive, to have a checklist, but from our point of view, there is nothing that replaces face-to-face 

explanation or training or briefings from a disabled person to a frontline police officer.  I would be concerned if 

it is totally replaced by a checklist.  The briefings that were on disability hate crime are still needed. 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Just to say I feel like it is a really forward-thinking 

positive thing.  I am really pleased about it.  I am really optimistic that it will do a lot of good, so it is a really 

Page 50



 

 
 

good initiative.  Obviously, it has had lots of input from lots of us around the table.  What is there looks very 

good. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Last question.  We have talked before about CATCH.  How can we embed some of the 

benefits of CATCH in supporting victims through the criminal justice process?  Nick, do you want to comment? 

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  CATCH has been operating for a good few years 

now, on the back of decades of work amongst each of the partners.  It is about keeping going with CATCH and 

further embedding it and partnership work with those local services that are currently delivering in boroughs.  

One thing I am really keen to do is to connect better with local boroughs, including councils and housing 

providers, like we were talking about before, around having the capacity right now to be doing that work with 

the cases that really need some expert, in-depth advocacy and us having the capacity to do that.  What we do 

not have the capacity to do right now is to reach into boroughs, to be talking with local authorities, housing 

providers and those local services to boost up their capacity, but also for those cases that really need it to have 

a proper route into some specialist services. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Anybody want to add anything? 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  Just one thing that CATCH has already started to 

do, which is very beneficial, is to increase awareness amongst officers of the availability and the value of 

community-based victim advocacy.  The more we can roll out that awareness within police officers, the more 

beneficial it will be. 

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  From the 

partnership point of view, it was borne out of evaluation from the pilot for the CATCH partnership, so with 

disabled people, they really do fundamentally need localised services, so this partnership is formed of the 

19 organisations that are developing it.  We have the capacity-building, so we provide hate crime training to 

the advocates.  Some of them are funded within CATCH and some are funded by MOPAC and other sources of 

funding.  We have currently seven hate crime advocates.  Two of them are in CATCH, so that means there is an 

additional five across London, but they are not formally part of CATCH.  We would really welcome exploring 

more options to work more formally with CATCH. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you.  The last section in two minutes and this is to all of you.  What one 

step do you think the Mayor should be taking to reduce hate crime across the capital, looking to the future?  I 

will start off with you, Dave, not giving you enough time to think.  Of course you can send in written 

submissions later. 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  If there was one step, then he would already 

know what it is he needs to do. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  All right, two steps, but in 15 to 20 seconds. 

 

Dave Rich (Head of Policy, Community Security Trust):  A lot of it comes back to leadership, actually.  

We have talked about policies; we have talked about resourcing.  These are all really important, but political 

leadership, especially at the moment, is vital. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you.   

 

Page 51



 

 
 

Jemma Levene (Deputy Director, Hope Not Hate):  Yes, building on that, the language we use and 

awareness-raising. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Great.   

 

Louise Holden (London Deaf & Disabled People’s Organisations Hate Crime Partnership):  I would 

say I would like leadership on valuing disabled people within the community as equal members of society. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Fine.   

 

Nick Antjoule (Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop):  Challenging prejudicial opinions that are growing up 

within younger people that have not been there previously that are currently growing.  That is one of the really 

key things. 

 

Superintendent Waheed Khan (Metropolitan Police Service):  I would echo that.  We have spoken about 

resources and policies, but yes, I would absolutely agree with leadership. 

 

Iman Atta OBE (Director, TellMAMA):  Leadership and positive messaging. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Fine.  Thank you for coming.  We just have some formal business to wind up and 

go through, so thank you for your answers as well.  I apologise to you, Nick [Antjoule], for asking a question 

that you were not aware of at the beginning. 

 

Page 52



 
 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Police and Crime Committee 
Date: Tuesday 4 June 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 

  

 
Present: 
 
Unmesh Desai AM (Chair) 
Steve O'Connell AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Sian Berry AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 
Len Duvall AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Peter Whittle AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 There were no apologies for absence. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 

Page 53

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Tuesday 4 June 2019 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the Police and Crime Committee meeting held on 14 May 2019 

be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 
 

That the outstanding, completed and closed actions arising from the previous 

meetings of the Committee, as listed in the report, be noted. 

 
 
5   Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and 

Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

the questions and answer session with the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and 

Metropolitan Police Service (MPS). 

 

5.2 The Chair welcomed the following guests to the meeting: 

 Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime; and 

 Sir Stephen House QPM, Deputy Commissioner, MPS. 

 

5.3 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

5.4 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Provide the full costs of policing the visit of the President of the United States; 

 Provide the full costs proceeding against those arrested in connection with the 

Extinction Rebellion protests;  

 Provide the average time for the vetting process for Independent Custody Visitors. 

 Provide the average time for the vetting process in general; 

 Look into whether it would be possible to extend term for Independent Custody 

Visitors who were going through the renewal process; and 

 Provide the number of vulnerable adults/ children interviewed without an appropriate 
adult present in 2018. 

Page 54



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Tuesday 4 June 2019 

 

 
 

  

5.5  During the course of the discussion, the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to: 

 To consider the way violence data was shown on the Crime Dashboard and include an 

explanation about the data; 

 To discuss with the British Transport Police whether it would be possible to include 

their figures for ASB on public transport on the Crime Dashboard; 

 To provide the number of Independent Custody Visitor visits by custody suite; and 

 To provide information on what MOPAC had done to support people who wanted to be 

Independent Custody Visitors but their usual custody suite had closed and provide the 

figure for how many Independent Custody Visitors had given up their role as a result of 

the closure of their usual custody suite. 
 

5.6 At the end of the discussion the Chairman thanked the guests for their attendance and 

helpful contributions. 

 

5.7 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the monthly report from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, 

attached at Appendix 1 of the report, be noted. 

 

(b) That the report and answers given by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and 

Crime and the MPS to the questions asked by Members be noted. 

 
 
6   Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

6.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the work programme as set out in the report be noted. 

 

(b) That the Committee’s meeting slot on 19 June 2019 be used for a site visit to 

support the Committee’s scrutiny review of rape and sexual violence and that 

authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group lead 

members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree the arrangements for the 

site visit. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Tuesday 4 June 2019 

 

 
 

7   Date of Next Meeting (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The date of the next meeting was scheduled for Wednesday, 3 July 2019 at 10am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
8   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 8) 

 

8.1 There was no other business the Chair considered urgent. 

 
 
9   Close of Meeting 

 

9.1 The meeting ended at 11.43pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 

Page 56



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Police and Crime Committee – Tuesday, 4 June 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 5 – Question and Answer Session with the Mayor’s Office for 
Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service 

 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We now move to the main item of business, which is our monthly question and 

answer session with the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) and the Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS).  I would like to welcome our guests, Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime, and 

Sir Stephen House [QPM], Deputy Commissioner, MPS.  Good morning.   

 

We have a set of questions to ask you both.  If I start off with the question about the policing of protests and 

if I can ask you, Deputy Commissioner, what lessons has the MPS learned from the Extinction Rebellion protest 

and how will this influence your response to future protests?  Just very generally.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Thank you.  Just very briefly, as you would 

expect, we run a debriefing session after every major event, and we have done that after Extinction Rebellion.  

There were a number of things that we learned, many of a relatively low tactical nature.  We have a very strong 

view that Extinction Rebellion was the first of its kind in terms of demonstrations.  It quite certainly will not be 

the last of its kind now.  It was something that we had not dealt with in terms of the volume and the tactics 

that were used.  Therefore, I think it is safe to say - and the Commissioner [of Metropolitan Police Service, 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM] has already said in this venue last month - that there are learning lessons, and the 

lessons we will look at next time will be in terms of the number of resources that we deploy straight away.  We 

will put greater numbers into it quicker and we will take action against the protestors if they are breaking the 

law, as we believe they were in Extinction Rebellion.  We will take action much quicker than we did at this 

recent occurrence.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Before I come to the policing of today’s protest, some of your colleagues have 

talked about the laws governing such protests, that they need to be reviewed.  What is your thinking?  Can you 

be more specific? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  The two sections that we use the most for public 

order are section 12 and section 14 of the Public Order Act 1986.  They have been very fit for purpose up until 

now.  It is not that they are not applicable - and in fact most of the people arrested were arrested under the 

Public Order Act 1986 - but in terms of the volume that we were dealing with, that made it a very, very long 

and onerous process in terms of getting the arrests in place and then also processing the court files.  We have 

some views on that, which we will reflect to the Home Office to see if there is any way the legislation may be 

altered or new legislation introduced, but we do not have any specific requests of the Home Office yet. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Just moving on, obviously today we have the President of the United States 

here.  Can you tell us a bit about the preparations for how you are going to police today?   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Sure.  I can tell you a certain amount but 

obviously I will not go into any detail.  The visit is not even at halfway point yet.  Yesterday went very well.  

The plans worked very effectively.  We are very grateful to the public in London, residents, workers and 

visitors, for the patience that they showed us in terms of the road closures that were put in place and also the 

Page 57



 

 
 

pedestrian movements that were curtailed.  I was out walking myself for about two and a half hours yesterday 

in uniform around the sites, and the public in general were understanding and very good-humoured, and the 

cops were very accommodating, I think.  I have had a lot of word of mouth back that it went very successfully. 

 

In terms of what we do, we follow a tried-and-tested security regime, which we work on long in advance of the 

visit, and people saw how effectively it worked last time President [Donald] Trump was in London.  So far it 

has worked effectively again.  We work closely with his Secret Service detail to make sure that we merge the 

two security regimes well.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Before I bring colleagues in, obviously these things cost money.  For the 

Extinction Rebellion protest I am told the cost of policing was £7.5 million.  How much do you anticipate the 

policing of the Trump visit will cost the MPS? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We are not in a position to estimate that yet, but 

the last time President Trump visited the United Kingdom (UK) it cost the MPS about £2.9 million.  We do not 

know what the exact figure will be this time, partly because we are not finished yet and there may be 

unexpected costs, and also we have some specialist assets that we may have to increase or we may be able to 

decrease.   

 

I think it is also worth pointing out that President Trump is not the only VIP in London at the moment.  We 

have, as people will be aware, the D-Day celebrations coming up, which is part of the reason for the timing of 

the visit, and there are world leaders from all over the world coming to that.  There are a number of other VIPs.  

Some of the costs might be difficult to ascertain because some of our specialist assets will be flexed across a 

number of people.  Once the event is finished we will total up the costs and let you know.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  All right.  I understand in terms of the Extinction Rebellion protest a special 

grant application is being made to the Home Office. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  That is right. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Presumably, when you have calculated the costs of President Trump’s visit -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We will look to recover as many costs as we 

possibly can, yes.  It all fits into London being a global capital city and our request of the Government is that 

we get 100% funding of the National, International and Capital City (NICC) fund, which, at the moment, even 

by their own admission, is not funded fully.  We would urge in any spending review that the first item of 

business for policing is that the NICC fund is fully funded by the Government so that the MPS can do what it is 

required to do. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  I think you have our support.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I thought that during the Extinction [Rebellion] protest the police were made something 

of a laughingstock in relation to the fact that when people were arrested they were taken away.  We do not 

know where they were put.  On the face of it, they were not put in cells because there were not any cells, and I 

will come back to that in a moment.  After people had been arrested, they were released and they went 

straight back again.  This is the kind of thing that brings the MPS into disrepute.  Given that that tactic was 

widely advertised, that people were desperate to be arrested and desperate to be photographed and all the 

Page 58



 

 
 

rest of it and they wanted to be martyrs and rearrested, did you not think of making any kind of provision for 

that, ie preventing people from going back and repeating the same offences again? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I disagree with much of what you have just said.  

I do not believe the MPS was made a laughingstock.  I think much of the world looked at the MPS and 

thought, “That is pretty impressive.  They have arrested 1,200 people nearly.  There has been no violence”.  As 

far as I am aware, we have had no complaints from the people arrested about the way they were treated, which 

is in direct contrast to how some other democratic countries deal with protests.  I have to remind people, of 

course, the protest, whilst categorised as peaceful, was extremely disorderly and disruptive and was against the 

law.  People were lawbreakers.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Deputy Commissioner, I am not asking about the people who committed the offences.  We 

represent the people who pay for policing in London, and I accept that it was peaceful, and it went off in a 

very good-natured way.  Manifestly, I am initially speaking for myself and the perception that I had and the 

perception, if I can put it this way, in the popular press that the police have been made to look asses because 

they were arresting people and within moments pretty much those people came back again.  That kind of thing 

cannot possibly be something that you are pleased about.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  The people that you are talking about, they were 

a relatively small number who returned.  When we identified them - I believe we identified about 60 of them - 

they were then charged, and we used the force of the law as it exists against them.  In answer to the Chair’s 

question I said we had not made any specific requests yet of the Home Office, but I think it is important to say 

- and I know you know this from your experience of dealing with policing - we act within the law and we act 

within the legislation as it exists.  We cannot write legislation on the hoof just to suit the tactical situation that 

we are dealing with.  The penalties for section 12 and section 14 of the Public Order Act 1986 and any 

obstruction of the highway are relatively low-tariff offences.  They are dealt with in Magistrates’ Courts, and 

the ability of the police to control the movements of people is somewhat limited.  If somebody in a democracy 

wants to protest, is dealt with by the police and then wants to re-protest, it is not always easy to stop that 

situation coming about. 

 

I do not believe it was high numbers.  I do not believe that it will become the norm for people.  We have 

already said that we intend to continue with building the cases against all the people that we took into 

custody.  As of this morning 520 letters have gone out to people who were not charged at the time, asking 

them to come into the police station for an interview.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I am pleased to hear about that, and I am entirely supportive of people’s rights to protest.  

In the old days, if I can put it that way, when there would have been cells at every police station, would this 

have happened?  Would these characters have been taken to the police station and arrested and possibly have 

been detained there for some hours whilst appropriate inquiries would be taking place?   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  No, they could not have been.  Since 1984, 

under the Police and Criminal Evidence Act, you have to deal with people expeditiously.  Therefore, we would 

not be keeping people in custody for an extended period of time.  Can we just go back to the cell issue 

because you have mentioned it a couple of times?  There was a lot of discussion in the media and elsewhere 

about the shortage of cells.  We actually were not short of cells.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Really? 

 

Page 59



 

 
 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We were not short of cells.  What caused 

problems - I do not point fingers of blame at this - was simply the fact that the vast majority of the 1,151 

people who were arrested opted to use the same two firms of solicitors.  Whether this was because they had all 

been briefed beforehand, “If you get arrested, here is a phone number to give to the police.  We want these 

solicitors”, I can only speculate on that.  It seems unlikely that it was just happenstance.  These firms of 

solicitors, with the best will in the world, do not have 550-odd lawyers each, so they could not all come, and 

they could not cope with the speed and the volume.  That was a problem.   

 

To be frank, we also had a situation where we did not have time to interview all of the people because there 

were large volumes.  It was not cell capacity that was the pinch-point.  It was access to solicitors and legal 

advice, which they are all entitled to have, and also access to interview rooms.  As you will know from your 

experience, most police stations have a couple of interview rooms, three or four, and in some cases a few more 

than that, but not the volume where we could interview hundreds of people at the same time. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I just wanted to ask because I have heard - there have been reports - that 

Extinction Rebellion is planning protests around Heathrow [Airport] in July and that this protest could involve 

using drones.  Obviously, we saw an issue with drones closing down Gatwick Airport last year.  Do you have the 

necessary powers and strategy to prevent drone use in these protests if they occur?  Is there a need to change 

legislation in that area to enable you to deal with this - perhaps I will not call it a threat - new tool, if you like? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I think the legislation exists to deal with it.  It is 

pretty clear.  You walk across St James’s Park at the moment and there is a sign up saying, “No drone zone”, 

and the legislation is there if people breach certain areas.  Heathrow is certainly an excluded airspace as far as 

drones are concerned.  The legislation exists.  I would use this opportunity to urge Extinction Rebellion not to 

deploy drones at Heathrow, not least from the public safety point of view.  They are extremely dangerous, and 

particularly in a crowded airspace like Heathrow.  To do so would be reckless in the extreme and would, 

therefore, attract some pretty severe penalties in legislation, were they to do so.  We have read the reports 

ourselves and we are, as they say, looking into the matter. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Do you have enough powers that exist to be able to deal with it if drones were 

used? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I believe we do, yes.  I believe we do.  That is not 

to say that more powers will not come along.  If it is used more, people may feel that we need more and more 

legislation and it needs to be more draconian, because it is a real threat to public safety. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Safety, absolutely.  Thank you very much. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  You talked earlier about how you are changing your tactics for future protests.  You mention 

that you will deploy a higher level of resources more quickly and you will take action against people more 

quickly if the law is broken.  When we spoke to the Commissioner about the protests, one of the things she 

said was that essentially as soon as somebody was arrested and taken away, somebody else would take their 

place.  Do you think that would be ultimately saving resources to take action more quickly, rather than speak 

to people and the way that it was carried out this time? 

 

Page 60



 

 
 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  As I said, this is a very new tactic.  Against this 

tactic specifically, we would deploy officers earlier and we would intervene quicker.  What has normally been 

the case in these situations is that people will come along, they will sit down in an unlawful protest, and they 

will do it for a couple of hours.  If we had a view that it is reasonable, it is not causing too much disruption and 

we know that they are going to go in due course, then we will to a degree allow that protest to take place.  We 

will give them a time, and then we will start acting.  

 

When it came to Extinction Rebellion, the reality was it went on for ten days.  We should have taken action 

earlier, I believe.  I do not think we had the resources to take action earlier.  The tactic was completely new and 

unknown to us.  Yes, the volume of people who were prepared to come along and sit down and then lock 

themselves on, etc, and then protect the lock-ons with just numbers of bodies was unprecedented for us.  We 

do learn lessons from these things.  The Commissioner said that last time she was here.  We have reviewed it.  I 

have sat down myself with the Gold and the Silver Commanders for the day and talked through the lessons 

that we have learned on that event, so we will act differently in the future. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  When you said “earlier”, you meant in terms of days, not minutes?  Peaceful protest can still 

occur in the way that you described for hours.  You would not be preventing protest from starting in the same 

way, as might have been implied earlier? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  No.  It is important to realise that English law 

does recognise the rights of people to make the protest.  Even though under the Public Order Act 1986, if they 

are in an unlawful assembly, there are parameters on it, we try to facilitate peaceful protest.  When it starts to 

become hugely disruptive and it is illegal - which, of course, we strongly believe Extinction Rebellion was illegal 

- then we will take action.  If someone comes along to us and says, “Look, we are going to be here for half an 

hour and then we are going to go”, then, looking at the asset we have, the tactics, etc, we may well say, “That 

is fine.  If you move on in half an hour, then good”.  If they turn up and say, “We are going to be here for ten 

days”, then there will be a different approach. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK.  Thank you.  We heard previously that you have charged 70 people so far.  You have just 

said that you are sending letters to a further 520 people, asking them to come in for further interviews and 

investigation.  It has been reported in the press that the police are intending to charge and proceed against all 

1,100 people that have been arrested.  I wanted to ask, is that proportionate, and is there not a considerable 

extra cost to the police of conducting these interviews, putting witnesses towards court?  Is that really 

proportional to what has gone on here? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We are not necessarily looking to charge all of 

the people that we are talking about.  We are looking to proceed against them.  I think you did say that was 

important, that we realise that.  Some of the people that were coming in as a result of the 520 letters have not 

been interviewed yet, and they have a right to be interviewed, and we think that would be best evidence.  We 

will give them the opportunity to do so.  If they decline to come in, then we will proceed against them without 

the interview.   

 

Is it proportionate?  Large parts of London were brought to a standstill.  Many thousands, probably tens and 

hundreds of thousands of people who work and live in London were disrupted in their movements trying to get 

to work.  The economy lost an awful lot of money.  The concern we have going forward is that people imagine 

they can break the law - we believe they did break the law, which is why we arrested them in the first place - 

with impunity.  Regardless of the cause - and the MPS has to be agnostic on what it is that they are protesting 

about - if they break the law, there have to be consequences.  It is inappropriate for Extinction Rebellion, as 

Page 61



 

 
 

we believe that they did, to say to their people beforehand, “Don’t worry about getting arrested.  The police 

will be nice to you.  You will be taken to the police station.  You will be released and nothing will happen.  You 

will not go to court.  Do not worry about it”.  That is not responsible of Extinction Rebellion to do that, 

because there are consequences when you break the law.  That is what we are seeing now. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Are you concerned there may be the wrong message sent out if people suffer the same 

consequences for what are peaceful summary offences as they might do for more disruptive offences, such as 

vandalism, which I could see being part of something that might be more serious? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I see where you are going but that is partly a 

matter for the courts to decide on punishment, or guilt initially, and then penalty if they find them guilty.  

What we are doing is applying the law as we think it is the right way to do. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Will you keep us informed about the ongoing and rising cost of these proceedings? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Sure. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Very, very quickly, first of all, many of us do think it is proportionate, so thank you for that.  

You are being reactive at the moment, which I understand.  You are learning lessons, etc.  Do you have any 

work being done on being proactive?  Do you have any officers in a room thinking, “Right, OK, if we were 

going to do a demonstration, doing something different, we could do this or we could do that”?  Police 

officers have great ideas of their own, and you could think, “Right, if they did this, we could come in straight 

away”.  Are you doing any proactive work? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Great.  Thank you.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Moving on to the next set of questions, which is on violent crime, can I ask 

Assembly Member Hall to lead on this? 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Thank you.  Deputy Commissioner, can you briefly update us on the work of the Violent 

Crime Task Force to date? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I absolutely can.  Thank you for the question.  

Can I broaden it initially to the violent crime situation in London?  The officers and staff in the Violent Crime 

Task Force do a great job, but there are thousands of officers out there on a daily basis dealing with violent 

crime, dealing with the offenders and trying to reduce violent crime.  It is not just the Violent Crime Task 

Force, although they do a fantastic job.   

 

Where we are at the moment, in terms of the headline figures, homicide year-on-year - so this year compared 

to the same time last year - is down about 30%.  We are seeing a significantly lower number of homicides this 

year than last year.  We are seeing total knife crime pretty much flat compared to last year, with similar 

numbers.  One of the key measures - and I know you have heard this many times before from us - that we look 

at are knife injuries for under-25-year olds, because we believe that is a very good measure of violence on the 

street.  That so far is down nearly 20% year-on-year, so we are seeing a significant reduction in that type of 

Page 62



 

 
 

crime and we are getting back to levels that we saw a few years ago.  There is still much more to be done on 

that.  We will continue to operate a number of tactics against people who take knives out onto the street and 

use knives in violence.  I do not want to give any sign of complacency.  There was an attack over the weekend, 

and sadly there was a victim who died just yesterday from that attack.  That was a knife injury attack, and they 

are still far too common and are a huge percentage of the homicides in London.   

 

We believe the tactics that we are using in the Violent Crime Task Force and the rest of the organisation are 

working.  There are a wide range of tactics, not just stop and search, although those numbers continue to be at 

a high level and I think will increase further to deal with knives on the street.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  You mentioned that the use of section 60 stop and search [section 60 of the Criminal Justice 

and Public Order Act 1994] has increased by 423% in the 2018/19 financial year.  Can you explain the 

reasoning behind that, and does it show that stop and search rules need to be updated to give you more 

flexibility? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I think it is important to stress in those figures 

that the 423% is an increase in the number of searches under section 60.  It is not the number of section 60s 

authorised.  That is an important difference.  The number of section 60s that have been authorised has still 

gone up.  It has gone up 219%.  The number of searches that are derived from those authorisations has gone 

up 423%.  For example, if you look at last year, 2017/18, there were 1,836 searches under section 60, and this 

year there were 9,599, so many, many more.   

 

We have increased the number of authorities.  I think we use it far more assertively than we did before, but it is 

an appropriate use.  As you know, and we have spoken about here, they are authorised either in anticipation of 

serious violence or immediately after serious violence.  When our on-call chief officers get a call about a 

homicide or a violent knife attack, they will always ask, “Have you considered a section 60?”  Sometimes it is 

appropriate.  Sometimes it is not.  If it is a domestic violence murder, then a section 60 would almost certainly 

not be appropriate. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  No.  I understand.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  If it is a gang-related situation, then it probably 

would be appropriate and we would expect that to be put in place.  It is something which our on-call chief 

officers pay meticulous attention to.  We do question how long they are going to stay in place.  We make sure 

that local communities are aware, that we put it out on Twitter and other social media that a section 60 is in 

place, and we tell local partners they are in place as well. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, I am aware of them and I am totally behind that.  Do you think that stop-and-search 

rules need to be updated to give you more flexibility, or are you happy with the ability you have at the 

moment? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I believe we have what we need at the moment.  

We are seeing, due to an increase in stop and search, a greater awareness among people who might be inclined 

to carry knives that they are likely to be stopped and searched, and, therefore, I would hope they would leave 

the knife at home and stop carrying knives.  That is the intent behind stop and search.  I believe we have what 

we need at the moment.  If that were to change, we would certainly ask.   

 

Page 63



 

 
 

Susan Hall AM:  OK, thank you.  What, if anything, might change about the task force going forward, and 

how are you measuring its success?  Do you have specifics? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  The Violent Crime Task Force? 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes.  At the moment we see no reason to scale it 

back or end the Violent Crime Task Force.  All the while violence is at the level it is at, we need specific 

response from a dedicated number of officers.  That is what we get from the Violent Crime Task Force.  We 

measure success through the figures that you get regularly, which are the stop and search, the weapon sweeps, 

the number of knives seized.  Again, I would be keen to widen that across the whole of the MPS.  We are doing 

20,000  

stop and searches a month, give or take.  That is not all the Violent Crime Task Force.  There are a number of 

other assets that carry out those stop-and-searches, as well as borough-based officers. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes.  Good.  Thank you.  Officers from the Roads and Transport Policing Command were due 

to stay there until at least March 2019.  Are they still in place?  If so, are you happy that they have continued 

to be there? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It was extended to September [2019], so they 

are there until September and it will be reviewed again before September.  What we will do before we get to 

September is we will talk to Transport for London (TfL), we will talk to the Roads and Transport Policing 

Command to see how they are coping with the abstractions that they have had, and we will make a judgment 

at that point.  

 

Susan Hall AM:  In January the Mayor said local policing teams would be given access to additional officers to 

give focus to tackling drugs and other proactive policing activity.  What additional support have local officers 

been given and what kind of proactive policing has taken place? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Most recently the specialist crime part of the 

MPS has moved into a new structure, which is allowing more proactivity on the Basic Command Units (BCUs), 

so there has been an increase there.  As you know, our numbers are increasing as well in terms of overall 

numbers of officers.  We are now at 30,000 and we are aiming to get to 31,000 by the end of this calendar 

year.  Those officers are being deployed onto boroughs, BCUs.  We have the Violent Crime Task Force.  We 

also have - this is why I keep stressing it - the task force, which is the Territorial Support Group (TSG), dogs 

[Dog Support Unit] and the Mounted Branch, who are constantly deployed through a very sophisticated 

tasking process, which Deputy Assistant Commissioner Duncan Ball leads, on a fortnightly basis to task officers 

to the hotspot areas to deal with the upsurge.  If there is a temporary upsurge in violent crime in an area, they 

will go there and target that.  There are a huge number of assets available to BCUs to deploy in addition to 

their own assets.   

 

Also, because we have moved to 12 BCUs from the 32 boroughs, we have the ability to create proactive teams 

on BCUs.  Every BCU now has a proactive team.  For example, the Westminster part of the BCU has a task 

force dealing with robbery of about 50 officers.  That has been created in the last month to deal with the 

robbery problem there. 

 

Page 64



 

 
 

Susan Hall AM:  You touched on recruitment there and that we will not be up to speed until the end of the 

year.  Talking to various police officers, they are all concerned that it is such a young force because we have 

lost so many of the older heads, if you like, and therefore there is not the experience there that there should 

be.  What would be your view on that? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I must have spoken to about 50 officers 

yesterday as I walked around, and we talked about recruiting.  It is the nature of policing that when officers 

join they are, on average, about 24 years of age.  We have people who join late as a second career, but in the 

main it is around 24.  They go, as you know, automatically onto a BCU.  Therefore, there is always going to be 

a younger workforce coming into the organisation at BCU level.   

 

I think we should be celebrating the fact that the organisation is growing and that we are putting more people 

through Hendon [The Peel Centre] and more people onto the streets.  Of course, it would be great if they 

arrived on shift fully experienced with the equipment of ten years’ policing experience, but we do not have a 

way to inject them with that experience, so we have to put them onto a BCU and they develop the experience 

in a measured way, learning from their peers.  As I say, I think we should celebrate the fact that we are growing 

as an organisation.   

 

I have to say - I have been in policing for 37 years - there has always been a view that the workforce is getting 

younger and new recruits do not know anything.  That is just the nature of policing in that we value experience 

because experience allows you to give a better service to the public, but we have to bring people into the 

organisation and they learn how to police on the streets of London.  It is a great place to learn. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I accept that unreservedly.  It is the comments that are coming from police officers that have 

concerned me.  If you do not manage to -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I do not know what the alternative is, though. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I was just going to say, if you continue to have this issue and with the churn maybe more 

than you think, would you consider bringing back people that have left for pension reasons to look at ways you 

can get older heads?  I am sorry.  I know that is what has happened to you, but -- 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Wiser heads.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  Wiser heads, not older.  Wiser heads.  Do you think that that might be a -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes, I do.  It is a very good point.  I should have 

addressed it.  We are talking to the Home Office about a number of schemes to either bring people back or 

retain officers beyond when they reach their pensionable service.  As you know, people of my generation 

joined to do 30 years’ service and then got a pension.  It is now 35 years and they get a pension.  The nature 

of it is there is a strong dynamic and financial imperative that once you reach pensionable age, you should 

leave.  It is a big ask for people to stay on, although many people do stay on for the love of the job.  If we 

could make it easier for people to stay on beyond their pensionable service, that would mean that our 

experience levels would increase.   

 

What I have to say, though - no disrespect to officers with more than 30 years’ service, I am one myself - is 

that the idea of officers with 35 or 36 years’ service still working earlies, lates and nights, I am not sure too 

many of them would be keen on that.  It does take its toll after a while.  If we could retain the experience in 

Page 65



 

 
 

the organisation, perhaps in investigation or on Safer Neighbourhood Teams, that would be a very valuable 

thing to do.  As I say, we are talking to the Home Office about it. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  On recruitment, that is one of the discussions I 

have with Robin Wilkinson [Chief of Corporate Services, MPS] around the speed with which you can recruit.  

Obviously, there is just training, and that is one of the things you have to take into consideration.  The other 

thing you have to take into consideration is the ability of boroughs and BCUs to be able to train, supervise and 

mentor new recruits coming in.  That is absolutely part of the difficult arithmetic that is undertaken in terms of 

really trying to speed up recruitment because extra money has come in from the Mayor and making sure that it 

is a viable proposition that you do have a lot of new recruits coming through.  Of course, I would say this, but 

the genuine answer to an issue around too many new recruits coming in at one point is to have long-term, 

sustainable funding for the police so that we do not get these ups and downs.  We are not getting the 

sustainable funding that you need in order to be able to keep up sustainable recruitment and to be able to 

really make sure that you have the number of officers that London needs.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  My answer to that, as you know, will be you should never let them get below the amount for 

which you have the money in place for them, but I will leave it at that.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  This is one for you, Deputy Mayor.  The crime dashboard and the way that they have been 

reporting the increase in violent crime: I have been severely embarrassed by the ten wards which have had the 

largest increase in violent crime measured in London measured as a percentage.  Chessington North, which is a 

very quiet sort of place in Kingston, and Canbury Ward, which is a bit of a busier place in Kingston.  By looking 

at the figures on the crime dashboard, they seem to be centres for violent crime.  I know, and you know and 

MOPAC knows that if that was interpreted as the number of crimes, the increase month-on-month, it is 

‘fingers of one hand’ stuff.  Because it does not say that on the crime dashboard, it just presents the crude 

figures, it makes it look as though Kingston is the wild west, and it absolutely is not.  I wonder if you would 

care to have a look at that so that there can be some kind of blurb, if you like, or some kind of description as 

to how you should interpret these figures.  I have found it rather difficult.  Some old boy came up to me and 

said he had never seen anything happening, and lo and behold Chessington is this terrible place. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I am happy to look at that.  I absolutely take your 

point, and I look at the actual figures, not just the percentage increase.  I am happy to go away and look at 

how we can make that clearer if it is not clear at the moment.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Thank you. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Deputy Commissioner, it is just a point of information I wanted from you.  In your answer 

to Susan [Hall AM] you mentioned about mentoring, that younger policemen have mentoring.  I just 

wondered, how official is that mentoring system?  How does it work? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Not as official as we would like it to be, is the 

response I would give you.  Many BCUs have what we call a street duties unit, whereby officers are guided, so 

it happens to every officer.  Nobody arrives and then just is thrown into the work without any assistance.  They 

are all guided.  They all have tutors of some form or other.  Some BCUs are doing it in a very structured way.  I 

think what is important, to answer you, though, is that when we move to our new recruiting model, which is a 

national recruiting model, it will be very, very structured.  Officers will be very strongly mentored and guided 

through their first two or three years in policing.  I think that is a much more professional way to go about it, 

and we are looking forward to introducing the new system.   

Page 66



 

 
 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  When will that come in? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It is due to come in middle of next year, about a 

year from now. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Thank you. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Good morning, Deputy Commissioner and Deputy Mayor.  Recently in the Offensive 

Weapons Act 2019, which received Royal Assent, there included the Knife Crime Prevention Orders.  Could you 

give us an update on the pilots?   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  You are better-informed.  I did not think it 

had -- 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  16 May 2019 it was received.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I am sorry.  I am not -- 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I have discussed that with the Commissioner in 

terms of the Bill wanting to have pilots, and it is something that is being developed at the moment.  There is 

no plan in detail at the moment.  It has to be developed and discussed with the Home Office, and the 

discussion that we will have as well.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Sorry.  Thank you.  I was speaking to Chief 

Superintendent Ade Adelekan.  He was quite strongly involved and probably aware in the development of the 

scheme, and he is developing the thinking around where we will first operate it and how we will measure the 

success of it.  We want to make sure that we have very clear results from how we use it.  Again, I think it is also 

important to say we do not see this as a huge volume.  This is very specifically targeted, hopefully, at 

preventing criminalisation of young men.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  That is reassuring to hear because I think one of the areas in that Knife Crime 

Prevention Order was a subject around criminalising for up to two years -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes, there are two parts in it, yes. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  -- for people as young as 12 if they are found with a knife and using it on social 

media.  That would send the wrong message in terms of the work we are trying to do to educate young people 

not to carry knives.  Maybe sentencing them for up to two years might be a bit disproportionate in terms of 

the use of force.  It would be really interesting, once the pilots are announced, how the MPS will be using that. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I am sorry.  I do not have a brief on it and I 

apologise for that.  My recollection of it from previous meetings here is that there are two distinct strands to it.  

We want to focus on preventing criminalisation, but we also feel it is important that there are provisions to deal 

with young people if they do breach the order.  ‘Carrots and sticks’ is a slightly blunt way of putting it, but that 

is how we feel about it. 

 

Page 67



 

 
 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  No, that is fine.  One of the other things I wanted to raise with you, Deputy 

Commissioner, was around the issue of the MPS’s Crime Task Force Twitter account and the posting of very 

large, in some cases, knives and other weapons.  This is an issue that I have raised directly with the Mayor, 

directly with the Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis and in a letter in December 2017 to the Chief 

Superintendent Sean Yates.  You may be aware that last Thursday the MPS Task Force Twitter account was, in 

my view, engaged in some activity which I think should be questioned by the MPS in terms of asking its 

followers if they should continue to post a number of images.  In response to that you had quite a number of 

ex-officers and people working within youth groups saying, “This is counterproductive, and is there any 

evidence is state that posting some of these really large, scary-looking images works?”  Do you now feel that 

maybe there should be some guidance on whether this activity going forwards should continue?  My 

understanding is there is no evidence to say that this actually works.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It is a very worthwhile question.  I am not sure of 

the answer, so there may not be any evidence that it works.  Is there evidence that it does not work?  We have 

discussed this in Management Board relatively recently, and the debate went backwards and forwards.  I can 

completely understand that continual photographs on Twitter and in the Evening Standard and on the news of  

horrific-looking knives may serve to frighten people.  I think it also, to put the other side of it, may serve to 

show people the seriousness of the situation and make them realise what it is that London and indeed the 

whole of England and Wales are dealing with in terms of a knife crime problem, which we cannot afford to 

minimise or sweep under the carpet.  I know you are not suggesting that.  I can say that research was done in 

Scotland when I worked there around this, and the general view was it was not always productive to talk in 

terms of a war on violence and it was not always productive to show violent images, and it was more 

productive to talk about solving problems, dealing with social issues, etc.  We have to look at the situation we 

are in at the moment in London in terms of knife crime and its usage, but I do take on board your point.   

 

It is interesting that the Violent Crime Task Force has discussed it and we have discussed it in Management 

Board.  We are looking for advice from a number of sources as to: is there a right and a wrong in this?  My 

guess is there is not a right and a wrong.  My guess is it is contextual, and sometimes it is the right thing to 

show the weaponry and sometimes it is not.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  You are right.  There is an element of the real human cost of showing what the 

police are dealing with.  Everyone accepts that.  Equally, when you have the former Chief Inspector, who I am 

sure you know, Graham Goulden, stating that an 81% reduction in knife crime in Scotland was due to an 

approach which did not involve these images, we do have to question if -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I would just say that is not right.  I was the Chief 

Constable in Scotland for three years and I was in Strathclyde as the Chief Constable for five years.  That is not 

accurate.  That is his view.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  That is his view. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I do not think it is a definitive view, if I am 

honest.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  That is fine, but there are a number of people who have called out the posting of 

these images online.  When we have the MPS’s task force Twitter account asking for a show of hands in a poll 

of, “Who thinks we should post this?”  I do not think that is the right thing and the right way to engage.  If we 

Page 68



 

 
 

want the MPS to ask people, should there be a forum?  Should this be discussed with the people who are 

working in the sector, as opposed to on social media?  I would ask you to take that back to the Task Force.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  OK.  I thank you for your comment, and I do not 

necessarily disagree with you.  We need to be looking across a wide range of views on this.  Equally, we do 

encourage the use of Twitter.  I do not think it is an irresponsible thing to do, personally.  I think it is quite a 

responsible thing.  I am pleased they are asking, as opposed to just ploughing ahead.  I would rather celebrate 

the fact that they are asking, but it is not the only people we should be asking, certainly. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Yes, but if you could look at the tweets. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Certainly. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  It was last Thursday, some of the responses back, “No need to shout.  We just want 

to get your insight.  Everyone is happy with us posting this, correct?”  Just the language being used as well.  

This is a really serious issue. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I accept that. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Thank you.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Can I just pick up on the announcement on Friday as well?  The Mayor 

announced an extra £700,000 expansion of a pilot scheme to track knife crime offenders using tags.  I am 

wondering - it might be for you, Deputy Mayor - where does this extra investment come from?  Why have you 

decided now to expand this pilot?  Do you have any data on how it has worked so far?  How many people have 

been compliant with these tags? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The extra money was in the Mayor’s budget as 

part of the additional uplift for policing and crime and tackling violence.  It is an extension of the pilot that was 

announced in February [2019] which was for four boroughs where we thought there would be about 100 tags 

because of the pilot.  It is a very specific pilot for prisoners released on licence, so it is for those that have 

already been convicted of knife crime offences.  This extra money allows it to be rolled out to 20 other 

boroughs, and we are expecting that that will give us, depending on sentencing obviously, about 300 tags and 

will give us a very good pool in which to evaluate efficiency and the effectiveness of it.  I do not have any 

evaluation yet.  We have had some tags but it is early days, basically, but we will be chucking out -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You are rolling it out before you have evaluated the initial pilot? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We are ensuring that there is a wider pool of 

tags.  That is what we are doing.  From 100 to 300 to give us a better pool and a better evaluation of this 

method of tagging on release from prison. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK, lovely.  Thank you.  We just wanted to get clarity on that.   

 

I wanted to pick up - I will start off with you, Deputy Mayor - about the Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) and 

just to understand how MOPAC is ensuring that its work on tackling violence is aligned clearly with the VRU.   

 

Page 69



 

 
 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  There are a number of ways in which we ensure 

that the work of the VRU is aligned not just to MOPAC but to the rest of the Greater London Authority.  We 

have regular meetings with Lib Peck [Director, VRU], not just as myself as Deputy Mayor for Policing and 

Crime, but also with Debbie Weekes-Bernard [Deputy Mayor for Social Integration, Social Mobility and 

Community Engagement] and Joanne McCartney AM{[Statutory Deputy Mayor] to make sure that there is an 

absolute understanding of what the VRU is doing, the work programme that has been set out, but also to 

ensure that the work that each of our areas are doing is aligned.  We all sit on the Partnership Reference Group 

that the Mayor chairs, which meets regularly.  I think its next meeting is towards the end of July.  That work 

programme that has been put forward and the objectives that have been put forward by Lib Peck have been 

developed in consultation with us, but obviously the VRU is a partnership unit.  It is not just what I want as 

Deputy Mayor for Policing Crime or what Joanne McCartney AM or Debbie Weekes-Bernard want.  We are 

very, very clear that it should be aligned but there should not be duplication, and that is part of the work that 

we do by meeting regularly to ensure that that happens.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  The Partnership Reference Group that the Mayor chairs: are the papers publicly 

available for that? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, they are on the website. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  They are on the website.  Great.  We can make sure we properly look at those.  

Obviously, we had Lib Peck before us in April.  Looking through some of the paperwork, there are lots of 

deliverables: end of May, end of June.  Is the VRU on track to produce things like its work programme, its 

performance framework and the commissioning framework? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  It is on track.  Already, at the last Partnership 

Reference Group, Lib presented the outline of the work programme, and then the detail of that has been put 

in place.  As far as I know it is on track in terms of a commissioning programme.  It has already sent out and 

procured - it is now in train - the review of the homicides and serious cases in London, and as far as I know it is 

on track.  Yes, it is working, up and running. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  In terms of its work programme, when Lib came before us the conversation kept 

always coming back - in some ways as our focus has this morning - to young people and knife crime.  Violence 

is far wider than that.  We have domestic violence: 2,000 domestic abuse violence incidents with injury per 

month in the capital.  It is not just young people.  It is older people.  If you are in your 40s, I think you are 

three times more likely to be killed by a knife in London in 2018 than you were in 2017, though relatively the 

numbers are small.  How are you making sure this unit is properly focused on all elements of violence, not just 

gang and youth crime and knife crime? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  You are right about the importance.  I totally 

agree with you in terms of the importance and in showing that the scope is wider than just youth crime.  That 

has been really clear from the beginning with the VRU that it takes in domestic violence and sexual violence as 

well.  The objectives that Lib Peck has set out do include working with families and young people and ensuring 

that they are there, that there will be support going into the home where there is domestic violence.  That is 

part of the objectives.  Part of the prioritisation that Lib and the Partnership Reference Group have done is to 

make sure that at the beginning, although this is a long-term plan, there is a focus on young people, because 

we are taking that real public health approach.  If you really do the early intervention, you will be intervening 

on domestic violence and you will be intervening on sexual violence as well.  That will mean that in the  

Page 70



 

 
 

long-term young people will be less likely to be perpetrating violence.  We all know that when you look at what 

are the drivers of crime, they are adverse childhood experiences, which includes domestic violence.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Lovely.  Thank you.  Could I come to you, Deputy Commissioner?  Obviously, 

you worked in Scotland.  You will know probably better than anyone about how the public health approach has 

worked there.  Previously concerns have been expressed that London is just so different.  How effective do you 

think the model for London as it is stands?  Are there other things we should be looking at doing in the 

capital? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I think the model is the right model, so long as it 

is contextualised for London.  What is not right is, “What worked in Glasgow will work in London”.  It will not.  

What works in London would not work in Glasgow.  They are very different places with very different problems.  

For example, Glasgow has one council, one partner.  London has the Mayor, but it has 32 councils.  That 

makes it ultimately far more complex.  That is just one example of where it is different, but the model is the 

right model.   

 

I could not agree more with what was said just then.  If you could stop the world for a minute and say, “Where 

do you want to put all your money?” you would put all the money into the younger generations and say, “We 

can stop this now because we can plough money into youngsters and we can reduce adverse experiences, we 

can improve their anger management, we can make them understand the consequences of their actions far 

more, and it will pay dividends going forward”.  The reality is the VRU does not have that luxury and neither 

does the MPS.  We have to deal with the world that we are in.  There is no doubt that an emphasis on younger 

generations and moving forward is the right way to do it, and it is all linked up.  Domestic abuse leads to angry 

people, disturbed people.  That results in violence on the streets.  It results in broken families.  It results in 

poor parenting, etc.  It all feeds into a major problem for us.  I think the approach is right.  The difficulty is - 

something said it - how do you make sure you focus on all these issues?  That is a problem, isn’t it?  You 

cannot focus on everything.  “Focus” means you look at some, not all.  That is an issue. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  How is the MPS collaborating with the VRU?  What are your links there? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We meet on a very regular basis at various levels 

within the organisation.  We are very keen to help inform the VRU and frankly influence it in terms of what we 

think would be most effective for it to do.  The issues we are looking at are: how do we improve our ability in 

the police to access mental health and drugs issues so that we can point offenders and victims in the right 

direction as quickly as possible?  How do we work together to make sure that we are dealing with the more 

serious and urgent cases quickly?  There is a significant join-up.  I think we will grow, we will join-up.  The VRU 

is in an early stage at the moment.  As it starts to move forward with its programmes, we will be able to work 

more closely it.  I am positive about the future for it.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Great, thank you.  To both of you, how beneficial do you think it is that the 

VRU has changed how it was originally going to work?  It was going to have this pan-London approach with 

about five hubs where boroughs were together so the whole of London would be covered, and now it is 

focusing on very specific areas of London.  Is that the right approach? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  What you are referring to are some of the early 

papers that went to the Partnership Reference Group, which were early, before Lib [Peck] arrived, and we were 

very clear from the outset that these were early workings of how the VRU could possibly work.  Lib, quite 

rightly, has come in, and as Director of the VRU has looked at that.  It is not a change from a pan-London 

Page 71



 

 
 

approach.  It is a change from having five or six specific hubs out there in London, and it is to make sure that - 

as Lib would describe - there is a much more ‘hyper-local’ approach.  Although Tony [Arbour AM] was pointing 

at percentage increases in particular wards, it does illustrate the point that even in the high-crime boroughs, 

the places where the violence is taking place are very, very hyper-local and it is within individual wards, 

sometimes within individual, very specific areas.  That is the change that has happened.   

 

It does not mean there is not a pan-London approach.  One of the other things that the VRU has been set up 

to do and why it is so important that we have the buy-in from the partners who are also very, very important, 

such as the National Health Service (NHS) and the MPS, is that it is taking strategic issues which need to be 

tackled pan-London and, where there are barriers locally, lifting them up and tackling them strategically.  We 

have very, very good buy-in from the NHS, for example.  It is appointing somebody to be the main person for 

tackling violence within NHS London.  There still is a pan-London approach but the focus is really making sure 

that there is a hyper-local response to ensuring that there is the best of good evidence, best practice, and that 

there is that delivery locally.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Do you have anything to add on that? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I do not have anything to add to that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Finally from me, the amount of money in this unit.  It has a big task and it has a 

relatively, as Lib described it, decent sum of money.  £5 million is quite a drop in the ocean with the task in 

hand.  Are you going to look to increase resources to make sure it does have impact across the whole of 

London? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  If that were the only money that was being spent 

on tackling violence, I would agree with you, it would seem not enough, but that £5 million is specifically for 

the commissioning and specifically for the work of the VRU, and it is on top of the work that MOPAC does and 

the London Crime Prevention Fund does.  There is a lot of money going into tackling violence there.  The 

Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy.  The Mayor put £15 million into extra additional services.  Then, of 

course, because it is a partnership unit, across the GLA there is the £45 million for the Younger Londoners 

Fund, which is very much a key and vital element of that long-term preventative strategy of making sure 

young people are given the best opportunity and the best chance not to go down that route of violence and 

not to go down that route of criminality because they have other things that they could be doing.  They are 

being given skills and they are being kept occupied as the bottom line.   

 

Then of course there is the might of other partners such as local authorities and the NHS.  That £6.8 million for 

the VRU: some of that is the very small core staff, and the £5 million is on top of and additional to a lot of 

investment.  We are lobbying very hard for the Government to ensure that it matches us in terms of the VRU 

money.  The Government announced £100 million of funding for tackling violence a couple of months ago.  I 

think £65 million of that has now been finally allocated.  £35 million still has to be allocated, and that is - from 

what the Government has been talking about - to go into VRUs, and we really are lobbying hard that London 

receives its fair share of that as well.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK, but it is making sure the VRU has oversight and links up with all those 

funds, which is going to be a crucial thing there. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  It does, yes, absolutely. 

 

Page 72



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I think we wrote to the Mayor in December 20181 setting out our suggestions 

for shaping the work of the VRU.  Are there any specific recommendations in that that you would like to see 

taken forward by the VRU?   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I am sorry, I do not have that in front of me.  

From memory, when the Committee wrote, I do not think there was anything in there that we disagreed with or 

was not part of the work plan.  You would have to remind me.  I am sorry.  I do not have them in front of me. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I do not think I have them in front of me either.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I will take another look.  

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I do not know if we have had a formal response even.  No?  Yes? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  You have had a response. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, OK.  We want to just make sure those are picked up.  I saw, “Consultation, 

the work programme, by the end of May”, so I presume that our letter will have fed in as our thoughts on that. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, absolutely, and that consultation on the 

work programme was very intense consultation, and part of that came with a different way of delivering it that 

we have just discussed and went to the Partnership Reference Group in May.  Absolutely, that was part of the 

Partnership Reference Group agenda. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Great, to make sure our thoughts are picked up.  Thank you, Chair. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Thank you, Caroline.  Moving on to the topic of hate crime, can I ask Assembly 

Member Berry to lead on this? 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you, Chair.  We had a meeting in May where we heard evidence from a number of 

groups working on hate crime, supporting victims and liaising with the police in many cases.  I have a number 

of questions that come out of that as part of our investigation.  The first question is about sanction detection 

rates.  We heard this varies from 4% to 14%.  For 4%, you are looking at crimes like transgender and disability 

hate crimes.  The 14%, the higher sanction detection rate, is for racial and religiously-motivated attacks and 

crimes.  Can I ask, how do you feel about this sanction detection rate, Sir Stephen, and how does it compare to 

other forces around the country? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I do not think any of the sanction detection rates 

are where we want them to be.  I do not regularly compare with all other forces, but in comparison with some 

of the similar forces to us, so West Midlands and Greater Manchester and the bigger forces, I do not think we 

are an outlier particularly.  These are crimes that we are finding difficult around the sanction detection rate.  As 

I say, I do not think that the figures are acceptable, and we are working to try to increase our detection 

performance.   

 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/violence-reduction-unit-assemblys-
recommendations 
 

Page 73

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/violence-reduction-unit-assemblys-recommendations
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/violence-reduction-unit-assemblys-recommendations


 

 
 

Sian Berry AM:  What are the catches here in terms of detection?  Surely London has more, for example, 

CCTV coverage than most other cities.  The attacks that take place on public transport must be detectable.   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  There are a variety of attrition factors in relation 

to the detection of hate crime, as you get with any crime.  Delays can mean that victims lose confidence, which 

is common with domestic abuse.  If it takes a long time, they think the police are not taking it seriously and 

they move on with their lives, and sometimes our investigations do take a long time.  Sometimes we simply do 

struggle to get the evidence that we need to proceed with a prosecution.  I do not think it is lack of 

appreciation of the seriousness of hate crime.  The MPS has made huge strides in the last few years in relation 

to its officers’ understanding of the various categorisations of hate crime.  I would go as far as to say from my 

experiences around the UK, the MPS takes it as seriously, if not more seriously, than many other parts of the 

UK.  They are a series of difficult crimes to deal with. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  You mentioned the time taken and people dropping out because they lose confidence in the 

investigation.  One thing that the MPS has are hate crime liaison officers, and they used to be one per borough 

and now effectively these are done at the BCU level, so there are fewer of them, although some BCUs are 

putting in liaison officers for each borough.  How do you think that this is affecting things, and can anything 

be done to reprioritise those officers? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  There is always an understandable concern 

among partners and communities when they see titles change and restructuring.  I genuinely believe that 

moving from 32 boroughs to 12 BCUs gives us greater firepower.  If you combine that with the fact that we are 

increasing in numbers, then it does present a better model for delivering a service to the public and to the 

victims specifically.   

 

Part of the difficulty - and we do need to look at how we overcome this - is moving to the 12 safeguarding 

hubs within the BCUs is less clear for outside observers to see, “What are you actually dealing with?”  As you 

know, we are moving to a multidisciplinary approach where the officers working in the hubs across London will 

deal with a variety of safeguarding issues, as denoted by the name.  They will become multiskilled and 

multidisciplinary.  We have done that partly because there is such a crossover in so many of these crime types.  

It has made sense to do that because investigating simply by crime type is quite limiting and quite structurally 

divisive, really.  It is better to join it up and deal with the victim as a whole and to try to safeguard as a whole.  

We will bring more resources, more flexibility and more expertise to the problem with the new model than we 

did under the old model. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  We will probably ask some further questions about that, I would imagine, in writing.  We had 

some evidence from the groups who liaise with the liaison officers that they were not feeling that this was the 

case and that potentially local knowledge was being lost.  Maybe there is more liaison that can take place, I 

would suggest. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Over time we will be able to give that confidence 

to people that we are taking it seriously and that there are more assets.  This is a problem with restructuring.  It 

does drive some dislocation with partners and often that is more difficult to overcome with voluntary partners 

and groups than it is with, say, local councils.  We need to work at that.  I accept that.  I know BCU 

Commanders are doing that at a local level. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you.  One of the issues that was raised at the meeting was about the Disability Hate 

Crime Matters programme because there was quite a clear increase in reporting and work being done on 

Page 74



 

 
 

disability hate crime while this existed and then it dropped again afterwards.  It rose in 2016 and then went 

down again.  Can I ask why the Disability Hate Crime Matters programme was stopped?  It seems to have been 

quite effective. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Again, it is a valid question.  It was a pilot to look 

at the situation.  We learned some lessons from the pilot.  As a result of it, all call handlers are currently going 

through training, which should finish in September this year [2019].  In our three centres, 1,700 call handlers 

are receiving enhanced hate crime training.  We are currently developing a hate crime training package to 

deliver to all front-line staff and that will start in the next two months.  That is going to go out to thousands of 

officers across the MPS. 

 

We learned from the pilot that we were not good at identifying the vulnerabilities when people get in touch 

with us in the first instance.  We have to ask more questions and we have to be more victim-focused in relation 

to that.  That is what the training is about.  We have also realised that our responding officers do not always 

recognise when they see it and so we are now enhancing their training. 

 

As you know, the hate crime policy includes a number of mandatory actions around investigations, which 

include a checklist for all front-line officers to go through to make sure they are asking the right questions.  

Supervisors also have a guide to what they should be asking in relation to the situation and there are regular 

follow-ups in terms of the supervisory requirement to check up on how the investigation is going.  I know 

Waheed Khan [Superintendent, MPS] was here talking to you and he went through some of this in detail.  That 

training is underway for the Metropolitan Police Service Contact Centre (MetCC) and will start soon for the 

front line.  We believe that that will increase the reporting rate across the whole of London again. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  What you said just now in terms of the training is for all hate crimes in general?  What we 

heard was essentially that disability hate crime was a bit different and that people who were victims of it were 

the least likely to be aware that they were victims and that therefore the police training role was very 

important. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes, that is exactly my point.  Some of the 

checklist is to make sure that the officers are asking questions to identify the problem.  Even if the victim does 

not realise or has not consciously realised that they are a victim of disability hate crime, the checklist will flag 

that up to the officer. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is specific to disability hate crime? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Sorry, the training is not specific to it, but within 

the training that is what the checklists are designed to do. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, there are checklist items specific to disabilities? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is useful to know.  Thank you.  It seems like the Community Alliance to Combat Hate 

(CATCH) consortium, which we also talked about at the meeting, has had not exactly a cut in budget but has 

had the same budget that is now expected to cover a much wider area, ie everyone across London as opposed 

to the two original pilot boroughs.  What are your future plans for that?  Are you planning to boost its 

resources? 

Page 75



 

 
 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I do not think that is us. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  That is MOPAC. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  It is a MOPAC initiative, is it?  Sophie, the same question to you. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  That is OK.  You are right.  It has gone  

pan-London.  There was a pilot and now it has gone pan-London.  They have been contracted to do that until 

March 2020.  Our procurement rules mean that we will then have to put it out to tender because we cannot 

carry on just extending and extending.  We will probably start reviewing quite soon about how we can make 

sure that we get it out to tender and make sure there is not a gap in services.  We are aware that they have 

gone from a pilot of two boroughs to pan-London.  It is good and it means that people who are not just in 

those two boroughs can access them, but there is clearly an issue about capacity.  That is part of the review 

that will be undertaken. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  When we will know the results of that? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We aim to re-procure and get that in place by 

March 2020. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  We will follow up on that.  I have just one supplementary question, if that is OK, and it is to 

both of you.  We talked at the meeting about other factors that are prejudices and are not currently covered by 

the hate crime legislation.  There is a list of nine things in the Equality Act 2010 that are things that you can be 

discriminated against about.  Only five of those are in the hate crime legislation. 

 

There are other issues as well.  One thing that was talked about was the intersectionality of attacks on Muslim 

women.  Women are 58% of the victims of anti-Muslim hate crime are women and it seems like sexism is a 

major aggravating factor on top of the religious prejudice against these women. 

 

Another thing I have been looking at is the number of attacks on homeless people.  Homeless people are very 

often victims of crime, and it seems like in some of those cases prejudice against that person as a homeless 

person is part of the issue. 

 

The Law Commission has been asked and is doing a review of hate crime legislation.  It is looking at factors 

such as age and subcultures such as goths, who have been victims of clearly what is hate crime as well.  Issues 

such as the homelessness, which is a very London issue, and the intersectionality, the sexism and the 

misogynistic aspect of a lot of hate crime does not particularly seem to be included within the terms of 

reference. 

 

I want to ask both of you.  Are you compiling evidence and a response to the Law Commission review?  It is 

due to launch at the end of this year or the beginning of next year.  Will you be looking at factors that maybe 

London has greater insight into like these issues I have mentioned? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I am not aware at the moment whether or not we 

are working on a response.  I would be surprised if we are not asked to respond and, if we are asked to 

respond, we certainly would respond, yes.  I am sorry.  I do not know if we are at the moment. 

 

Page 76



 

 
 

Sian Berry AM:  The Law Commission is asking for people to respond in general and so I do not know if they 

would write to you -- 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I asked this question in preparation for this Police 

and Crime Committee.  The Law Commission has not yet called for evidence.  If it does call for evidence, we will 

have to look at what the -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  It is not out yet but it has flagged that it will. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  No, it has not yet asked for that.  The Law 

Commission in 2014 had a very similar review that looked at disability hate crime.  The Equality and Human 

Rights Commission (EHRC) has talked about disability, transgender and sexual orientation not being covered 

by the legal protections that you are talking about.  I would agree.  It does seem like it needs equal protection 

in the way that it is dealt with.  We will have to see what comes out of the Law Commission review. 

 

In terms of misogyny, as you know, we have discussed this here before.  Nottinghamshire [Police] did treat 

misogyny as a hate crime.  The evaluation of that was mixed and it has gone back to be looked at again.  We 

are waiting to see whether that has made a significant impact on the way that women are dealt with as victims.  

For me, that is the really crucial bit.  What I would be evaluating is whether it make an additional impact on top 

of the work that we are doing and the MPS is doing in terms of our strategy in tackling violence against 

women and girls because that is the crucial bit about how the support for the women who are victims of 

harassment is going to improve.  Our Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy is really strong on that at the 

moment. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK.  We will keep each other informed about responses to the review and hopefully the 

Committee can also feed in some information as well. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Fine.  Moving on to the next set of questions, which is around antisocial 

behaviour (ASB), and if I could ask you, Steve, to lead. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you very much.  We have moved on to my question really 

quickly, which shows the obvious improvement in chairmanship! 

 

Good morning both, Sir Stephen and Sophie.  I would like to turn the debate to ASB.  The outgoing Victims 

Commissioner recently published a report and I have to agree with the sentiments around ASB often being 

downplayed but causing misery and anxiety.  Victims feel unsafe and it can lead to activity around prostitution, 

begging, drugs, etc.  It has always been with us and will always be with us.  While violent crime clearly is the 

number one priority in London, it is important that ASB stays on the radar.  The Committee published a report 

at the beginning of last year2 around that with recommendations and I wanted to touch upon that. 

 

Initially to you, Deputy Mayor, one of the issues around it is that to take action, you have to gather 

information and gather data.  One of the issues around ASB is that while the MPS may be gathering its data 

around 101 calls - and we will get to that in a moment - there are local authorities, housing associations and 

others that are also being contacted around ASB.  This was picked out by our report. 

 

                                                 
2 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/respecting-others-tackling-antisocial-
behaviour-london 
 

Page 77

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/respecting-others-tackling-antisocial-behaviour-london
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/respecting-others-tackling-antisocial-behaviour-london


 

 
 

Is the true level of ASB being measured?  To you, Deputy Mayor, will MOPAC amend the way it collects ASB 

data in light of what I have just said? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I have written to you on this before and our 

position has not changed on this.  We do not have any plans at the moment to change the way that we 

monitor the data.  We use the reporting from the MPS on ASB and our plans are to continue to do so. 

 

One of the reasons behind that is that the way that data is gathered through housing associations, housing 

providers and local authorities is very different in each of the 32 boroughs.  I do not know how many housing 

providers there are in London.  There will, I am sure, be hundreds of housing providers.  For us, the most 

consistent way of monitoring the data is through the MPS reporting and that is what we plan to continue 

doing at the moment. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Surely by that admission you are missing a whole swathe of data 

about ASB on our estates that may be housing association estates or council estates that the MPS are not 

directly involved in because those really excellent teams from the councils may be dealing with that ASB.  As a 

result, the Mayor and you - and probably by sharing information with the MPS - will not have a true picture. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I should say from the outset that tackling ASB 

has been one of the things that I have focused on for many years.  I worked on the Anti-Social Behaviour Act, 

which brought in some really good powers in 2003 to ensure that you could close crack houses and have 

protection orders and the like.  I continued to do that when I was at Hackney. 

 

You will know and I know that ASB is not just a police matter.  When you look at the ASB that people are 

concerned about and are reporting, yes, it is around drug dealing and some of it is around criminal acts that 

then become matters for the MPS, but also, if you are a housing provider, a lot of the ASB that has been 

reported is, for example, when people are living below tenants who have taken the carpets up and there is a 

really disturbing and significant impact on people’s lives with very loud footsteps or children running around.  

That is not a matter for the MPS.  That is my scope as Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime. 

 

We have to be really clear about the parameters that MOPAC has.  What is the scope that MOPAC rightly has 

influence over and remit over?  ASB is very wide and my plans and my focus at the moment is on that which 

the MPS has scope and remit over.  That is why we continue to look at it through the crime reporting. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  You are reflecting that it does not necessarily reach the bar of 

breaking the law and hence it will not go to the MPS.  I will be talking to Sir Stephen a little bit later about the 

role of the local ward teams on that subject, but I will get back to you, Deputy Mayor, if I may. 

 

In our report and our work, we found support for a pan-London ASB board and we wrote about that in our 

recommendations.  Have there been any discussions with London Councils about re-establishing it, as 

highlighted by the Mayor last year? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We have had discussions with London Councils 

around that.  They have not got very far, I have to admit.  We believe that that responsibility is more for 

London Councils.  We have had those discussions.  There has not been much progress around that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  However, you will be looking at that and continuing the 

conversation? 

Page 78



 

 
 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We will continue to look at it, yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  OK.  Sir Stephen, I will pick up on that last point that I touched 

upon because, to me, very much the ward teams, particularly the Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) 

where there are those in the teams have an important role to play on the ground regarding ASB at any level, 

really.  Bearing in mind the Deputy Mayor’s comments, are your ward teams working closely with councils and 

housing associations around ASB? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I would say that if they are not we would be very 

disappointed.  That is part of the primary reason why they are there and how they work.  It is a partnership 

effort.  It is a  

problem-solving effort.  They have training in both of those disciplines and that is what we expect them to do, 

yes.  They would be the first port of call, yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Good.  That is reassuring.  If the ward panels were setting the 

priorities - or ‘P’ or whatever language they care to use at any given time - around ASB, would you expect 

those teams and the skippers of those teams to go away and work on that as a priority in their wards? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I would expect them to be reflecting what the 

BCU says are the local priorities.  If it is ASB and there is a join-up, that would be great.  They have to pay 

attention to the organisation’s views, but they also have to pay attention to partners’ views.  It is a difficult 

one.  You cannot have too many priorities - back to the earlier point - but if there is a convergence, then that 

should be their priority, yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  OK.  I will just put a marker there.  It is important that ward 

panels are encouraged and supported by their officers, which in the main they often are.  The whole point of 

those ward panels is to talk their officers - I know officers do not like the language of setting priorities - and to 

have conversations about local issues.  It would be important that those officers and sergeants take away that 

with some -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I agree entirely, yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Sometimes that does not happen.  All right, here we go.  What is 

next?  We are pleased that you accepted our recommendation - which is always a good thing - about ASB 

warning notice schemes being assessed in Tower Hamlets. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  How is that going?  What sort of progress have you seen around 

that and are you going to expand that, perhaps? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We are very happy with the way that worked.  

The figures I have show that of all those who received warnings, only 8% reoffended.  That is a pretty good 

return rate.  If we could replicate that across the whole of the capital, it would be good news.  There are plans 

to expand it.  We are currently trying it out in the Central North BCU as well.  If it is successful, I expect that it 

would be something we would move around the whole of London, yes. 

 

Page 79



 

 
 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  For the many thousands of the public listening to us, it is a 

warning letter prior to an antisocial behaviour order (ASBO) to say, “We know you are doing something that is 

upsetting.  You are doing these things.  Stop it.  Otherwise, you will get an ASBO”. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  It is like an acceptable behaviour contract. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It just shows that for the vast majority of people, 

a very early intervention at a very low level actually has an effect. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes, exactly.  That is good.  The Victims Commissioner for 

England and Wales - the outgoing one and perhaps the new one - has criticised the way ASB victims are 

supported in quite a strong manner.  That has been reflected in the recommendations of our report.  The 

language was quite strong language.  They were seen perhaps almost as second-class citizens in the victims’ 

hierarchy.  Are you both through your different offices reflecting on those thoughts of the [Victims] 

Commissioner? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I agree with Baroness Newlove’s [former Victims 

Commissioner of England and Wales] report.  Focusing on the impact that ASB can have on people is incredibly 

important.  She has had a very quick win.  She raised the issue of charging for 101, and the Government has 

now come out and said that from April 2020 that will be a free service.  I really welcome that as long as that 

does not impact on our budgets as well. 

 

In terms of victims of ASB, you will know that there is a very clear scope to the money that we get from the 

Ministry of Justice for victims and we cannot commission services for those people who are victims of ASB 

from that money.  I would welcome the Government widening the scope and increasing the investment so that 

we can commission services for victims of ASB because I know that it really does have an impact on people’s 

lives and wellbeing. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  That report and the recommendations are informing the work of 

your Victims Commissioner in our building. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, absolutely.  Not all of it is within our remit 

because there are recommendations about those that are providing services to victims and we are not direct 

service providers.  We commission it.  Those that are pertinent to us we are looking at. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you.  Lastly for me, going back to you, Stephen, is around 

the 101 service, which is something we have discussed here at some length over a period of time, and the issue 

about dropped calls.  ASB might be a particular crime or victim line that people may be more tempted not to 

persevere for seven, eight, nine or 10 minutes because they are bothered about it. 

 

Can you give us an update on the 101 service?  There is a narrative or an argument that when the service was 

in not such a good state, it could have reflected in the ASB figures.  In other words, dropped calls meant less 

reporting and so we all said there is less ASB.  Do you want to reflect on that potential debate at all, Stephen? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  There is a logic to that argument.  People might 

feel that maybe it is not that important if they hang on a long time, but the figures I have are very encouraging 

Page 80



 

 
 

around our call answering.  I know you are not asking about 999, but in January this year [2019] we answered 

emergency 999 calls in an average of 5.8 seconds and 101 calls in an average of 30 seconds.  Thirty seconds is 

a long time to hang on, but if you look around the country, 30 seconds is an extremely strong performance on 

101.  That would not put too many people off.  That is not a bad performance.  We are continuing to recruit 

people into our call centres and I would hope to see the figure improve further, but it is not too bad a figure. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thirty seconds clearly is not, but we have examples in the past 

when it was four, five or six minutes, which is completely unacceptable. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes, you have.  That is an average and there will 

still be at peak periods outliers, but there will also be quiet periods when it is even quicker than that.  The 

average is  

30 seconds.  That is pretty good.  It is a lot better than it was. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chairman):  OK.  No doubt the Committee will continue to look at that.   

 

Peter Whittle AM:  I just had one, Deputy Mayor.  You mentioned you are not going to change the way that 

you collect figures or the figures that you use.  Going back to Steve’s [O’Connell AM] original point, they come 

entirely from the MPS.  Is that right?  That would not include the British Transport Police, say? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  No, it is not the British Transport Police.  It is the 

MPS figures there on our dashboard. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Is there may be a case in the future for looking at including that.  I can understand in a 

way not going to local authorities and housing associations or, rather, I understand your reasoning for not, but 

so much ASB happens on public transport, you see. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I am really happy to talk to the British Transport 

Police and the City of London [Police] around what they regularly report on to see if that gives us a better 

picture of the ASB in London and to discuss that with TfL.  I am happy to look at that. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  It could be worth doing.  A lot of people experience it actually on public transport. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, I know.  I am happy to look at it. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Thank you. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  We are coming to the last set of questions and we will definitely be finished by 

12.00pm for you to go, Sir Stephen.  The last set of questions is on Independent Custody Visitors (ICVs).   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  As you know, Sophie, I have written to you about this as well.  Could I start off by 

asking how many visitors MOPAC currently has on its books and whether that is enough to provide cover for all 

the custody suites? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We have around 230 volunteers at the moment 

and it does cover all our custody suites. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  How often does MOPAC require visits to be made? 

Page 81



 

 
 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Sorry, I do not know if we have a baseline for the 

number of visits, but we certainly keep an eye on the number of visits through regular quarterly reporting for 

the ICVs and we are meeting our requirements in the number of ICVs and the number of visits that are taking 

place. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Looking at your outturn then, how many visits are taking place? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  There were 1,215 visits made to custody suites 

across London in 2018. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Do you have that broken down by custody suite? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I do not have that in front of me but I am sure 

we can give that to you. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  If we could have that, it would be helpful.  One of the concerns I have, as you know, is 

the delay in vetting.  The constituent I wrote to you about has been a visitor for 11 years.  She applied to 

renew her pass in March last year [2018].  Nothing happened.  I wrote you about it and you have obviously 

looked into it because she has now been told that the submission she put in in June 2018 to get vetted has 

now expired and she has been asked to do it all over again.  Here we are well over a year on and somebody still 

has not had their vetting completed. 

 

Perhaps I could ask Sir Stephen.  What is the average length for vetting and why are we getting such long 

delays for people who are volunteering their own time?  They do not get paid for it. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes.  I do not have detail of the average length 

of time.  Clearly, that situation is horrendous and not something to be proud of.  The situation we have is a 

result of good news, which is that we are recruiting so fast.  We are recruiting almost double the rate we were a 

few years ago.  That is police officers and I mentioned already that we are looking to increase staff in detention 

and staff in control rooms.  Analyst numbers are going up.  We are generally increasing the numbers of all of 

our people.  They all require vetting.  The priority for vetting goes to police officers and new recruits.  I am 

afraid that there is a pecking order for this and custody volunteers are further down the pecking order and so it 

is taking a long time to get them vetted.  We are also, without getting too complex, increasing the number of 

vetting staff by recruiting them to increase the numbers so that we can improve our vetting timescales.  We 

know it is a problem.  It is a problem for a number of different specialisms within the organisation, but that is 

the root cause.  I can get you some figures in due course on how long it takes on average. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  That would be helpful because, in Barnet, for example, now there are visits only on a 

fortnightly basis - before it was weekly - because there are simply not enough people to do it.  I am not sure 

how often security passes have to be reissued.  I think it is either five years or ten years.  Is it possible in those 

circumstances for passes to be continued and effectively extended until the vetting has happened?  That 

would be a way of getting around that particular problem if somebody said, “I am applying to have it renewed.  

Will you extend my existing one until the vetting is completed?” 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Here and now that seems a very sensible idea.  

My experience is that when you talk to the experts in these areas, there are lots of reasons why they cannot do 

Page 82



 

 
 

that, but I can certainly look at whether there are ways of extending people who are applying to have it 

renewed.  Can we extend it until it is --  

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Until they are either confirmed or not. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  The problem is the pecking order.  We will 

probably prioritise new ICVs above vetting those who are looking to renew. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  If you do that, you are potentially losing the experience. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I appreciate that. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  My suggestion is that you allow them to extend.  If it is taking six months, it is not 

such a big deal. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I accept your point. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I would be interested to know how many people fail their vetting on renewal because I 

suspect it is probably a very small number anyway. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It may be a small number but people’s 

circumstances do change. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I accept that, but if we are looking at a risk analysis here, if you have - however many 

it is - 230 people however often they have to renew and you have only one or two who are disbarred for some 

reason or another, it is a relatively low risk if you are talking about a six-month extension or something.  

Perhaps we could know how many people are refused on reapplication as well. That would be helpful. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I do discuss vetting with Helen Ball [QPM, 

Assistant Commissioner, MPS] and, as the Deputy Commissioner says, there is a big increase in the number of 

people who need vetting.  In terms of ICVs, there are 18 in the vetting process at the moment.  Three are new 

and there are 15 renewals.  While I do absolutely accept that we have an issue with the particular constituents 

in Barnet, we have over 200 volunteers still working.  It is 18 that we are talking about that have an issue and 

they are making their way through vetting. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Yes, but that would be a rolling number. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, but that is snapshot at the moment.  That is 

the number we are talking about that are in the vetting process.  It is 18 and we have nearly 230. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Yes, as I said, it is a rolling programme.  You have 18 now but, clearly, you will have 

another 18, and then another 18. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We do have an issue, yes. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Bearing in mind the importance of the role and people are giving up their time for 

free, it is a bit much if we are not respecting that. 

 

Page 83



 

 
 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Absolutely. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  More widely on vetting, Stephen, if you are talking about the amount of vetting you 

have to do and how long it takes, is that impacting on recruitment?  If people have to wait months to be 

cleared, they may often go off and get another job. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  That is why we are fast-tracking the new recruits.  

We are very aware that we are in a competitive market.  The unemployment rate in London is 2% or lower and 

so it is a very competitive market.  We have opened recruiting out across the whole of the UK - in fact the 

European Union for the time being - and so we are prioritising new recruits above all else to try to push them 

through as fast as we can. 

 

I know it is an easy thing to say, “Just speed it up”, but when people have lived abroad for a significant period 

of time or actually live in a foreign country, we have to be very careful about the vetting.  There are a number 

of things we have to look at and so it can take time, but that is what is prioritised: cops first and then other 

people below that. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  No one objects to the fact that people have to be vetted and vetted properly and 

there will be people who are outliers who are applying from abroad, but a lot of people will be applying from 

here.  What is the average time to get bog standard vetting through? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I do not have that.  I can write you about all 

these things.  I do not have that detail at the moment. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  That would be helpful.  Could I just ask Sophie while we are on this general subject 

about appropriate adult schemes?  We have raised this with you before, last September [2018], and in April 

[2019] MOPAC announced that MOPAC and the NHS are going to provide funding to launch an appropriate 

adult scheme.  I am just wondering where that got to. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  It was an appropriate adult protocol.  We 

received a grant from the NHS.  There is about £40,000 per year for each local authority.  You will know that 

appropriate adults are not the responsibility of MOPAC to deliver.  The local authorities if they sign up to and 

meet the key tests that are part of the decision around being available for both children and adults and being a 

member of the National Appropriate Adult Network being a key test, they can apply for some of the funds that 

are available. 

 

I have not had anything back since April [2019] as to how that is going.  I will give it a few months and we will 

assess and look at it after that to see if it has improved the situation. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  If we could have an update for the summer? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, I am very happy to.  That was signed on 

16 April and so it is early days. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  After for three months -- 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  It is an important step forward.  The NHS, the 

MPS and MOPAC really tried to make sure there was progress in terms of the provision of appropriate adults. 

Page 84



 

 
 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  The National Appropriate Adult Network found that not just in London but across 

England and Wales there were 100,000 vulnerable adults interviewed without an appropriate adult present, 

which is just unacceptable. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I know.  It is.  It would be unacceptable. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Do we have figures for how many were in London? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I do not have those figures, no, right in front of 

me.  We would have to look at that. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  If we could have that as well, it would be helpful. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  OK.  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  When you are giving some of this data on vetting, could you also provide how 

we compare to other forces?  Am I right in thinking that if you have to apply for a Disclosure and Barring 

Service (DBS) certificate, you can apply through any force in the country?  Is that right or do you have to apply 

through your local force?  My memory is that places like Scotland process things a lot faster than the MPS in 

this area.  What are they doing that is so different?  What resources do they have?  Are we looking?  This has 

been a problem for several years and it stops people getting employment, for example, working with children in 

nurseries and working as nannies.  It has been an issue.  I do not know how we compare to other forces and 

whether you could perhaps provide that information. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  You are talking about general vetting now.  You 

are not talking about vetting for people to join the MPS. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Wider vetting, sorry. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  OK.  I do not have any information on it.  I do 

not know what the issues are.  It has not been quoted to me as a significant problem recently and I know it has 

been in the past.  I would need to look at it. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is all vetting, is it not?  I know that it is different levels of vetting, but still. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It is not.  To come into the police service is very 

different. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, I accept that. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We are checking a wide range of issues in terms 

of financial background, criminal background, criminal associations, etc. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, I understand that it is a different level.  Perhaps we could just have the 

wider as well as the specific for this because it has been an issue that has come up in the past. 

Page 85



 

 
 

 

I wanted to ask the Deputy Mayor around the issue of ICVs.  You have closed a number of custody suites in 

London.  There is a huge pool of volunteers there, some of whom are also appropriate adults and do other 

volunteering roles.  What have you done as MOPAC to try to keep those volunteers volunteering in a similar 

role at another custody suite or in some of the other roles that there are? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  MOPAC has regular contact with the ICVs and 

does training for ICVs.  As far as I am aware, the changes to any of the custody suites have not impacted on 

the number of people who are willing to be ICVs.  I can go back and check whether it has meant that some 

people have fallen out of being ICVs.  We do encourage people to be part of the volunteers across the board 

not just around ICVs but Safer Neighbourhood Boards as well and also within in the Community Monitoring 

Groups.  I am not aware that any of the changes to custody suites have led to people falling out, but I would 

need to check that.  I would caveat that.  It has not been raised with me. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes.  It is not just whether they fall out.  It is what you have done proactively 

with these highly skilled volunteers to see if they want to.  I happen to know someone in Sutton who said, “I 

am not going to travel to Croydon”, but is there something there that you can link them in with, as you say, 

the Safer Neighbourhood Boards, the panels or any other -- 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, we will always be encouraging them.  I 

would have to go back and check what we have done for individuals.  I do not have that.  That has not been 

raised with me. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It would be useful to understand what that support package is also for ICVs 

because they are volunteers. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes.  It is really important that we do, as you 

have, absolutely recognise that ICVs are volunteers and that we are really grateful and thankful for the work 

that they do.  They are having an impact.  It is not just the number of custody suites that they are visiting.  In 

terms of the detainees that they talk to and interview, there were nearly 4,000 detainees interviewed by ICVs 

last year.  They have had an impact.  They were part of the campaign to ensure that those women who are in 

custody get the right sanitary protection and the right support around that.  It is really important work that 

they have done nationally as well.  From the reports that come back, they do have an impact on what happens 

and they are looked at by custody sergeants as well.  It is important work that they are doing and we are very 

grateful for that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Chair, can I mention just for the accuracy of the 

minutes - and I know you know this - that you said that the Mayor had closed some custody centres?  The 

Mayor did not close any custody centres.  The Commissioner [of Police of the Metropolis] took that decision.  

That is just for accuracy in the minutes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  They have been closed. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  They have been closed, yes.  That is because our 

prisoner arrest rate is 50% less than it was ten years ago. 

 

Page 86



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, I understand the reasons why. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Apart from big demonstrations. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  There is the occasional blip. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Chair):  Can I thank you both for your attendance today and also for you answers to our 

questions?  I hope today goes off peacefully. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Thank you. 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 88



                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  
 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 3 July 2019 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out for noting actions arising from previous meetings of the Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed, ongoing and closed actions arising from 

previous meetings of the Committee, as listed in the report. 

 

 

Meeting of 4 June 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

8. 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS)  

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Provide the full costs of policing the visit of the 

President of the United States; 

 Provide the full costs proceeding against those 

arrested in connection with the Extinction 

Rebellion protests;  

 Provide the average time for the vetting 

process for Independent Custody Visitors; 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont … 

Page 89

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
 Provide the average time for the vetting 

process in general; 

 Look into whether it would be possible to 

extend term for Independent Custody Visitors 

who were going through the renewal process; 

and 

 Provide the number of vulnerable adults/ 
children interviewed without an appropriate 
adult present in 2018. 

 

  

 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to: 

 To consider the way violence data was shown 

on the Crime Dashboard and include an 

explanation about the data; 

 To discuss with the British Transport Police 

whether it would be possible to include their 

figures for Antisocial Behaviour on public 

transport on the Crime Dashboard; 

 To provide the number of Independent 

Custody Visitor visits by custody suite; and 

 To provide information on what MOPAC had 

done to support people who wanted to be 

Independent Custody Visitors but their usual 

custody suite had closed and provide the figure 

for how many Independent Custody Visitors 

had given up their role as a result of the 

closure of their usual custody suite. 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

MOPAC 

 The Committee agreed that its meeting slot on 

19 June 2019 would be used for a site visit to 

support the Committee’s scrutiny review of rape 

and sexual violence and it delegated authority to 

the Chair, in consultation with party Group lead 

members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree 

the arrangements for the site visit. 

 

Completed – see 

report at Agenda 

Item 6. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

 

Meeting of 23 May 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. 

 

 

 

Hate Crime  

 

 The Policy and Campaigns Officer, Inclusion 

London, agreed to provide comments on 

whether housing providers had a role to help 

disabled people who were being exploited by 

gangs;  

 The Head of Hate Crime Services, Galop, 

agreed to share Galop’s proposal to the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, which 

included different options to scale up CATCH; 

 The Superintendent, MPS, agreed to: 

-  Provide Comparative figures for 

satisfaction rates for victims of hate for 

the way in which the MPS had dealt with 

the hate crime perpetrated against them as 

compared to victim satisfaction rates in 

other police forces; 

-  Confirm the number of online hate crimes 

that had been identified and recorded by 

the Central Hate Crime Hub since its 

establishment in April 2017;  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed.  It was 

not possible to 

provide 

comparative 

figures. 

 

 

Completed.  Since 

April 2017 to 

1 May 2019, 1652 

online hate crimes 

have been 

identified and 

recorded by the 

Central hate crime 

hub (who review 

every flagged hate 

crime daily both on 

and offline 

matters). These 

relate to just cases 

that have an online 

hate element and 

are not related to 

“off-line” hate 

matters. 

 

 

 

Inclusion London 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont … 

 

Page 91



 

 

 
- Provide any statistics or achievements in 

relation to removing posts on websites 

which incited hate crime and comment on 

the speed with which those links and 

websites were taken down and from which 

platforms; and 

- Provide in due course the new risk 

assessment procedure being developed to 

help frontline officers deal with hate crime. 

 

In progress. 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 The Committee delegated authority to the Chair 

of the Committee, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE 

AM, to agree any output from the discussion. 

 

In progress Senior Policy Adviser 

 

 

Meeting of 14 May 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

8. 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS)  

 

  

 During the course of the discussion, the 

Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis 

undertook to:  

 Provide in relation to the policing of the 

Extinction Rebellion, information on the 

number of arrests, reasons for the arrests, 

numbers charged (initial and actual), 

charges dropped and proceeded with, and 

the number of complaints received about 

police conduct;  

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 19 June 

2019. 

  

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont … 

Page 92



 

 

 
 Provide details of the process each detainee 

went through in custody In relation to the 

policing of the Extinction Rebellion; 

 Look into issues relating to the battery life 

of Body Worn Video; 

 Provide the action plan for providing digital 

forensic equipment and training on child 

protection for police officers in Basic 

Command Units, together with the timescale 

for that; 

 Discuss best practice regarding missing 

children with the British Transport Police;  

 Provide examples of materials and guidance 

provided to schools to raise awareness of 

hate crime; 

 Provide separate data on motivated versus 

aggravated hate crime; and 

 Provide the review of the Online Hate Crime 

Hub and lessons learned.  

 

  

 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to update 

the Committee on progress to ensure there were 

sufficient appropriate adults for children and 

vulnerable adults in custody. 

 

In progress MOPAC 

 

 

Meeting of 30 April 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

7. 

 

London Violence Reduction Unit 

 

  

 During the course of the discussion, the Director 

of the Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) undertook 

to: 

 Urge Chelsea and Westminster Hospital to 

share anonymised data relating to injuries 

from violence to persons who presented at 

their accident and emergency department; 

 

Completed – see 

letter attached at 

Appendix 1.  The 

supplementary 

information has 

been circulated to 

Members. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont … 

Page 93



 

 

 
 Consider how families and victims of 

violence could support anti-knife crime 

strategies as ambassadors, using the lessons 

learned about the limited impact of the 

Mayor’s modern slavery ambassadors; 

  

 
 Provide a list of local authorities and groups 

of local authorities where they were 

establishing local violence reduction units or 

the equivalent to adopt a public health 

approach to tackling violence; 

 Provide existing examples of multi-agency 

working, through which a public health 

approach to tackle violence was being used; 

and 

 Once they had been agreed, to share the 
key performance indicators for the VRU with 
the Committee. 

 

  

 Authority was delegated to the Chair of the 

Committee in consultation with the Deputy Chair, 

party Group Lead Members and Caroline 

Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output from the 

discussion. 

 

Completed. There 

will be no output 

from the 

discussion. 

 

 

 

Meeting of 6 March 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS)  

 

  

 A briefing will be arranged with MOPAC and MPS 

on Community engagement. 

 

Completed.  See 

the Work 

Programme report 

at Agenda 

Item 8. 

 

 

Page 94



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to provide: 

 Up to date figures for domestic homicides, 

and an explanation of any changes in the 

classification in relation to the figures; 

 Updates on Operation Dauntless Plus and 

Operation Athena, which were tackling 

domestic abuse;  

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 19 June 

2019. 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

  Figures on the MPS’s use of “Right to 

Know” under Clare’s Law; and 

 An explanation of the differences in the 

process at a local level for recording and 

investigating allegations of domestic abuse 

and then closing those cases when there are 

no further lines and screening out alleged 

crimes. 

 

  

 In addition, the Deputy Commissioner was 

requested to respond to the following questions: 

 

EU Exit 

 Is the MPS fully prepared for any additional 

operational pressures resulting from the 

UK’s exit from the Europe Union? 

 What preparations have been made in 
terms of abstractions, cancellation of rest 
days, and mutual aid? 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont … 

Page 95



 

 

 
 Where does EU Exit sit on the MPS’s risk 

register?  

 In July 2018, HM Inspectorate of 

Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services 

released a report called ‘Understanding the 

Difference’ which was about police forces 

response to hate crime.  The report stated:  

‘We have shown in our report that incidents 

of hate crime ‘spike’ after national events. 

So there is a real possibility that there will be 

a similar increase in reports in 2019 if, as is 

anticipated by the government, the United 

Kingdom formally leaves the European 

Union. Police forces should prepare for this 

eventuality and make sure that the 

recommendations in this report are used in 

the future to improve the police response to 

hate crime victims.’ 

 Do you share the concerns of the 

Inspectorate that there is a real risk of a rise 

in hate crime and if so, what are you doing 

to prepare for this?  

  

 
 What are the contingencies which are in 

place to replace these EU tools?  Is the MPS 

satisfied that it can operate effectively 

under these arrangements? 

 Have MPS officers been trained to use these 

new contingency procedures?   

  

 
The Met’s ‘PartnershipPlus’ scheme 

 You have set out details of a new scheme, 

the PartnershipPlus scheme, to replace the 

current Met PatrolPlus scheme. Why have 

you chosen this new scheme and what other 

options were considered? 

 One of the reasons given for the review of 

the scheme is the pressures on borough 

budgets. Has there been evidence of 

boroughs pulling out of the current scheme 

on financial grounds? 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont … 

 

Page 96



 

 

 
 How many officers will be affected by 

changes to the scheme? 

 Prior to this announcement the Mayor said 

that officers coming to the end of Met 

Patrol Plus contracts would be reallocated 

to duties within the Basic Command Unit.  Is 

that going to be the case for officers who 

do not transfer over to the new scheme? 

 Where Met Patrol Plus officers do not 

continue under the new scheme, will they 

be retained in the BCU in which they 

currently operate? 

 How many boroughs have registered an 

interest in the new scheme? 

 

  

 

 

Meeting of 12 February 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

4. 

 

 

 

 

 

Safer Neighbourhood Boards and Ward 

Panels 

 

The Committee agreed to delegate authority to 

the Chairman, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to 

agree any output from the discussion. 

 

 

 

 

In progress  

 

 

 

 

Senior Policy Adviser 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



 

 

Meeting of 6 February 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Share calendar-year data for the sanction 

detection rates for murder in London;  

 Provide the number of police officers who had 

received unconscious bias training and update 

the Committee on the impact of that training; 

 Provide the percentage of complaints that had 

been withdrawn after seeing body-worn videos; 

 Provide the number of complaints that were 

being upheld after the viewing of body-worn 

video, compared to those that were upheld 

before its introduction; and 

 Provide an update on any progress since the 

MPS tested predictive crime mapping software 

in 2016. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 19 June 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 23 January 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

4. 

 

 

 

 

 

Stop and Search 

 

The Committee agreed to delegate authority to 

the Chairman, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to 

agree any output from the discussion.  

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

Senior Policy Adviser 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



 

 

Meeting of 10 January 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Update the Committee on the outcome of the 

Crown Prosecution Service examinations into 

three test cases related to demonstrations 

outside Parliament in the run up to the exit 

from the European Union;   

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 19 June 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Brief the Committee in due course on the 

MPS’s examination of the use of “released 

under investigation” and bail measures, in the 

context of recent legislation;  

 Confirm the number of detectives currently 

employed by the MPS; 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Confirm whether the Equality Impact 

Assessment on the Gangs Matrix has been 

completed and if not, when it will be expected 

to be completed; 

 Inform the Committee about how the mental 

health investigation teams were helping 

frontline police officers deal with demand 

arising from persons with mental health issues; 

and 

 Confirm with the Committee the procedures for 

collecting data about sexual harassment within 

the MPS.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont … 

 

Page 99



 

 

7 Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the 

Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to make 

arrangements for site visits to the Metropolitan 

Police Marine Policing Unit and a police custody 

suite. 

 

 

 

 

In progress. 

 

 

 

Senior Committee 

Officer 

 

 

Meeting of 29 November 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the 

Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis and 

Assistant Commissioner, MPS, undertook to 

provide the materials that the MPS provided to 

schools to educate young people about their 

rights in relation to stop and searches both under 

section 1 of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 

1984 and section 60 of the Criminal Justice and 

Public Order Act 1994. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Partially 

completed: the 

PACE part has 

been answered 

through a response 

to a Mayor’s 

Question. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 100



 

 

Meeting of 31 October 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

7. Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to make arrangements 

for site visits to Metropolitan Police Service Basic 

Command Units (BCU).  

 

 

 

 

Completed.  The 

Committee 

undertook a site 

visit to the Central 

South BCU on 

19 June 2019.  See 

report at Agenda 

Item 6. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 4 October 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and the Metropolitan Police 

Service (MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner undertook to provide: 

 An estimate, when available, of the cost of 

running the Airwave contract and the delayed 

Emergency Services Network (ESN) contract 

simultaneously, as part of a phased 

implementation of ESN; and 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

was made on 

19 June 2019. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 
 Findings, when available, for the reasons in the 

increase in 999 calls both nationally and in 

London. 

  

 The Committee also requested a response to the 

following question on antisocial behaviour: 

 

What progress has there been in assessing the 

Antisocial Behaviour Warning Notice Scheme in 

Tower Hamlets and piloting it in the Central North 

area? 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 

 

Meeting of 5 September 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Metropolitan Police  

 

During the course of the discussion the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to: 

 Inform the Committee of the anticipated 

savings from the disposals of police stations 

and police front counters during this financial 

year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 

20 May 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MOPAC 

 

 

 

 

 During the course of the discussion the 

Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis 

undertook to: 

 Confirm the number of police officers who 

had to go to hospital because they were spat 

at or bitten during the Notting Hill Carnival; 

and 

 Provide a briefing on the evaluation of the 

pilot of the use of spit guards in custody 

suites. 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on  

19 June 2019. 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 4 July 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Metropolitan Police  

 

During the course of the discussion, the 

Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), 

undertook to provide: 

 Information in respect of the number of 

people detained as a result of the automated 

facial recognition pilot; 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 19 June 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



 

 

  Confirmation of whether Transport for 
London’s cameras at Stratford Station were 
used in the automated facial recognition pilot; 

 Confirmation as to whether the MPS shared 

any intelligence with South Wales Police to 

help them compile their watchlist around 

organised crime groups linked to music 

festivals. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 6 June 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Metropolitan Police  

 

During the course of the discussion, the Assistant 

Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), 

undertook to provide: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 
 An update on the length of time the MPS was 

taking to examine forensically material relating 

to child exploitation cases; and 

 The number of times the MPS had applied for 

extensions of police bail in the last year, and 

how many individuals this accounted for. 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 19 June 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



 

 

Meeting of 15 May 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and 

Metropolitan Police Service 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Assistant 

Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), 

undertook to provide: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 
 Information about how the MPS ensures that it 

communicated with individuals, as well as 

community groups, in order to build the 

intelligence picture when it deployed the 

Violent Crime Task Force to an area; 

In progress - a 

follow up request 

was made on 

19 June 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

  Confirmation of how many trials concerning 

rape and serious sexual assault had been 

abandoned in the last year;  

 Confirmation of how many rape and serious 

sexual assault cases where a decision still 

needed to be made as whether to abandon the 

trial or not; 

 Confirmation of how many harassment and 

how many fraud cases had been reviewed; 

 Confirmation as to whether any of the 

harassment and fraud cases, which had been 

reviewed for disclosure, had been abandoned 

as a result and how many decisions remained to 

be taken; and 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Information about the ways new recruits were 

assessed to ensure that officers are suitable to 

work with London’s diverse communities. 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

Page 104



 

 
Complaints about the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 
(DMPC) 

 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

Deadline, 

if 

applicable  

Complaints about the Mayor's 

Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Deputy Mayor for Policing and  

Crime (DMPC) 

   

The Committee agreed, inter alia, to 

delegate to the Monitoring Officer all of 

the powers and functions conferred on 

it by the Elected Local Policing Bodies 

(Complaints and Misconduct) 

Regulations, with the exception of the 

functions set out at Part 4 of the 

Regulations which may not be 

delegated; and guidance on the 

handling of complaints which requires 

the Monitoring Officer to report, on a 

regular basis, the summary details (such 

as can be reported in public), on the 

exercise of any and all of these 

functions to the Committee for 

monitoring purposes. 

 

 

In the Monitoring Officer’s 

update to the Police and 

Crime Committee on 14 May 

2019, she noted that she 

had received a complaint 

about the Deputy Mayor for 

Policing and Crime. This 

matter has now been 

satisfactorily resolved 

informally in accordance with 

the Authority’s guidance. The 

Monitoring Officer has 

updated the MOPAC 

complaints register in 

accordance with the 

Authority’s guidance and 

both the complainant and 

Deputy Mayor have been 

made aware of this 

 

Monitoring 

Officer 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Transparency Procedure    

The Committee agreed Members 

disclose to the Executive Director of 

Secretariat or his nominated 

representative (within 28 days of 

the contact) details of any significant 

contact with the MPS and/or MOPAC 

which they consider to be relevant to 

the work of the Committee; and such 

disclosures be reported to the next 

meeting of the Committee. 

 

No disclosures to report for 

the period from  

23 May 2019 to 24 June 

2019. 

 

 

Executive 

Director of 

Secretariat 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 105



 

 

3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1   The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

 

Appendix 1 – Letter from the Director of the Violence Reduction Unit to the Chair dated 13 June 2019. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer  

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

  
 

 

 
 
 

Page 106

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


 

 
Tel  0207 983 6532 -  EMAIL enqui ries@gla. london.gov .uk 

 
CITY HALL, THE QUEEN’S W ALK, LONDON, SE1 2AA  

 
 
 
 
Unmesh Desai AM 
Unmesh.desi@london.gov.uk 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

13 June 2019  
 
 
 

Dear Unmesh, 
 
Thank you for your letter of 14 May following my attendance at the Police and Crime 
Committee in April. 
 
As you will recall we met prior to the Partnership Reference Group (PRG) meeting on 1 
May at which the draft work programme for the Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) was 
considered. I’m pleased that the direction of travel, as set out in the papers presented, 
received support from the PRG. We are now moving forward in developing an action plan 
which will add further detail aligned against the VRU’s strategic aims and objectives. 
 
London’s VRU will reflect the capital’s distinctive needs and aspirations, informed by 
models in Glasgow, New York and Chicago. Our current priorities have been shaped 
through engagement with communities and key partners and are informed by a 
‘contextual safeguarding’ approach. This approach translates into the child’s journey 
through life with each young person’s interaction with different levels of society 
expanding as they grow older. As they move from the home into the community, there are 
a broader range of influences and experiences which can impact on them. For most 
children growing up in London, these experiences reflect the fantastic range of culture, 
diversity and opportunity available. But for some, there are more challenging or 
problematic experiences. 

 
Our work programme will be shaped around intervention and activity that reflects and is 
relevant to a young person’s journey through life. We have started with the individual, 
families and home, broadening to include peers and friends, to playing a part within 
communities and neighbourhoods, interacting with more institutions and systems, and 
having a greater understanding of the city and place, and finally addressing national and 
international influences.  
 
The VRU is all about partnership and the intense engagement with partners and 
stakeholders over the last six months has been hugely beneficial to enable us to get to this 
point. As you know the VRU has three strategic aims: 

Appendix 1

Page 107

file:///C:/Users/NZaman/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/6P02ZB7B/Unmesh.desi@london.gov.uk


 

  
Tel  0207 983 6532 -  EMAIL enqui ries@gla. london.gov .uk 

 
CITY HALL, THE QUEEN’S W ALK, LONDON, SE1 2AA  

 

 

• Stabilising and reducing violence across London 

• Empowering Londoners to stay safe, united and inclusive 

• Aligning attitudes and perceptions of violence with reality 
 
And sitting underneath this are 8 objectives where activity will be focused. These are: 
 

1) Supporting individuals to be more resilient  
2) Supporting stronger families 
3) Young people leading change 
4) Enabling local communities to be strong safe and resilient 
5) Keeping schools safe, keeping young people in school and improving 

alternatives 
6) Giving young people every chance to succeed 
7) Keeping young people safe in public areas and encourage greater activity 

during holidays 
8) Changing the message around violence  

 
Furthermore, the local delivery model has been refined following the practitioner 
workshops, community involvement planning meetings, input from Chief Executives of 
London Councils, and feedback from the voluntary and community sector. The model no 
longer focuses on a six hub, sub-regional approach but instead on a more hyper-local, 
place-based approach. This allows for a deeper understanding of, and investment in, 
particular areas of London which are either experiencing significant increases in violence 
(in which case we want to invest in community-led, innovative solutions) or decreases in 
violence (in which case we want to learn from the activity and share that with other areas). 
This means that in the first instance the VRU’s delivery will focus on priority areas of 
London and not cover all of London.  
 
We are now focusing efforts on developing a commissioning framework, a performance 
framework and an equalities impact assessment. We have also commissioned two pieces of 
research that will help inform the establishment of the Violence Reduction Unit. Firstly a 
review of serious incidents of violence (as set out in Domestic Homicide Reviews, 
Independent Investigation Reports, Serious Case Reviews and Safeguarding Adult Reviews 
and a strategic needs assessment of violence in London, looking at available data and 
published literature. This will aim to understand the landscape in London in relation to 
violence and local responses. 
 
These important pieces of work will be critical to ensuring the resources and focus is 
directed to both the areas and initiatives where we can be confident in having the greatest 
impact and outcomes. 
 
Turning to your specific points, The Mayor of London wrote to the Chelsea and 
Westminster Trust on 7 February urging them to participate in the London Information 
Sharing to Tackle Violence programme (ISTV), and received a positive response which I’m 
attaching for your information. ISTV is a crucial programme of work and hospitals are 
engaging well and all Emergency departments are submitting data to the programme. 
 
In terms of boroughs who are developing public health approaches, we are working on 
creating a more detailed picture on each borough in the coming months, however 
attached is some information on the work we are already aware of. 
 

Page 108



 

  
Tel  0207 983 6532 -  EMAIL enqui ries@gla. london.gov .uk 

 
CITY HALL, THE QUEEN’S W ALK, LONDON, SE1 2AA  

 

We are currently exploring ways in which to develop the online presence of the VRU and 
to use the website as an area for promoting best practice and sharing these with partners 
and stakeholders, including examples on effective multi-agency working.  
 
Thank you for drawing my attention to the Mayor’s modern slavery ambassadors work and 
I will certainly look at building in best practice here in our work with young people and 
families affected by serious violence. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Lib Peck 
Director, Violence Reduction Unit 

 
 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 110



 

                                                                                                                                    

 

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 
 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 3 July 2019  

This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report outlines recent action taken by the Chair of the Police and Crime Committee in 

accordance with the delegated authority granted to him by the Police and Crime Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chair of the Police and Crime 

Committee under delegated authority, following consultation with the party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to: 

(a) Agree the scope and terms of reference for the Committee’s scrutiny investigation 

of sexual offences and rape; and 

(b) Agree the arrangements for the Committee’s site visit to the Central South Basic 

Command Unit. 

 

2.2 That the Committee notes the summary of the site visit to Brixton Police Station on 

19 June 2019, as set out in paragraphs 4.2 to 4.4 of the report. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1 At its meeting on 8 April 2019, the GLA Oversight Committee agreed that this Committee would 

undertake a scrutiny investigation on sexual offences and rape.  At its meeting on 14 May 2019, the 

Committee agreed: 

 

 That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chairman, to agree the 

scope and terms of reference for the Committee’s scrutiny reviews of hate crime and sexual offences 

and rape. 

 

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 6



        

3.2 Following that meeting, the Chair consulted with the Deputy Chairman and party Group Lead 

Members, about the scope and terms of reference of the scrutiny investigation.   

 

3.3 At its meeting on 4 June 2019, the Committee resolved:  

 

 That the Committee’s meeting slot on 19 June 2019 be used for a site visit to support the 

Committee’s scrutiny review of rape and sexual violence and that authority be delegated to the Chair, 

in consultation with party Group lead members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree the 

arrangements for the site visit. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

 Scrutiny investigation into sexual offences and rape 

4.1 The Chair agreed that the Committee would undertake a short investigation into sexual offences and 

rape, which will allow the Committee to examine whether progress is being made on some the issues 

it has explored recently on this topic: including the introduction of Basic Command Units (BCU) and 

the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime’s (MOPAC) response to the needs of victims.  The terms of 

reference for the investigation are: 

 To examine how the introduction of Basic Command Units has affected the Met’s response to 

rape and other sexual offences. 

 To assess the Mayor’s progress in delivering on his commitments to support victims of rape 

and other sexual offences. 

 

 Site Visit to Brixton Police Station  

4.2 A part of the scrutiny investigation into sexual offences and rape, the Committee agreed to use its 

meeting slot on 19 June for a site visit to support the investigation.  Following consultation with the 

party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, the Chairman agreed the arrangements 

for the Committee’s visit to the Metropolitan Police Service Central South Basic Command Unit at 

Brixton Police Station on 19 June 2019. 

  
 The following Members attended the visit: 

 Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair) 

Steve O’Connell AM (Deputy Chair) 

 Tony Arbour AM 

 Sian Berry AM 

 Florence Eshalomi AM 

 Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

 Peter Whittle AM 

 

4.3 The purpose of the visit was for Members to examine how the introduction of Basic Command Units 

has affected the MPS’s response to rape and other sexual offences.  Members were met by 

representatives of the MPS who briefed Members on the changes around the investigation of sexual 

offences and rape since the introduction of the BCU model and gave Members an overview of recent 

performance data.  Members also had an opportunity to hear from officers holding different roles in 

the BCU related to tackling sexual offences and rape.   

 

Page 112



        

4.4 The Committee has previously undertaken scrutiny reviews of child sexual exploitation and has 

continued to take an interest in the MPS’s work to tackle child sexual exploitation.  Members 

received a short overview of the BCU’s work to tackle Child Sexual Exploitation.  

 

 

5. Legal Implications 

 

5.1  The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: Member Delegated Authority forms: 1067a (Scoping and terms of reference for 

scrutiny investigation into sexual offences and rape); and 1073 (arrangements for the site visit to Central 

South BCU). 

 

Contact Officer: Teresa young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 113

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 114



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Question and Answer Session with the 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and the 
Metropolitan Police Service  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 3 July 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report serves as a background paper to the monthly question and answer session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) and the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS).  

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the monthly report from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and 

Crime, attached at Appendix 1 to the report, as background to the question and answer 

session with the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police 

Service.    

 

2.2 That the Committee the answers given by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and 

the Metropolitan Police Service to the questions asked by Members. 

 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee has agreed that it will hold monthly question and answer sessions with the         

Head of MOPAC and invite representation from the MPS.   

 

3.2 MOPAC produces a monthly report providing an update on policing operational and financial 

performance, as well as the activities and decisions of MOPAC.  The report is used to inform 

questions to MOPAC and the MPS at monthly question and answer sessions.  The latest report is 

attached at Appendix 1. 
 

Page 115

Agenda Item 7



        

4. Issues for Consideration 

 

4.1 Sophie Linden, the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime, will be joined by Mark Simmons, Assistant 

Commissioner, MPS, to answer questions on the following topics: 

 Sexual offences and rape; 

 Automatic facial recognition;  

 Crime levels; 

 Women offenders; and 

 MPS Annual Accounts 2018/19. 

 

  

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

Appendix 1 – MOPAC Monthly report 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

 

Contact Officer: Janette Roker, Senior Policy Adviser 

Telephone: 020 7983 6562 

E-mail: janette.roker@london.gov.uk 
 

Page 116

mailto:janette.roker@london.gov.uk


   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report to the Police and Crime Committee 
 

 
Wednesday 3 July 2019 
10am 
City Hall 
 
 
Sophie Linden  
Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 
 
 

Appendix 1

Page 117



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 3 July 2019  

 

1 INTRODUCTION 
 
This report is provided to the Police and Crime Committee (PCC) for its 3 July 2019 meeting, to assist 
the Committee to exercise its function in scrutinising and supporting the Mayor’s Office for Policing 
And Crime (MOPAC) and to hold it to account. 
 
This report covers the period from 25 May 2019 to 21 June 2019.  
 
In addition to the range of regular meetings and briefings with key stakeholders, including senior 
Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) officers, below are the main activities I have been involved in and/or 
where MOPAC has been represented.  
 
2 MOPAC ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
Knife Crime and Violence 

Throughout the reporting period I have continued to focus on tackling knife crime and violence in 

London. The Mayor and I received regular updates from the Commissioner concerning the Violent 

Crime Taskforce’s activities as well as wider MPS activity. During this time, I have been working closely 

with the Mayor and the VRU Director Lib Peck on the continued development of City Hall’s Violence 

Reduction Unit (VRU). The unit will improve co-ordination between the Metropolitan Police, local 

authorities, youth services, health services, criminal justice agencies and City Hall as part of a new 

enhanced partnership. It will also build on what works and share best practice. 

Police Transformation  

On 6 June 2019, I met with Professor Betsy Stanko OBE (Early Intervention Foundation) to discuss 

research projects focused on supporting police forces to transform their approaches to learning and 

development. 

Safer London 
 
On 6 June 2019, I met with Sherry Peck (CEO, Safer London) to discuss wellbeing and mental health 
approaches being piloted in Lambeth. 
 
Chance UK 
 
On 6 June 2019, I spoke at the charity Chance UK’s volunteer celebration event. I thanked Chance UK’s 
volunteers for giving their time to provide diversions for young Londoners. I also explained how the 
VRU will build on existing work to tackle violence, the work of the Young Londoners Fund to provide 
activities for young people and the London Needs You Alive media campaign. 
 
Metropolitan Police Service Stephen Lawrence Event 

On 7 June 2019, I attended the Met’s Stephen Lawrence commemoration event. I spoke about the 
important legacy of Stephen’s life.  

Metropolitan Police Service Remembrance Service 

On 30 June 2019, I attended the Met Remembrance Service to show support to those officers who 
made the ultimate sacrifice. 

Page 118



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 3 July 2019  

 

Children’s Commissioner 

On 12 June 2019, I met with the Anne Longfield (Children’s Commissioner) accompanied by Claire 
Waxman (London’s Victims’ Commissioner). We discussed the activity being carried out by Anne around 
safeguarding and risks to young people and the work taking place in London to protect young people 
through policing, commissioning, and the criminal justice system. 
 
Pan London Youth day 

On 13 June 2019, the Mayor and I attended the Pan London Youth Day where the Mayor spoke. The 
Pan-London Youth Day is an annual event that has taken place for the last 11 years. It is held as a 
precursor to the Haringey Box Cup and is supported by the Met, MOPAC and Haringey Police & 
Community Amateur Boxing Club (ABC). 

London Youth 

On 14 June 2019, I met with Rosemary Watt-Wyness (CEO, London Youth) to discuss the work MOPAC 
and the VRU are doing to tackle youth violence. I also discussed opportunities for future collaboration 
with London Youth and opportunities for the greater engagement of youth organisations in the 
development of policy and commissioning of services. 
 
National Police Chiefs’ Council 

On 17 June 2019, Claire Waxman (London’s Victims’ Commissioner) and I met with Sara Thornton 
(Chair, National Police Chiefs’ Council) to discuss modern slavery and the Victims’ Commissioner’s 
report on the Victim Code of Practice. 

Safer London Pan Housing Reciprocal event 

On 17 June 2019, I spoke at the Safer London Pan Housing Reciprocal event. This was an opportunity 
to demonstrate MOPAC and City Hall’s continued commitment to tackling VAWG and to support the 
work of the Pan London Housing Reciprocal programme.  

HMICFRS 

On 19 June 2019, I had my quarterly meeting with Matt Parr (HM Inspector of Constabulary and HM 
Inspector of Fire & Rescue Services) to discuss child protection, the Met’s force management statement 
and police inspections. 
 
Criminal Justice Alliance 

On 19 June 2019, I met with Nina Champion (the newly appointed Director of the Criminal Justice 
Alliance). This was an introductory meeting where we discussed the public scrutiny work of the Criminal 
Justice Alliance Community and the Monitoring Group development work that MOPAC is undertaking. 
 
Aviard Inspires 

On 21 June 2019, I met with Amani Simpson (CEO, Aviard Inspires) to discuss how the work of his 
organisation can align with the strategic aims of the Violence Reduction Unit.  

Page 119



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 3 July 2019  

 

3 PERFORMANCE  
Police data are now fully updated on the London data store. In addition, more police and crime data 
and information and interactive dashboards can be found a.   An overview of key crime types is below. 

 

Jun - May 2018/19 2019/20 % change

Total Notifiable Offences (TNO) 875,738 830,805 -5.1%
TNO Victim Based 805,320 762,406 -5.3%

ASB Anti-Social Behaviour Calls 254,771 244,769 -3.9%
Violence Against the Person 216,465 204,078 -5.7%
Violence with Injury 77,776 77,386 -0.5%
Homicide 110 161 46.4%
Youth Homicide 23 35 52.2%
Serious Youth Violence 8,020 8,195 2.2%
Non Domestic Abuse VWI 53,668 53,515 -0.3%
Violence without Injury 138,579 126,531 -8.7%
Domestic Abuse Notifiable 88,241 80,082 -9.2%
Domestic Abuse Incidents 142,159 141,633 -0.4%
Domestic Abuse VWI 24,108 23,871 -1.0%
Total Sexual Offences 20,389 20,256 -0.7%
Rape 8,195 8,104 -1.1%

Other Sexual Offences 12,194 12,152 -0.3%
Total Robbery 35,952 33,130 -7.8%
Business Robbery 2,476 2,340 -5.5%
Personal Robbery 33,476 30,790 -8.0%
Total Burglary 81,242 78,671 -3.2%
Burglary - Residential 59,962 58,839 -1.9%
Burglary - Business and Community 21,280 19,832 -6.8%
Total Vehicle 119,306 106,794 -10.5%
Aggravated Vehicle Taking 920 995 8.2%
Theft from MV 71,297 61,411 -13.9%
Theft or Taking of MV 31,144 30,347 -2.6%
Total Theft Offences 238,610 222,454 -6.8%

Theft from Person 48,751 46,113 -5.4%
Bicycle Theft 20,818 20,273 -2.6%
Shoplifting 43,243 46,645 7.9%

Criminal Damage Arson and Criminal Damage Offences 4,519 5,547 22.7%

Drugs Total Drugs Offences 39,252 36,719 -6.5%
Possession of Weapons 7,519 7,969 6.0%
Knife Crime Offences 15,034 14,932 -0.7%
Knife Crime With Injury 4,188 4,749 13.4%
Knife Crime With Injury victims under 25 (non DA) 1,720 2,119 23.2%
Knife Crime with Injury Personal Robbery 583 614 5.3%
Knife Possession 5,494 5,583 1.6%
Gun Crime Offences 2,242 2,585 15.3%
Gun Crime Lethal Discharge 372 407 9.4%
Gun Crime Personal Robbery 548 645 17.7%
Racist and Religious Hate Crime 17,268 16,904 -2.1%
Faith Hate Crime 2,195 2,522 14.9%
Anti-Semitic 598 515 -13.9%
Islamophobic 1,249 1,685 34.9%
Sexual Orientation Hate Crime 2,453 2,143 -12.6%
Transgender Hate 259 170 -34.4%
Disability Hate Crime 421 441 4.8%

Mar-18 Mar-19
p.p 

difference

Satisfaction Overall Satisfaction 70% 67% -3.0%

The police do a good job in the local area 67% 60% -7.0%

The police can be relied upon to be there when needed 74% 71% -3.0%
The police treat everyone fairly regardless of who they are 76% 76% 0.0%

The police are dealing with the things that matter to this community 70% 63% -7.0%

The police listen to the concerns of local people 72% 68% -4.0%

Feels well informed about local police activities over the last 12 months 44% 36% -8.0%

TNO

VAP

Domestic Abuse

Sexual Offences

Robbery

Public Attitude

Burglary

Vehicle

Theft

Weapons

Hate Crime

Page 120



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 3 July 2019  

 

4. Finance and Performance Report Q4 2018/19 

4.1 The financial reporting of MOPAC is on a quarterly basis, with any exceptional items to be 

noted on a monthly basis. The Quarter 4 Performance Update Report is annexed to this PCC 

report. 

4.2       The report presents information with its structure aligned with the Police and Crime Plan (PCP). 

The performance sections provide quarterly and annual trends on crime in London and how the 

MPS are providing a better Police Service for London. 

4.3       The finance section starts from page 45 and provides a detailed breakdown of the outturn 

financial position whilst also providing longer term trends. The Finance section includes a 

breakdown of Revenue, Capital and Reserves positions. 

4.4       This report has been included as Annex A and a summary of Financial position has been 

provided below: 

4.5       At outturn, MOPAC Group is reporting forecast net revenue spend equal to budget.  Key 

headlines are; 

• The revenue outturn position was a net underspend of £12 million.  

• The capital investment position is spend of £229.4m against a budget of £249.2 (underspend 
of £19.8m). 

  

Page 121



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 3 July 2019  

 

5. CORRESPONDENCE AND MAYOR’S QUESTIONS  
 
MOPAC manages and prioritises all Mayor’s Questions and correspondence received to ensure that it is 
meeting its obligation to respond in a timely manner and to a high standard 
 
5.1       Mayor’s Questions (MQs)  

Mayor’s 
questions           

Total received Responded to within 
the GLA agreed 
timeframe 

In percentage 
terms 

May 2018 89 76 85% 

June 2018 104 81 78% 

July 2018 82 69 84% 

August 2018 No MQs 

September 2018 126 110 87% 

October 2018 110 90 82% 

November plenary 2018 25 25 100% 

November 2018 183 129 70% 

December 2018 132 62 47% 

January 2019 82 73 89% 

February 2019 108 71 66% 

March 2019  62 56 90% 

April 2019  No MQs 

May 2019 187 146 78% 

  

Page 122



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 3 July 2019  

 

 
 
5.2       Correspondence received and responded to within 20 days 

Month Correspondence 
received 

Number responded 
to within 20 working 
days 

In percentage 
terms   

May 2018 267 248 93% 

June 2018 232 204 88% 

July 2018 380 330 87% 

August 2018 204 180 88% 

September 2018 158 148 94% 

October 2018 179 158 88% 

November 2018 307 279 91% 

December 2018 173 144 83% 

January 2019 187 164 88% 

February 2019 196 165 84% 

March 2019 233 200 86% 

April 2019 193 189 98% 

May 2019 193 182 94% 

  

Page 123



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 3 July 2019  

 

 
 

6. MOPAC BUSINESS AND MEETINGS 
 
In the last month, my office and I have had a range of meetings with key stakeholders and MPS officers 
in support of the Mayor.  
 
6.1 Regular Meetings with: 

• the Mayor and his Team 

• the Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner  

• MPS Senior Officers 

• Partners including local authorities, criminal justice agencies, government departments, policing 
bodies, service providers and community groups. 
 

Meetings are covered in section 3.  

  

Page 124



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 3 July 2019  

 

6.2 Decisions 
The following formal decisions have been made since the last report: 
 

Policing and 
Crime Decision 
(PCD) Number 

Formal Decisions made 

PCD 491 

Approval for the award of contract for 

provision of research requirements for 

MOPAC and the MPS 

PCD 516 
Integrated Victims and Witnesses Service 

Contract Award 

PCD 524 

Request for authorisation to settle linked 

employment tribunal claims from a serving 

and a former officer. 

PCD 527 Officer Recognition Payment 

PCD 530 Conflict Management Dogs 

PCD 532 

Request for financial assistance made by 

the Applicants for separate representation 

in Inquest proceedings 

PCD 538 MetIP Infrastructure Upgrade 

PCD 545 
Social Media Hub to tackle Serious Gang 

Violence 

PCD 557 
Funding for Force Build for Cyber 

Dependent Crime 

PCD 576 
National Legal Services Framework – Uplift 

to contract value 

PCD 579 Pegasus Programme 

PCD 580 Pension forfeiture stage 3 

PCD 581 Building Access Control 

PCD 582 Public Engagement Funding 2019/20 

PCD 585 Financial Assistance 

PCD 586 Agency Fuel Card Supply 

PCD 588 
MOPAC / MPS Financial Performance 

Outturn 2018/19 

Page 125



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 3 July 2019  

 

 
6.3 Future MOPAC meetings 
 

 
 
 
 

7. Annexes 
 

Annex A – MOPAC Q4 Quarterly Performance Report 

 

 

 
  

 

Date  MOPAC Meeting  
27/06/2019 London CONTEST Board 

16/07/2019 LCRB 

17/07/2019 JUSTICE MATTERS 

02/09/2019  DMG 

17/09/2019  Justice Matters 

25/09/2019  London CONTEST Board 

15/10/2019  London Crime Reduction Board 

Page 126



Mayor’s Office for Policing & Crime 

Quarterly Performance Update Report 

Quarter 4  2018/19

MOPAC Quarterly report 1

Annex A

P
age 127



2

Contents
Introduction - 3

Police and Crime Plan Monitoring - 8

Oversight - 35

Finance Monitoring – 44

About MOPAC and the Metropolitan Police Service  – 4 
Quarterly Performance Executive Summary – 6
Measuring the things that matter - 7

A Safer London - 9
Recorded Crime and TNOs
Mandatory High Harm Priorities
ASB and Local Priorities 

A Better Police Service for London - 13
Trends in Public Voice
Inequalities in Public Voice and Public Complaints
Trends in Workforce

Diversity – Police Officers
Diversity – Police Staff and PCSOs
DWO Abstractions

A Better Criminal Justice System for London – 21
VCOP awareness

Keeping Children and Young People Safe – 24
Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls - 27
Standing Together Against Extremism, Hatred and Intolerance – 30

Sexual Orientation, Transgender, and Disability
Race and Religion and CT arrests

MOPAC Quarterly reportContents

Responding to the Public - 37
999/101  Calls 
I and S Response Times

Investigations - 39
Sanction Detections
Detainees taken into custody
Out of court disposals

Stop and Search Monitoring - 40
Total stop & search and positive outcomes
S60 and types of search

Overview – 45
Revenue, Capital and Reserves – 46-51
MOPAC Commissioning – 52-58

P
age 128



Introduction

MOPAC Quarterly report 3Introduction

P
age 129



About MOPAC

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 established an
elected Police and Crime Commissioner for each police force area across
England and Wales to ensure that there is democratic oversight of how
policing is delivered. In London, the elected Mayor – Sadiq Khan, is the
equivalent of the Police and Crime Commissioner and is responsible for
ensuring that the Metropolitan Police deliver an efficient and effective
service for Londoners.

The Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) supports the Mayor in
fulfilling his role. The Mayor has appointed a statutory Deputy Mayor for
Policing and Crime – Sophie Linden – to lead MOPAC.

MOPAC is responsible for setting the overall strategic direction for policing
and safety, overseeing police performance in the capital and
commissioning a wide range of services to prevent crime and support
victims.

The Mayor of London is required by law to produce a Police and Crime
Plan that explains how the police, community safety partners and other
criminal justice agencies will work together to reduce crime.

The current Police and Crime Plan (PCP) reflects the Mayor’s manifesto
and priorities for making London a safer city for all. The Plan is produced
by MOPAC, who consult with Londoners on their priorities, develop the
Plan itself and then ensure that its aims and commitments are delivered.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, MOPAC ensures that its business is
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards and that
public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and the value for
money (VfM) principles of economy, efficiency and effectiveness are
strongly adhered to.

MOPAC has in place robust Governance arrangements to ensure MPS and
partners are held to account and that MOPAC continues to monitor the
objectives, operations and delivery of the PCP are adhered to. This is
done through various Boards and Panels, including the quarterly
Oversight Board and other boards and panels which are listed in the
Annual Governance Statement, published at:

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/annual_governance_state
ment_2017_18_final_-_with_signatures.pdf

The Police and Crime Plan

Oversight

MOPAC welcomes comments on this quarterly report. To send any 
comments and questions please email them to MOPAC Correspondence 

Team at: 

Enquiries@mopac.london.gov.uk

MOPAC Quarterly report 4Introduction

P
age 130

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_police_and_crime_plan_2017-2021.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/annual_governance_statement_2017_18_final_-_with_signatures.pdf
mailto:Enquiries@mopac.london.gov.uk


5

About the Metropolitan Police Service

Operational policing in London is the responsibility of Metropolitan Police
Commissioner Cressida Dick. The Met’s priorities are set in line with the
Police and Crime Plan. The Met Business Plan sets out the Met’s priorities
for 2018-21 and progress against it at Quarter 2 is detailed in Annex A to
this report.

Priorities

The Met’s operational priorities are to
• Focus on what matters most to Londoners: violent crime tops the

public’s concerns and tackling it is a priority in order to protect
Londoners. This includes terrorism, knife and gun crime, sexual
offending, domestic abuse and safeguarding vulnerable people from
predatory behaviour.

• Achieve the best outcomes in the pursuit of justice and in the
support of victims: the Met has a fundamental responsibility to
uphold the rule of law and to ensure that victims receive the best
possible outcome. It does this by catching offenders and by ensuring
victims of crime receive both justice and the support they need from
the police and from our partners.

• Mobilise partners and the public: safety requires action and
intervention beyond the police service. The Met works with partners
and communities to keep them safe and support them to prevent
crime. It also aims to earn the trust of more young people and ethnic
minority communities.

Funding

At the end of Q4 2018-19, the Metropolitan Police Workforce consists of:
29,978 officers

1,847 special constables
1,231 PCSOs

8,968 staff

Workforce

MOPAC Quarterly reportIntroduction

£3.3bn Gross Budget

How the Met 
is funded

(£m) 

How the Met 
spends its budget

(£m)

P
age 131

https://www.met.police.uk/globalassets/foi-media/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/mps_business_plan_2017_2018.pdf
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/met-business-plan/
https://www.met.police.uk/globalassets/foi-media/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/mps_business_plan_2017_2018.pdf


6

Quarterly Performance Executive Summary

Oversight

Although still too high, many indicators on violent crime show a
stabilisation, and in cases slight decrease during Q4 2018-19, reflecting
the additional resources invested and intensive activities that the Met
conducted over the past 12 months since the creation of the Violent crime
Task Force. The number of victims of knife crime with injury where the
victim is under 25 is again down on the same quarter last year. Gun crime
has also reduced compared to last year.

Total notifiable offences recorded by police have increased since the
summer of 2014. A majority of crime types have seen an increase in
recorded levels since last year, bar theft. However, national data to
December 2018 shows that in all cases apart from burglary and vehicle
offences, the increases in London are lower than the rest of England and
Wales.

Improved recording standards since late 2014 have had some effect on
offence volumes with violent crime in particular seeing an increase due to
better recording practices. However the Crime Survey for England and
Wales (CSEW) suggests that real increases are being seen in theft, knife
crime and vehicle related crime.

Overall victim satisfaction with the service has reduced by 4 percentage
points when compared with FY 2017/18. However Q4 2018/19 is showing
an uplift.

Police and Crime Plan Monitoring 

MOPAC Quarterly reportIntroduction

As part of the concerted effort to bear down on violence, the Met, supported by
the Mayor, is increasing its use of stop and search. The latest quarter (Q4
2018/19) saw an uplift of 45% from the previous quarter and was 87% higher than
the same period in 2017/18. Recognising concern about levels of knife crime,
searches looking for weapons, points and blades continue to form a bigger
proportion of the total.

The number of positive outcomes as a result of a stop and search has increased to
over 15,000 during this quarter compared to just over 10,000 a year ago. Black
individuals were 4 times more likely to be stopped than white individuals during
FY 2018/19, this is the same rate as FY 2017/18.

The crime types that have been prioritised in individual boroughs are on the
whole showing a better performance (i.e. decrease or lower increase) than that
same crime type in boroughs where they have not been prioritised. Robbery is
now increasing at a lower rate within the priority areas than the MPS as whole,
despite continued increases in Westminster. Burglary however is showing volatile
increases and decreases across boroughs.

I and S grade performance (deployment time) has remained stable over the last 2
years, despite the logistical challenge of realignment from borough to BCU. These
have now been completed, providing the Met more flex in its local resources.

Finance Monitoring

The report presents the full year outturn against budget for 2018/19. The Met
has a £3.3bn gross revenue budget and is showing a £12m net underspend. Of
this, the net underspend between officer pay and police officer overtime is
£11.1m, with the remaining underspend largely being driven by police staff
vacancies. This is offset in part by an overspend in running costs.

The full year 2018/19 revised capital programme provided for £249.2m of
expenditure. The outturn position £229.4m, with an underspend of £19.8m.

P
age 132



7

Measuring the things that matter

The performance framework details what success looks like for London.
This documents a move away from blunt pan-London crime reduction
targets, in favour of locally agreed policing priorities and a focus on
addressing the crimes that cause the greatest harm to individuals – such
as sexual assault, domestic abuse and child sexual exploitation.

Throughout the life of the police and crime plan, MOPAC will monitor 
key indicators as proxies for areas on which the plan is focused. 

This diagram below provides an overview of key priorities that are 
explored further throughout this report. 

Police and Crime Plan Monitoring

MOPAC Quarterly reportIntroduction

P
age 133



MOPAC Quarterly report 8

Police and Crime Plan Monitoring

A Safer London

A Safer London

P
age 134



MOPAC Quarterly report 9

A Safer London - Summary

A Safer London

Recorded Crime and TNOs

Mandatory High Harm Priorities 

ASB and Local Crime Priorities

The 12 months to quarter 4 2018/19 saw 4% increase in the volume of offences compared to the same period last year, over 33,000 more recorded
offences. There was also a 2.8% increase (23,886 more offences) from quarter 3 2018/19.
ONS data to December 2018 show that increases in recorded crime in London are substantially lower than the nationwide rises: total notifiable
offences across England and Wales were up by 8%, and a 7% in the MPS most similar metropolitan forces (Greater Manchester, West Midlands and
West Yorkshire). Only burglary, motor vehicle offences and other theft increased more in London than in the rest of England and Wales.

Compared to last quarter, gun crime has decreased by -20.4%, and -16.7% compared to Q4 last year.
Hate crime has seen an increase of 6% this quarter compared to Q3, +21.4% compared to last year.
Knife crime, gun crime and the total number of sexual offences have all decreased this quarter compared to last. However, of note, domestic abuse has
remained stable compared to the previous quarter, but has increased by 13.5% compared to the same quarter last year.

In quarter 4 2018/19 there were 59,158 calls to the Met related to ASB. This is 7,916 (15%) more calls when compared to quarter 4 last year, but 4%
(2,255 fewer calls) down on the previous quarter. 86% of calls were classed as ‘nuisance’ related. Tackling ASB is fully incorporated into
neighbourhoods. It is integrated into the roles of the two Dedicated Ward officers and one PCSO per ward. Work is being further enhanced by recent
training packages for all officers on ASB and a specific full day of training for Neighbourhood officers. ASB can now be reported more easily on the Met
website: https://www.met.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-behaviour/ which may account for some increase in reporting.

All other priority crime types have shown increases when compared to Q4 2017/18. However, theft from a motor vehicle has seen the highest
proportional increase (+22.9%) across the whole of the MPS, but boroughs that have prioritised this crime type have seen a significantly lower increase
(+4.7%). Robbery has increased by over 15% in both the areas prioritising this crime type and the wider MPS.
Burglary offences have seen an increase across a number of the priority boroughs and the whole of the MPS (+3.6).

P
age 135

https://www.met.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-behaviour/


Recorded Crime and TNOs

MOPAC Quarterly report

Recorded crime

10

Total Notifiable Offences (TNO)

A Safer London

Police and Crime Plan 
Area

Crime Category
April 2017 
- March 
2018

April 2018 
- March 
2019

Change from 
previous 
period

% Change

A better police 
service for London

Total Notifiable 
Offences 829418 862781 33363 4.02%

Violence Against the 
Person 201890 215700 13810 6.84%

Total Robbery 32942 34366 1424 4.32%

Total Burgulary 77611 81292 3681 4.74%

Total Theft Person 47550 46097 -1453 -3.06%

Theft Taking of MV 30658 30787 129 0.42%

Theft from MV 61011 69652 8641 14.16%

Keeping children and 
young people safe

Knife Crime 14767 14843 76 0.51%

Gun Crime 2526 2354 -172 -6.81%

Tackling violence 
against women and 
girls

Domestic Abuse 78848 87979 9131 11.58%

Total Sexual Offences
20022 20510 488 2.44%

Standing together 
against hatred and 
intolerance

Racist and Religious 
Hate Crime 16951 17094 143 0.84%

Sexual Orientation 
Hate Crime 2093 2369 276 13.19%

Transgender Hate 
Crime 173 235 62 35.84%

Disability Hate Crime 444 412 -32 -7.21%

P
age 136



Mandatory High Harm Priorities

MOPAC Quarterly report 11

Recorded Offences of High Harm Crime

A Safer London

P
age 137



ASB and Local Crime Priorities

Local Crime Priorities – Quarter 4 2018/19 versus Quarter 4 2017/18 ASB

ASB ‘Personal’ - incidents perceived to target, or directly impact on, 
an individual or group.
ASB ‘Environmental’ - incidents impacting on surroundings, 
including natural, built and social environments.
ASB ‘Nuisance’ - incidents which cause trouble, annoyance, 
inconvenience, offence or suffering to the local community.

MOPAC Quarterly report 12A Safer London

P
age 138



MOPAC Quarterly report 13

Police and Crime Plan Monitoring

A Better Police Service for London

A Better Police Service for London

P
age 139



MOPAC Quarterly report 14

A Better Police Service for London - Summary
Public Voice

Workforce

Complaints

A Better Police Service for London

Through the reallocation of business rates and increase in policing precept of council tax the Mayor has provided an additional £234m for policing and tackling crime,
over a three year period. This investment will support the recruitment of 1,300 officers that would otherwise be unaffordable, allowing the MPS to grow to 31,000
officers by the year end.

The ‘London only’ recruitment requirement was lifted in November 2018 to expediate the growth in officers. It takes 8-9months to recruit a police officer and so the full
impact on diversity is not yet known. The impact of removing the requirement on the diversity of recruits will continue to be monitored.

The MPS will also recruit around 200 Police Staff Investigators with designated powers. These members of staff will provide additional resilience in the Violent Crime Task
Force, specialist murder teams, proactive and reactive crime teams and safeguarding teams.

Dedicated Ward Officer (DWO) abstractions are down (-56.6%) from last quarter, recording an average abstraction rate of just 3.3%. Overall abstractions in 2018-19 have
slightly decreased in comparison to 2017-18. There is some disparity at a BCU level which will continue to be monitored through the MOPAC dashboard.

During quarter 4 2018/19 the Met have recorded a 27% increase in the number of cases recorded but a 6% decrease in the number of allegations attached to
those cases, compared to quarter 4 2017/18. Complaint cases can be made up of one or several allegations.

Victim satisfaction: Overall victim Satisfaction with service is at 67% for the FY 18-19 - this has decreased by 3 percentage points when compared with FY 17-18,
continuing the long term decline. Overall Satisfaction is now at an all time low for FY data after 14 years of data collection. This pattern is mirrored in Satisfaction with
each of the service areas: follow-up (57%, -5 pp.), police actions (60%, -4 pp. on last FY), police treatment (81%, -4 pp.) and ease of contact (83%, -3 pp.)). Monthly
results for September 2018 were at the lowest recorded levels, but overall satisfaction for the months since then has increased +12 pp. to 71% (Mar-19) returning to a
level more in line with the period between January-August 2018. These changes represent a levelling off of results at a new low level after a generally downward trend.

Those aged 65+ are far more likely to be satisfied compared to others. This pattern has remained stable over time. Recently a gap has emerged for 25-34 year olds,
who are now less satisfied than other age groups.

Public perceptions: Historically, Public Perceptions have remained fairly stable, with a gradual upwards trend seen between FY 12-13 and FY 16-17. However, over the
last two financial years this trend has reversed, with a comparatively sharp decline seen since FY 16-17. In particular, large reductions compared with FY 16-17 have
been seen in the proportion of Londoners feeling the police deal with the issues that matter (-11 pp.), do a good job locally (-9 pp.), can be relied on to be there when
needed (-8 pp.), and listen to local concerns (-8 pp.). Results for many questions at the end of FY 18-19 are at the lowest levels seen since FY 12-13.

Large gaps continue to be seen for Black and Mixed Ethnicity respondents. Some gaps have widened slightly compared with the previous FY (e.g. ‘treat fairly’ for
respondents of a Mixed ethnicity has increased from -10 pp. to -14 pp.) while others have narrowed (e.g. ‘relied on’ for Mixed respondents has decreased from -11 pp.
to -4 pp.), but overall this pattern has remained fairly stable over time. In addition, residents from an LGB background are less likely to feel the police ‘listen to local
concerns’ (-11 pp.) or ‘treat everyone fairly’ (-10 pp.), with these gaps widening from -5 pp. at the end of FY 17-18.

P
age 140



MOPAC Quarterly report 15

Trends in Public Voice

Victim Satisfaction Public Perceptions

Source: Public Attitude Survey (PAS). R12 Months data per point. 

The confidence intervals associated with MPS level data are approximately 0.7 
percentage points per data point.

Source: User Satisfaction Survey (USS). R12 Months data  per point. 

The confidence intervals associated with MPS level data are approximately 0.9 
percentage points per data point.

1 In Q1 2017/18, ‘Contact local SNT/Ward Officer’ question wording was changed from: Do you know how to contact your
local policing team? ‘ to ‘Do you know how to contact your Safer Neighbourhood Team or your Dedicated Ward Officers?’.
This seems to be related to the lower result shown in 17-18, which will include results from both question types. Q4 17-18 is
the first point where results are entirely based on the new question wording.

A Better Police Service for London

P
age 141



MOPAC Quarterly report 16

Inequalities in Public Voice and MPS Complaints

Inequalities in Victim Satisfaction and Public Perceptions

The table compares the weighted MPS figure against each of the specified groups scoring and highlights a positive or negative difference
of 5 percentage points or more between the two. Where numbers above are showing, we believe there is a statistically meaningful gap
between the specified group and the rest of the MPS. User Satisfaction Survey (USS) data for overall satisfaction is included for a
comparison.

A Better Police Service for London

MPS Public Complaints

*The number of complaints shown above is taken from a live system which when 
extracted is a snap shot in time – numbers may change as new complaints are 
updated on the system

3
,0

1
2

 

2
,8

5
9

 

2
,6

0
5

 

2
,5

8
0

 

2
,5

4
5

 

2
,2

0
1

 

1
,7

8
9

 

1
,9

1
9

 

2
,3

9
3

 

1,306 1,603

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Q
4

 2
0

1
6

/1
7

Q
1

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Q
2

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Q
3

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Q
4

 2
0

1
7

/1
8

Q
1

 2
0

1
8

/1
9

Q
2

 2
0

1
8

/1
9

Q
3

 2
0

1
8

/1
9

Q
4

 2
0

1
8

/1
9

Allegations Cases

67% 60% 36% 68% 76% 63% 12% 71%

White British 2% 0% 3% -2% -1% -3% 4% -3%

White Other 2% 6% -4% 6% 8% 7% -3% 6%

Black -3% -6% -3% -5% -13% -5% 0% -3%

Asian -2% 0% 0% 2% 5% 4% -2% 2%

Mixed -4% -6% -5% -14% -14% -11% -1% -4%

Other ethnicity -3% 7% 6% 7% 7% 12% -4% 11%

LGB -1% 3% 2% -11% -10% -5% 3% -2%

Not LGB 0% 1% 1% 0% 1% 1% 0% 0%

16-24 1% 5% -6% -4% -5% 1% -5% 5%

25-34 -5% 4% -6% -2% -1% 1% -4% 5%

35-44 -4% 1% 1% 2% 3% 1% 0% 2%

45-54 -2% -5% 4% -4% -2% -3% 3% -6%

55-64 3% -5% 6% -1% -1% -3% 6% -5%

65 years + 16% -1% 6% 5% 5% 4% 5% -3%

Disability -1% -5% 1% 0% -3% -2% 3% -6%

No disability 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 1%

Male -2% 1% 2% 0% 2% 1% 0% 0%

Female 2% 0% -1% 0% -2% 0% 0% 0%

 Agree the police 

can be relied 

upon to be there 

when needed             

(Relied on to be 

there)

Age

Disability

Sex

Overall 

Satisfaction

Police do a good 

job in the local 

area 

(Good job)

Knows how to 

contact their local 

SNT/ward officer     

(Contact ward 

officer)

MPS Average

Ethnicity

LGB

Agree the police 

treat everyone 

fairly regardless 

of who they are 

(Fair treatment)

Agree the police 

are dealing with 

the things that 

matter to this 

community 

(Dealing issues)

Agree the police 

listen to the 

concerns of local 

people 

(Listen to 

concerns)

Feels well 

informed about 

local police 

activities over the 

last 12 months 

(Informed local)

P
age 142



Trends in Workforce

MPS Workforce Makeup Police Officer Strength 

Police Staff Strength 

A Better Police Service for London MOPAC Quarterly report 17

P
age 143



Diversity – Police Officers

Female Police Officer Strength BAME Police Officer Strength

Diversity in Recruitment

MOPAC Quarterly reportA Better Police Service for London 18

P
age 144



Diversity – Police Staff and PCSOs

MOPAC Quarterly reportA Better Police Service for London 19

Female PCSO Strength BAME PCSO Strength

Female Police Staff Strength BAME Police Staff Strength

P
age 145



Dedicated Ward Officer (DWO) Abstraction
DWO Abstraction by Type

MOPAC Quarterly reportA Better Police Service for London 20

Abstraction Categories:
Abstraction is defined as those instances where a DWO is required to work somewhere other than their allocated ward for any part of their shift (not including overtime). It does not
include either training or attending court which are seen as integral parts of the DWO role.
Abstraction is defined as the percentage of total hours worked which have been spent working somewhere else other than the allocated ward.

Abstraction Categories:
Aid - officers taken out of wards to provide support at large public events or critical incidents that require a police presence in another part of London (such as large scale
demonstrations). For example, 2% Aid abstraction is equivalent to 50 minutes in the working week of a DWO
Local Aid - officers requested to work elsewhere in the BCU to support local activities such as sporting events, cultural events and borough based policing operations.
CAD - Computer Aided Dispatch, officers required to work in the BCU operations room or the Grip and Pace Centre
Staffing up - Officers required to backfill for Emergency Response Team officers who are unavoidably absent, in order to provide minimum staffing levels
Custody - Officers required to assist in custody suite

Abstractions can only be shown for officers in post. It works on the assumption that all posts are filled and that unless the DWO is shown as ‘abstracted’ they are on patrol in their
ward. As with any human resource there will occasionally be times when a post becomes vacant. This can occur when an officer is sick, on maternity leave or has received a
promotion. The MPS has committed that all vacancies will be filled as quickly as possible but some turnover is inevitable.

MOPAC publish a DWO abstraction dashboard monitoring this monthly - DWO Abstraction Dashboard

P
age 146

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/mayors-office-policing-and-crime-mopac/data-and-statistics/dwo-abstraction-dashboard


MOPAC Quarterly report 21

Police and Crime Plan Monitoring

A Better Criminal Justice System for London

A Better Criminal Justice System for London

P
age 147



MOPAC Quarterly report 22

A Better Criminal Justice System for London - Summary

Victims Code of Practice  (VCOP) – User Satisfaction Survey (USS)

Restorative Justice (RJ) questions – Public Attitude Survey (PAS)

Victims from the USS report varying degrees of compliance across the 3 Victim Code of Practice (VCOP) questions. Levels have decreased slightly over time.
The majority of victims in the last quarter reported being offered a Victim Support referral (55%). Fewer victims are offered the opportunity to complete a
Victim Personal Statement (44%). Only 19% of victims reported being offered information on Restorative Justice.

A Better Police Service for London

Awareness of RJ has decreased from 30% of respondents (Q3 17-18) to 23% of respondents (Q3 18-19). Similarly, the proportion willing to take part in RJ if
they were a victim has fallen each quarter from 52% Q3 17-18 to the current level of 39% Q3 18-19.

P
age 148



VCOP Awareness

VCOP questions - USS

MOPAC Quarterly reportA Better Criminal Justice System for London 23

Restorative Justice questions - PAS

P
age 149



MOPAC Quarterly report 24

Police and Crime Plan Monitoring

Keeping Children and Young People Safe

Keeping Children and Young People Safe

P
age 150



MOPAC Quarterly report 25Keeping Children and Young People Safe

Quarter 4 2018/19 saw a 9% increase (35 more victims) in knife crime with injury (victims aged under 25) as compared to last quarter. However, this is
still an 11.6% reduction when compared to the same quarter in the previous year (60 fewer victims). The number of under 25 knife crime with injury
victims that are not related to domestic abuse has remained consistently above 90% (currently 94%). During the fourth quarter of 2018/19 there were
seven victims of knife homicide aged under 25 – this was the same as the previous quarter.

Keeping Children and Young People Safe - Summary

Knife Crime Victims under age 25

Child Sexual Abuse and Child Sexual Exploitation

New MPS practices regarding the recording of Child sexual abuse changed in February 2019. This function has now moved to BCU’s and coincided with
the introduction of a new flagging system, which will ultimately lead to better recording of this crime type; but in the short term we would expect a
decline in the recorded figures as officers adjust to this new process.

Recorded incidents of Child Sexual Exploitation have increased during Q4 2018/19 by 48% (161 more offences). There has however been a larger
increase compared to quarter 4 of 2017/18 (169%, 313 more recorded offences). The Met is working closely with MOPAC and partners to improve child
protection practice across London, learning from HMICFRS’s Child Protection Inspection recommendations which are based on findings of a report
undertaken between February and May 2016. To drive improvement the Mayor and Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime have regular formal meetings
with senior Met leaders to ensure regular oversight of child protection practices.

There has been a strong focus on raising the awareness and understanding of CSE and child abuse across the Met as part of the ‘Spot it to Stop it’
campaign which started in August 2017. The CSE element of the campaign was completed in November 2017.

P
age 151



MOPAC Quarterly report 26

Keeping Children and Young People Safe

Knife Crime with Injury – Victims aged under 25 Child Abuse and Child Sexual Exploitation

Child Abuse is defined by the Met as all offences under Violence Against the Person and 
Sexual Offences where the victim is under 18 and Child Protection Units are investigating

Child sexual exploitation is a form of child abuse, which occurs when anyone under the age of 
18 is persuaded, coerced or forced into sexual activity in exchange for, amongst other things, 
money, drugs/alcohol, gifts, affection or status. 

Keeping Children and Young People Safe

Note: % Non Domestic equates to the proportion of all victims aged under 25 years old 
that were injured with a ‘knife’ where the offence was not classified by the MPS as 
being domestic related.

P
age 152



MOPAC Quarterly report 27

Police and Crime Plan Monitoring

Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls

Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls

P
age 153



MOPAC Quarterly report

In quarter 4 the recorded number of sexual offences have remained fairly stable (42 fewer offences), this is also stable when compared to the same quarter 
in the previous year.

Recorded domestic abuse offences in Q4 has remained stable (+122 offences) compared to the previous quarter and the same quarter last year. Changes to 
the Home Office Counting Rules in April 2018 included an exception to the principal crime rule. This states that “where there is a course of conduct 
amounting to either stalking or harassment or controlling and coercive behaviour the relevant course of conduct crime (stalking or harassment or controlling 
and coercive behaviour) should be recorded in addition to the most serious additional notifiable crime reported at the same time (per victim-offender 
relationship)”. As many of these offences are related to domestic abuse, this is believed to have partly caused the rises seen since April. 

The MPS supported MOPAC in the development of its strategy to tackle violence against women and girls, working towards better services for victims of
sexual abuse, tackling harmful practices such as FGM and using technology such as Body Worn Video to counter attrition in domestic abuse prosecutions.

28

Violence Against Women and Girls - Summary

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Offences

Honour Based Violence and Forced Marriage

In quarter 4, there were 85 recorded honour based violence offences – 2 more than quarter 3 and 14 more than quarter 4 in 2017/18.

The levels of reported forced marriage linked offences continues to be low, with 24 offences recorded within the most recent quarter.

Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls

P
age 154



MOPAC Quarterly report 29

Violence Against Women and Girls

Domestic Abuse

Honour Based Violence (HBV)

Sexual Offences

Forced Marriage

Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls

P
age 155



MOPAC Quarterly report 30

Police and Crime Plan Monitoring

Standing Together Against Extremism, Hatred and Intolerance

Extremism, Hatred and Intolerance

P
age 156



MOPAC Quarterly report 31

Standing Together Against Extremism, Hatred and Intolerance -
Summary

Hate Crime

Extremism

The number of recorded offences related to homophobic hate crime in quarter 4 2018/19 increased 16.9% (61 offences) from quarter 4 2017/18 and
decreased by 2.5% compared to Q3 of this year.

In quarter 4 2018/19 there were 53 recorded offences of transgender hate crime, 1 less offence from the quarter 3 and 21 more offences when compared
to quarter 4 of the previous year.

There has been an overall increase in recorded racist and religious hate crime in recent years. Following the terrorist attacks in the London Bridge area in
June 2017, there was an increase in the number of hate crime offences recorded by the MPS. The number of Racist Hate Crime offences recorded by the
MPS has increased by 0.7% from quarter 3 2018/19 to 4,015 in quarter 4. Compared to the same period last year the increase rises to 16.9%.

The number of recorded Islamophobic Hate Crime offences recorded this quarter remained stable compared to quarter 3. When you compared this
quarters figures to the figures from quarter 4 of the previous year, Islamophobic Hate Crimes have decreased by 8.8%. Anti-Semitic Hate Crime offences
have slightly decreased this quarter compared to last (-0.6%), but are still 26.9% higher than the were in Q4 17/18.

In quarter 4 the number of recorded disability hate crime offences has increased by 18.3% (+17 offences). However, when compared to quarter 4 of the
previous year, they have decreased by 3.5%.

Following terrorist incidents taking place in London during quarter 1 2017/18, we saw an understandable spike in counter terrorism arrests. Arrests in
quarter 4 2018/19 continue to be at the below average levels (26 arrests during this period). London remains on a heightened state of alert and the Met
continually reviewing security arrangements to reflect the threat we are facing. This also requires vigilance from everyone to report anything suspicious to
the police at the earliest possible opportunity.

Extremism, Hatred and Intolerance

P
age 157



MOPAC Quarterly report 32

Hate Crime – Race and Religion

Racist Hate Crime Islamophobic Hate Crime

Anti-Semitic Hate Crime

A hate crime can have more than one hate flag attached to it. Adding up all the hate crime categories may result in multiple counting of a single offence.

Extremism, Hatred and Intolerance

P
age 158



MOPAC Quarterly report 33

Hate Crime – Sexual Orientation, Transgender, and Disability

Disability Hate CrimeHomophobic Hate Crime

Transgender Hate Crime

Note: In February 2016 the MPS and community partners launched the ‘Disability Hate 
Crime Matters’ initiative, providing briefings to frontline officers to ensure disability 
hate crime is recognised, properly recorded, and gets the response it requires.  This saw 
a far higher number of disability hate crime reports captured than would previously 
have been the case.

A hate crime can have more than one hate flag attached to it. Adding up all the hate crime categories may result in multiple counting of a single offence.

Extremism, Hatred and Intolerance

P
age 159



MOPAC Quarterly report 34

Extremism – Counter Terrorism arrests

Extremism, Hatred and Intolerance

Arrests by Counter Terrorism Command Officers

P
age 160



MOPAC Quarterly report 35

Oversight

Oversight

P
age 161



MOPAC Quarterly report 36

Oversight - Summary

Investigation

Stop & Search

The number of Stop and Search in the latest quarter shows an uplift of 45% from the previous quarter and was 87% higher than the previous year, reflecting its use 
as one of the tools to address violence and knife crime. 

Positive outcomes typically account for a third of all outcomes from Stop and Searches, however in the latest quarter this reduced to less than 1 in 4 (24%). In this 
quarter the proportion is less than the previous quarter, as may be expected in the context of a sharp increase in Stop and Search.

The volumes of Stop and Search for Weapons, Points and Blades increased by 59% from the previous quarter and increased 132% from the previous year. This may 
have been impacted by the use of s60 powers during this last quarter. In this quarter there were 2,731 section 60 CJPO Weapons Stop and Searches conducted 
compared to only 452 conducted in the same period last year. 

In quarter 4 there were 114 authorisations for the use of Section 60. This is the highest number of authorisations in the last few years. Subjects of a black ethnicity 
are currently 11 times more likely to be stopped using section 60 powers than those of a white ethnicity.  This level is down from 13 times more likely during the 
previous 12 months.

Responding to the Public

Sanction Detections: Q4 has seen a decrease in the level of sanction detections, following an increase in Q3 that broke a long downward trend. The picture
remains inconsistent across BCUs.

Out of court disposals: During Q4 2018/19 the number of ‘solved’ out of court disposals issued by the MPS remained stable. 65% of those case were solved by way
of community resolutions compared to 25% of the total during the same quarter last year.

Detainees in custody: The number of detainees taken into police custody within the MPS has remained stable over the last 15 months. With numbers remaining at
around 35,000 per quarter.

999 and 101 calls: In Q4 2018/19 there were over 500,000 calls to the 999 service across London. This is an increase of 3% on the preceding quarter and by 5% on
the same period last year. There were over 600,000 calls to the 101 non-emergency number. In mid-August 2018 the MPS introduced an automated telephony
system (IVR) that allows to better routes calls, rather than directly connecting callers to operators. This has led to a reduction in the number of incomplete calls
during the wait for an operator and the average waiting time.

Immediate (I) and Significant (S) Call Response Times: Response times in both I call (15 min attendance target) response times being met and S graded (1 hour
attendance target) have remained stable compared to the previous quarter (Q3 2018/19). Performance is being monitored and issues addressed at a BCU level.

Oversight

P
age 162



MOPAC Quarterly report 37

Responding to the Public - MPS Level

999 Calls 101 Calls

Emergency Response Times

Oversight

I calls = emergency calls to be attended within a 15 minute target.
S calls = emergency calls to be attended within a 60 minute target.

P
age 163



MOPAC Quarterly report 38

Responding to the Public – BCU Performance
I Call Performance S Call Performance

Oversight

Go live dates:
- Jan-17 Central North & East Area BCUs         - Oct 18 Central East & North East   - Jan 19 North Area & Central North
- Jun-18 West Area & South West BCUs           - Nov 18 North West & South East  - Feb 19 South Area & Central West

P
age 164



MOPAC Quarterly report 39

Investigation - Sanction Detections

TNO Sanction Detection* Rate

[* Sanction detections are detections where offences are resolved 
through a formal sanction - including being charged or receiving a 
caution]

Oversight

P
age 165



MOPAC Quarterly report 40

Investigation – Detainees Taken Into Custody (Police Arrests)

Oversight

Count of detainees taken into custody – This is a proxy measure for the number of arrests

P
age 166



MOPAC Quarterly report 41

Investigation – Out of Court Disposals

Oversight

Solved Out of Court Disposals 

P
age 167



MOPAC Quarterly report 42

Stop and Search Monitoring – Total Stop & Search and Positive Outcomes

Number of Stop and Searches Conducted Positive Outcomes* from Stop and Searches Conducted

Oversight

[* Positive outcomes are defined as the subject being arrested; 
receiving a cannabis/Khat warning; receiving penalty notice, 
caution or community resolution]

P
age 168



MOPAC Quarterly report 43

Stop and Search Monitoring – S60 and Types of Search
Section 60 Authorisations and Stop and Searches

Other Reason includes Going Equipped, Articles to cause Criminal Damage, 
Terrorism, Other Object and Psychoactive Substances

Number of Stop and Searches Conducted by Reason

Oversight

The powers to stop and search under s.60 Criminal Justice and Disorder Act 1994 are
used to prevent and detect carrying of dangerous instruments or offensive weapons.
The authorising officer in these cases must have reasonable grounds to implement
this. The request for a borough wide S60 is sometimes required, as it reflects the
transient nature of offenders operating within a borough, who may travel outside of
their own local area to target others.

P
age 169



MOPAC Quarterly report 44

Finance

Oversight

P
age 170



Total 18/19 Net Revenue variance: £12m underspend
Further detail and commentary on subsequent slides.

Finances at a Glance Outturn 2018/19

Gross Revenue Expenditure
Capital Expenditure

Reserve Balance

Full Year Budget: £249m
Outturn: £229m
Variance: -£20m

45

Total Expenditure Budget: £3,390.8m
Outturn: £3,378.5m
Variance: -£12.4m

Annual and Cumulative Savings

Savings achieved since 
2013/14: £846m

MOPAC Quarterly report
Finance

P
age 171



Revenue

46

18/19 Outturn
Full Year Budget 

(£m)
Outturn

(£m)
Variance (£m)

Police Officer Pay 1,809.2 1,783.0 -26.2

Police Staff Pay 494.8 466.4 -28.4

PCSO Pay 53.4 48.9 -4.4

Total Pay 2,357.4 2,298.3 -59.1

Police Officer Overtime 97.0 112.1 15.1

Police Staff Overtime 20.2 25.4 5.2

PCSO Overtime 0.1 0.1 0.0

Total Overtime 117.3 137.6 20.3

TOTAL PAY & OVERTIME 2,474.7 2,435.9 -38.8

Employee Related Expenditure 18.8 17.8 -1.1

Premises Costs 156.3 155.4 -0.8

Transport Costs 74.5 91.0 16.5

Supplies & Services 536.6 543.6 7.0

TOTAL RUNNING EXPENSES 786.2 807.8 21.6

Capital Financing Costs 95.5 99.9 4.4

Discretionary Pension Costs 34.4 34.8 0.4

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 3,390.8 3,378.5 -12.4

Other Income -275.9 -271.7 4.2

Specific Grants -511.8 -520.4 -8.6

Transfer to/(from) reserves 12.8 17.6 4.8

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 2,615.9 2,604.0 -12.0

Funding (General Grant & Precept) -2,615.9 -2,615.9 0.0

OVERALL MPS & MOPAC Total 0.0 0.0 -12.0

Finance

Outturn position

The overall outturn revenue position shows an underspend of £12.4m 
against gross total expenditure budget. After other income, specific 
grants and reserves transfers, the net expenditure outturn position is 
an underspend of £12m.

Within this position, the underspend against police officer pay of 
£26.2m is offset by a £15.1m overspend against police officer 
overtime. This leaves a net underspend of £11.1m relating to officer 
pay. 

The remaining underspend is largely being driven by police staff pay, 
which is partially offset by overspends on police staff overtime of 
£5.2m and total running expenses of £21.6m. The detail of 
movements in this category is given in the revenue supporting 
information section on page 47-48.

The reduction in income this year against budget of £4.2m is 
predominantly due to the high level of vacancies in a number of 
externally funded areas, which led to reduced income receipts.

In terms of Specific grants, there was additional expenditure this year 
particularly in the Counter Terrorism and Protective Security grant 
funded areas, including the response and the ongoing investigations in 
relation to the Salisbury incidents. This is funded by the additional 
income of £8.6m.

Revenue Outturn Summary 

P
age 172



Revenue Supporting Information
Police officer pay & overtime 
The police officer pay outturn position is an underspend by £26.2m. Overtime
is overspent by £15.1m, leaving a net underspend relating to officer pay of
£11.1m.

The actual strength of police officers in the MPS, at the end of March
2019, was 29,978 FTE. The Q3 Workforce Planning forecast assumed
the MPS would reach 30,000 FTE by the end of January.

The underspend in externally funded officers is driven mainly by
vacancies within Safer Transport Teams, Roads Policing (£8.6m) and
Partnerships / Cost Sharing (£1.6m) which also resulted in some under-
recovery of income. This was offset in part by overspends in Specialist
Operations, Royalty and Specialist Protection (RaSP).

Police staff pay & overtime
Police staff pay full outturn position is an underspend of £28.4m and overtime an
overspend of £5.2m.

Police staff pay is underspent by £28.4m, being driven by Met Operations
(£14.5m) and a number of smaller underspends across other business groups
including Frontline Policing (£2.6m) and Digital Policing (£2.4m). £7.4m of the
underspend is relating to externally funded police staff, mainly in Specialist
Operations.

There is a £5.3m underspend in Criminal Justice as a result of Designated 
Detention Officers (DDOs) and Custody Nurses vacancies during the year. Both 
areas are currently under review as part of the Custody Transformation work. 
The large level of vacancies is a driver for additional overtime working in Met CC 
and to CJ DDOs. The DDO vacancies are nearly all filled as the end of the financial 
year. Additionally, running costs have being incurred due to use of external 
Forensic Health consultants.

In Digital Policing there is a £2.4m underspend, due to a combination of lower 
project pay costs of £1.0m and operational staff vacancies across DP with 
continuing challenges in recruiting staff with the required skills (£1.4m). 

The police staff overtime overspend largely falls within Met Operations (£4.0m) . 
The main driver for overtime working here relates to the high level of vacancies.

Police overtime 

PCSO pay
PCSO pay has underspent by £4.4m, and overtime spend to budget.

Police officer pay 
Police staff pay

The PCSO budget is underspent by £4.4m, with the overtime spend to budget.

£9.6m of the overspend is related to internally funded police officer
overtime. Of this, £5.3m is within Frontline Policing, primarily being
driven by a number of officer vacancies and crime rising in volume and
complexity. There is a combination of both under and overspends
within Met Operations, leaving a net overspend of £5.0m.

£5.6m of the overtime overspend relates to externally funded police
officers. The variance mainly relates to overspends within Protective
Security, including cover for Royalty and Specialist protection
vacancies and additional armed posts in response to risks identified
from the Westminster inquest. Parliamentary and Diplomatic
Protection was also overspent in response to the inquest and Brexit
protests at the Palace of Westminster.

47Finance

P
age 173



The Met delivered £126.4m savings and efficiencies against budgeted
savings of £130.3m this financial year. The £130.3m breakdown is as
follows:

Savings related to the transformation programme

• £100m police officer pay saving delivered by the implementation of
the BCU design as part of the One Met Model Transformation
Programme; this model operates with a reduction of police officer
FTE’s. This has been achieved without compromising operational
capability by investing in and enabling a more efficient workforce,
able to work in a new model.

• £14.8m Digital Policing savings, of which £8m are operational savings 
and £6.9m Infrastructure and Mobility savings. DP have action plans 
to deliver operational savings although some of the 2018/19 savings 
have been pushed out to later years and, in the current financial year, 
these have been covered by additional savings.

Other savings

• £12m police staff pay, mainly through introduction of  a consistent 
staff vacancy factor (£7.9m) across the Business Groups and reduction 
of staff posts, e.g. in Criminal Justice Custody Nurses posts (£1m 
saving) and the Designated Detention Officer posts (£3m saving).

• £1.4m are new initiatives resulting in increased income receipts 
(Direct Superintendents course income, increased income target for 
inquiries paid for by the insurance industry and increased income 
opportunities in vehicle recovery).

• £0.7m training costs savings within Professionalism.

• Included in the remaining balance is the fuel costs saving (£0.5m) and 
additional savings within Commercial and Finance (£0.9m).

Income
Income outturn position is £4.4m over budget

Achievement against savings target

Revenue Supporting Information
Running costs
Running costs outturn position is an overspend by £21.6m

There is an overspend of £21.6m on running costs. The pay position impacts running costs 
(increased contractor and consultancy costs to cover vacancies) but there are also overspends on 
the Business Support Services transition and contract, and within Forensics.

£4.0m relates to the Forensics pressures in relation to Operation Northleigh (Grenfell Inquiry), 
outsourcing costs (offset by underspends on police staff pay) and increased spend on miscellaneous 
supplies linked to the increased volume of knife crime.

£15.9m relates to overspends relating to the HR and Business Support Services (BSS) Contract, in 
relation to the Met’s increased drive to recruit more police officers, as well as transition costs from 
the finance and HR system implementation. There is also spend over budget associated with an 

increased demand from police officers and staff to access the Met’s occupational health services.

The outturn position includes accrued costs related to a commercial settlement in relation to the 
BSS programme, which will introduce new contractual arrangements between the two parties, in 
order to resolve a number of wider items and to enable a reset of the contract in key areas which 
will deliver enhanced value to the MPS over the remaining contract term.

The spends over budgets are offset in part by number of areas including Digital Policing relating to 
work undertaken to drive efficiencies, which include lower costs in service delivery, and the 
successful settlement of commercial disputes.

48

The £4.4m of income over budget relates to a number of different areas including; £2.1m
due to over achievement of income in relation to Vehicle Recovery Examination services and
£1.7m relating to the new shared service arrangements with the National Crime Agency.

The Met are also now in receipt of £17m of Special Grant claim, relating to the
Commonwealth Heads of Government meeting, Operation Northleigh (Grenfell Inquiry),
President of US visit and costs incurred in policing the Royal Wedding.

This is offset in part by under-recoveries of income, mainly driven by Roads Policing which
relates to officer vacancies and the temporary attachment of RTPC officers to the Violent
Crime Task force.

P
age 174



Capital
The outturn capital expenditure for 2018/19 is £229.4m, a reduction of
£3.4m compared to the Q3 forecast.

• Property Services – The underspend of £11.4m relates to reprofiling of 
budgets into future years, Forward works including lifecycle works and 
the Central Estate programme.

• NCTPHQ - the increase in expenditure is matched by capital CT grant and
drawdown from the CT Specific Capital reserve.

• Digital Policing – Spend to March is £41.4m which is £5.2m below the full
year budget. The Digital Policing core spend was lower than budgeted
due to both lower replacement and smarter working spend than planned.

• One Met Model/Transformation - The underspend of £11.3m is to be 
reprofiled into future years. This includes an underspend in Optimising 
Response- mainly in the resource management project due to a revision 
in project delivery sequencing. There was also an underspend in 
Information Futures, relating to a review of the optimism included within 
the programme resulting in a decision to defer spend to future years. 

• Fleet Services – Fleet Services is showing a small overspend of £0.3m.

49

MPS (£m) Full year budget Outturn
Variance  

(£m)

Property Services

Transforming MPS 
Estate (including 
Property Forward 
Works) 100.0 88.6 -11.4

NCTPHQ 34.1 31.9 -2.2

Digital Policing Digital Policing 46.6 41.4 -5.2

OMM (One Met 
Model)/Transformation

Improving Public 
Access and First 
Contact 3.8 1.2 -2.6

Optimising Response 8.5 7.2 -1.3

Strengthening Local 
Policing 2.3 2.3 0.0

Transforming 
Investigation and 
Prosecution 31.7 26.9 -4.8

Strengthening Armed 
Policing 0.3 0.0 -0.3

Smarter Working 2.4 1.4 -1.0

Information Futures 1.3 0.0 -1.3

50.3 39 -11.3

Fleet 28.1 28.4 0.3

Sub-total Capital Expenditure 259.2 229.4 -29.8

Over-Programming -10.0 0 10.0

Total Capital Expenditure 249.2 229.4 -19.8

Finance

P
age 175



Capital
Capital expenditure trend (£m)

Quarterly Spend (£m)

Capital expenditure trend breakdown by directorate (%)

The annual data shows that from 2014/15 to 2016/17 the
MPS have underspent compared to the capital budget
agreed at the start of the year. This reflects the complexity,
scale and ambition of the Met’s capital programme, which
has historically resulted in a combination of project slippage
and under delivery, but there has been improvement.

In 2017/18 the Empress State Building was purchased,
bringing forward planned expenditure from 2018/19 to
2017/18. This is reflected above in the lighter red section of
the 17/18 Q4 column of the graph above.

50

• NCTPHQ – Counter Terrorism spend not included in 13/14 to 15/16 as the unit was not part of the MPS. 
• Since 2016/17 MPS became the legal owner of the CT function and are the lead force.
• In 2018/19, The Met have realigned the capital programme so Transformation programmes (except Estates) are captured in 

One Met Model  

P
age 176



Revenue Reserves

51

The table shows the breakdown of earmarked reserves and planned usage in 2018/19.

Earmarked revenue reserves are being used for a number of purposes as categorised in the table. These include
support of the One Met model transformation programme which supports much-needed investment to replace
outdated technology, improves the effectiveness of officers, increase productivity and drives future efficiencies.

Reserves are also held to manage officer FTEs over the medium term. This reserve is to enable forward planning
of officers numbers, which is dependent on assumptions about future resources available and considerate of
the time lag for feed through to officer numbers recruited. Owing to uncertainty over future funding,
underspends were transferred to reserves and are planned to release in future years to maintain officer FTEs at
the intended level. This gives the MPS a steady officer establishment over the medium term, allowing improved
operational planning.

The property reserves held are accumulated or drawn down on to facilitate the MPS estates rationalisation
programme.

MOPAC also hold reserves to support the delivery of time limited Police and Crime plan priority services, via
commissioning activity. There was a transfer in to reserves at year-end, relating to profiling of commissioning
spend and maximising external funding where possible.

General reserves which are retained in order to accommodate unexpected pressures are held at £47m (less
than 2%).

Reserves being held by the Met have been 
reduced significantly since 2014/15  and are 
planned to be run down by 2021/22.

Earmarked reserves have fallen from £373m at 
the end of 2014-15 (15% of the net budget) to 
£154m at the end of 2017-18 (6%). They are 
forecast to fall to £112m by the end of 2021-22 
(5%).

Full Year Revenue Reserves Transfer Future Years Revenue Reserves Balances 

The reserves usage is a transfer to reserves of 
£29.7m, including transfer of the overall outturn 
underspend (£12m) to reserves. 

Breakdown of Earmarked Revenue Reserves Usage

0
100
200
300
400
500

General reserves

Earmarked Reserves

Total Closing Reserves Balance

*forecast 

Opening 

balance

Total 

Transfers

Forecast 

Closing 

Balance

Total Reserves £m 201.1 29.6 230.6

Breakdown

Supporting OMM and Local Change 34.6 -10.9 23.7

Managing Officer FTEs 27.1 9.1 36.2

Property 19.9 23.3 43.2

Operational Costs 9.8 1.4 11.2

Historical public inquiries 9.6 -3.6 6.0

Insurance 6.7 0.0 6.7

Other earmarked (POCA) 6.9 -0.3 6.6

Improvements in Vetting 1.1 0.0 1.1

Business Group initiatives 7.3 -1.9 5.4

Specifically funded for third parties 16.1 -0.5 15.6

Specifically funded for third parties- 

airports

MOPAC 15.3 1.0 16.3

Forecast Underspend as at Q3 - 12.0 12.0

Subtotal Earmarked Reserves 154.4 29.6 184.0

Earmarked reserves as a % of NRE 5% 6%

General Reserve 46.6 - 46.6

General reserves as a % of NRE 2% 2%

2018/19

P
age 177



MOPAC Quarterly report 52

MOPAC Commissioning

Oversight

P
age 178



The 2018/19 MOPAC revised gross budget totals £66.7m, with a net budget of £38.7m. This provides the capacity to deliver democratic services for policing oversight, and to 
commission other bodies to deliver crime and policing commitments in line with the Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan, published in March 2017. This commissioning function accounts 
for a significant proportion of the MOPAC budget, with the outturn spend totalling £49.1m in 2018/19. The remaining budget is spent on core oversight and accountability functions 
carried out by a typical PCC. This proportion of spend is consistent with Police and Crime Commissioners for other similar sized forces.  Detail can be found here: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_budget_and_staffing_summary_final.pdf

Commissioning Activities 2018/19
These are examples of the major projects over 2018/19

A Better Criminal Justice System 
• £0.7m Reducing reoffending through a number of initiatives including 
• £0.9m on Advance Women Centres, providing support to female offenders. 
• £5.1m on an integrated victims and witness service

Keeping Children and Young People Safe 
• £3.2m on Child House Transformation project
• £2.6m Tackling knife crime and violence via the Mayor’s Knife Crime 

Strategy and from the Mayor’s Young Londoner’s Fund for knife crime and 
violence prevention, details on page 56.

• £1m on Early Intervention Youth Fund, detail on page 57.

London Crime Prevention Fund
• £16.9m was allocated to local authorities via London Crime Prevention 

Fund. This funding is allocated across the Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan 
priorities. 

Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) 
• £5.0m protecting and supporting victims via Domestic Violence Services,  London Havens and Rape Crisis 

Centres
• £3.8m on Police Transformation Projects: Drive, Multi Agency Stalking Intervention Programme and 

Sexual Violence Triage

A Better Policing Service for London 
• £0.6m on Training and Workforce Development transformation programme
• £0.9m on Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise development
• £0.8m on Safer Neighbourhood Boards

Standing Together Against Hatred, Intolerance and Extremism 
• £0.4m towards Online Hate Crime programme
• £0.2m towards victims support including LGBT and anti-Semitic victim support
• The Home Office also provides direct funding to boroughs to tackle extremism via the Prevent 

programme

Quarter 4 highlights

• Victim Support were confirmed as the lead provider for the new Integrated Victims and Witnesses Service on 8th February, which will see a £15m investment over two years. The 
service went live on the 1st April 2019. 

• On 27 February the Mayor announced an additional £15 million investment to help services that support women and girls who have been the victim of violence in London over the 
next three years. The funding will enable the Mayor to:

• Uplift existing domestic violence and sexual violence services to better meet demand. Including investment in Rape Crisis Centres, Sexual Assault Referral Centres and 
Independent Domestic Violence Advisors.

• Sustaining key innovation programmes in London including Multi Agency Stalking Investment Programme, Drive (holding domestic violence perpetrators to account) and 
London Survivors Gateway.

• Support Grass Roots provision and managing demand in the system through a new competitive funding agreement.
Commissioning of these services is now underway

• A pilot providing GPS tags to knife crime offenders on release from prison went live on 18 February, in four London boroughs (Croydon, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark). 
Subsequently the pilot is being rolled out to a further 20 boroughs.

• An invitation for tender to deliver services to support a female offender diversionary service was published in January 2019.

MOPAC Spend - Summary 

53
MOPAC Quarterly report

P
age 179

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_budget_and_staffing_summary_final.pdf


MOPAC Budget

Income
PPAF (Police Property Fund):
The Police Property Act Fund is made up of monies received by the police from the sale of certain
property and cash coming into the possession of police, to be used under the regulations for
charitable purposes. In 2018/19, £1m of spend was identified as expenditure which is eligible to
be funded via PPAF.

Home Office PIF/PTF:
The Home Office Police Transformation and Innovation Funds are intended to transform policing
by investing in digital technologies, creating a diverse and flexible workforce and new capabilities
to respond to changing crimes and threats. Further detail on Home Office PIF/PTF is available on
subsequent pages.

Ministry of Justice:
The Ministry of Justice victims funding funds the victims commissioning services in London.

DARA (Directorate of Audit, Risk and Assurance):
DARA is the lead provider of shared internal audit services across a diverse client base that
includes; MOPAC, Metropolitan Police Service, London Fire Brigade, National Police Chiefs
Council and the Greater London Authority. DARA’s costs are recovered through this income.

Reserves: 
The budget had a planned drawdown from MOPAC reserves of £3.8m, which supports the 
delivery of time limited Police and Crime Plan priority services MOPAC provide. At year-end, 
there is a variance of £4.8m, mainly due to the re-profiling of spend into future years.

Young Londoners Fund:
The Young Londoners Fund (YLF) is provided by the Mayor as one of the Mayor’s initiatives to 
support children and young people, further information is provided on page 56.

Early Intervention Youth Fund
The Early Intervention Youth Fund (EIYF) is funding provided by the Government to support the 
delivery of services which support and prevent young people from getting involved in crime. 

Other
This includes funding from other organisations such as NHS England to contribute towards 
funding for The Home Office PIF/PTF projects. 

Expenditure
Total gross expenditure outturn position was an underspend of £5.6m, largely 
relating to variances within staff pay and overtime, and supplies and services 
expenditure, which largely relates to commissioning spend.

Of this, £2.9m relates to externally funded activity, where MOPAC funding has 
been reduced in order to maximise external contributions. This allows for more 
sustainable continuation of delivery in future years as MOPAC funding will be 
reprofiled into the future years. 

Commissioning spend involves complex partnerships with a variety of types of 
organisations, and £1.2m of the underspend relates to the timing of delivery of 
these commissioned services, which will also be reprofiled into future years. 
Approximately £0.9m relates to delays in funding or at mobilisation stage; to 
enable further consideration to be taken in delivering the projects.  

MOPAC Outturn Position

MOPAC Quarterly report 54
MOPAC Commissioning

Revised 

Budget

Full Year 

Spend

Variance

£m £m £m

Staff Pay and overtime
10.0 10.5 0.5

Employee Related Expenditure 0.2 0.3 0.1

Premises Costs 1.3 1.3 0.0

Supplies and Services 55.2 49.0 -6.2

Total Gross Expenditure 66.7 61.1 -5.6

Income

PPAF -1.3 -1.0 0.3

Home Office PIF/PTF -7.6 -6.7 0.9

Ministry of Justice -10.2 -10.2 0.2

DARA -0.6 -0.6 0.0

Reserves -3.8 1.0 4.8

Young Londoners Fund -2.5 -2.5 0.0

Early Intervention Youth Fund -1.3 -1.1 0.2

Other -0.5 -1.2 -0.7

Total Net Expenditure 38.7 38.7 0.0

Cost category

P
age 180



MOPAC Commissioning

55

MOPAC Commissioning Budgets London Crime Prevention Fund (LCPF)

The London Crime Prevention 
Fund enables MOPAC to 
continue to support local 
community safety and 
prevention services whilst also 
recognising that some London 
challenges relating to the 
Police and Crime Plan 
priorities are better addressed 
through greater collaboration. 

This approach encourages the 
co-design, co-commissioning 
and co-delivery of services, 
provide efficiencies from 
joining up services across 
areas and providers and 
ensure that Londoners have 
access to the services they 
need.  

The outturn position shows 
spend of £16.9m against a 
budget of £15.7m. The 
boroughs largely spent to 
budget.

MOPAC approved the carry 
forward of £1.24m of 
underspend from the previous 
year (2017/18) as requested 
by local authorities.  

The Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime’s role as a commissioner
has developed significantly since the creation of the office, following
the enactment of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act
2011. In 2012/13 MOPAC commissioning budget was £23.6m; in
2018/19, the outturn spend was £49.1m.

MOPAC’s commissioning has aided the development of regional and
local partnerships, attracting in match funding with a focus on
efficient and effective services. MOPAC has also put in place new
approaches to commissioning, working more to develop consortia
arrangements across the voluntary and statutory sectors as well as
testing alliance based commissioning models; putting the providers
more at the forefront of service change and improvement.

MOPAC Commissioning

£2.9

£15.4

£14.1

£13.4

£3.3

2018/19 Commissioning Outturn spend against 
PCP Priorities £m

Standing together against
hatred and intolerance

Children and Young People

Better Criminal Justice
Service

Tackling Violence Against
Women and Girls

Better Police Force

Boroughs 
Total 

Budget 
18/19 (£m)

Total Spend 
2018/19

(£m) Variance

Barking and Dagenham £0.45 £0.35 -£0.10

Barnet £0.33 £0.33 -

Bexley £0.30 £0.30 -

Brent £0.59 £0.59 -

Bromley £0.29 £0.29 -

Camden £0.53 £0.53 -

Croydon £0.71 £0.71 -

Ealing £0.56 £0.56 -

Enfield £0.51 £0.51 -

Greenwich £0.59 £0.58 -£0.01

Hackney £0.81 £0.81 -

Hammersmith and Fulham £0.44 £0.44 -

Haringey £0.52 £0.61 £0.09

Harrow £0.22 £0.22 -

Havering £0.31 £0.31 -

Hillingdon £0.34 £0.34 -

Hounslow £0.47 £0.43 -£0.04

Islington £0.65 £0.65 -

Kensington and Chelsea £0.33 £0.33 -

Kingston upon Thames £0.11 £0.10 -£0.01

Lambeth £1.07 £1.07 -

Lewisham £0.75 £0.75 -

Merton £0.22 £0.21 -£0.01

Newham £0.73 £0.73 -

Redbridge £0.42 £0.42 -

Richmond upon Thames £0.10 £0.10 -

Southwark £0.71 £0.71 -

Sutton £0.20 £0.20 -

Tower Hamlets £0.80 £0.80 -

Waltham Forest £0.51 £0.51 -

Wandsworth £0.49 £0.49 -

Westminster £0.65 £0.65 -

LCPF Prior year £0.00 £1.24 £1.24

Grand Total £15.7 £16.9 £1.1

P
age 181



MOPAC Commissioning- Young Londoners Fund

Knife Crime Community Seed Fund 
Last year £1.153m was made available to small and 
medium-sized projects to fund projects to address knife 
crime
The fund was administered by the London Community 
Foundation and provided 43 grants to 42 organisations in 
nine priority borough, identified as having higher rates of 
knife crime
The seed funding project is still being evaluated but 89% of 
projects said the funding was important to their project. 

London Gang Exit Support service 
The London Gang Exit Support service helps young Londoners to exit gangs – both 
those involved in youth violence and those who are exploited by them. During 
2018/9 242 young people were referred to the program and 152 young people 
engaged in a range of interventions including 1:1 support in accessing training
Self reported data from the service shows that 86% of programme participants 
engage in gang exit activity and reduce or cease involvement in gangs and 84% 
reduction in reports of harm / feeling vulnerable

A& E Services Youth Work/Major Trauma Centres
The Major Trauma Centres services successfully contacted 993 young people. 
It engaged and delivered interventions to 492 young people, of which 52 were 
under 18 and not known to services. Support was also offered around safeguarding 
with family interventions being offered where needed.

Knife Crime Communications
The Knife Crime Communications investment is towards the development of a media 
campaign targeted towards young people and their parents, raising awareness of the 
dangers and consequences of knife crime. The Mayor’s London Needs You Alive video 
campaign had 4 million views. A Met Youth survey showed Over a quarter of those 
who had carried a knife (26%, 53 of 206 surveyed) were more likely to be aware of 
the campaign than those who had not carried a knife (17%, 1081 of 6418 surveyed). 
Over half surveyed felt the campaign made them think more about the risks of 
carrying a knife.

MOPAC led activities funded by YLF

56MOPAC Commissioning
MOPAC Quarterly report

Programme 
2018/19 

Budget
2018/19 Spend Variance

 £m  £m 

Knife Crime Community Seeds                1.15                              1.27              0.12 

London Gang Exit                0.50                              0.50                  -   

A&E Services Youth Work                0.64                                   -   -           0.64 

Knife Crime Communications                0.19                                   -   -           0.19 

Total                2.48                              1.77 -           0.71 

The Young Londoners Fund (YLF) was announced by the 
Mayor in February 2018.

Where there are variances against budget, MOPAC 
have been in discussion with GLA on re-profiling of 
budgets in line with programme delivery. 

Description of 2018/19 activity

Description of 2018/19 activity

P
age 182



MOPAC Quarterly report 57

Early Intervention Youth Fund
The Home Office Early Intervention Youth Fund was launched on 30th July 2018. £22m was available nationally, for the two years covering this year 
(2018/19) and next (2019/20). The fund was open to Police and Crime Commissioners (PCC’s) in England and Wales as lead bidders. PCC’s must 
work with Community Safety Partnerships (or similar local partnerships) to bid for funding to support targeted early intervention and prevention 
activity for young people (and in some instances young adults).

MOPAC were awarded £4.2m over 10 projects. This funding is allocated across 2018/19 and 2019/20. 

Bid Lead organisation  2018/19 Award 2018/19 Outturn  Variance 2019/20 award

Pan London Rescue and Response County Lines project  Brent/Lewisham                         0.20                                0.21                  0.01                                  0.36 

Your voice- Your future  Barking and Dagenham                         0.18                                0.15 -               0.03                                  0.32 

Harrow Borough  Harrow                         0.19                                0.18 -               0.01                                  0.34 

Breaking Barriers Southwark  Southwark                         0.13                                0.12 -               0.01                                  0.31 

Westminster, Kensington and Chelsea and Hammersmith & Fulham boroughs  Westminster                         0.16                                0.05 -               0.12                                  0.34 

Crime Prevention Pathway  Havering                         0.14                                0.13 -               0.01                                  0.33 

Divert  MPS                         0.14                                0.06 -               0.07                                  0.32 

Responsive Community Engagement Team  Merton                         0.09                                0.07 -               0.02                                  0.27 

Camden Borough  Camden                          0.08                                0.03 -               0.05                                  0.15 

Safe Haven projects in New Cross/Deptford For Jimmy                         0.06                                0.05 -               0.01                                  0.10 

                        1.36                                1.04 -               0.32                                  2.83 

P
age 183



Police Transformation and Innovation Funds
Innovation Budgets; Transformation Fund 

Included in overall commissioning  budgets is funding managed on behalf of the Home Office Police Innovation Fund and Police Transformation Fund. 
The projects involve high levels of collaboration between PCCs and other partners. This is a multi-year fund, with funding covering the financial years 2017 to 2020. 
The projects with match funding attached include funding from various partners such as other PCCs and other bodies i.e. Department for Education, NHSE 
(London).

Child House: Children who have been victims of sexual abuse or 
exploitation are able to access a complete range of support services from 
dedicated experts under one roof through Child House (renamed Light 
House). In 2018/19, 158 young people were referred to the project, with 
61 young people engaging and receiving a range 
of therapeutic interventions. Support is provided for children and young 
people aged up to 17, and those aged up to 25 where there are additional 
needs/vulnerabilities. In recognition of the service's innovative approach, 
it was shortlisted for a local government achievement award. 

Drive: This programme delivers an innovative response to domestic abuse 
that aims to reduce the number of child and adult victims of domestic 
abuse by deterring perpetrator behaviour. Drive has been operational 
within all 5 of the sites testing replication under this PTF grant for 6 
months, (since Sept 2018) and a total of 244 service users have been 
allocated to Drive. There has been significant progress as the delivery 
teams and system becomes more embedded within each of the areas.

MOPAC Quarterly report 55
MOPAC Commissioning

Multi-agency stalking intervention: This programme enables improved responses to 
stalking across the criminal justice system and the health sector through rehabilitative 
treatment for stalkers. All MASIP project areas went operational at the beginning of 
September 2018. Local Area Projects are identifying stalking offenders suitable to 
engage in the more intensive interventions of MASIP.

Police Training and Development: Working in collaboration with the Open University, 
and alongside the College of Policing, in 2018/19 this national programme focused on 
supporting police forces and Police and Crime Commissioners to strengthen learning and 
development provision for police officers and staff.

Sexual Violence Triage: An innovative approach to building integrated support and care 
pathways for sexual violence victims, enabling swifter access to services and lower drop 
out rates. The service went live in October 2018 and has provided ISVA support to over 
160 people with complex needs, whilst providing advice sessions to an additional 175 
people on waiting lists. Additional funding provided by the Home office in the last two 
quarters of the year has enabled 1000 counselling hours, plus additional ISVA support 
time. 58

Project

Home Office 

Funding

Match 

Funding
Total

Home 

Office 

Funding

Match 

Funding
Total

Home 

Office 

Variance

Match 

Funding 

Variance

Total

Child House 2.63 0.56 3.19 3.03 1.25 4.28 -0.4 -0.69 -1.1

Drive 1.34 0 1.34 1.34 0.24 1.58 0.00 -0.24 -0.2

Multi-Agency Stalking 

Intervention Programme 1.75 0 1.75 2.09 0 2.09 -0.34 0 -0.3

Police Training and 

Development 0.65 0 0.65 0.65 0.33 0.98 0 -0.33 -0.3

Sexual Violence Triage 0.37 0 0.37 0.52 0.16 0.68 -0.15 -0.16 -0.3

6.742 0.56 7.30 7.64 1.97 9.61 -0.90 -1.41 -2.31

18/19 Budget18/19 spend 18/19 Budget

P
age 184

https://awards.themj.co.uk/


 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Police and Crime Committee Work 
Programme  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 3 July 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out progress on the Police and Crime Committee’s work programme. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1  That the Committee notes the progress on its work programme as set out in the report. 

 

2.2 That the Committee notes the topics for its thematic meetings in July, September and 

first thematic meeting in October 2019, which are subject to approval of the GLA 

Oversight Committee at its meeting on 1 July 2019. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee’s work programme is intended to enable the Committee to effectively fulfil its roles 

of holding the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) to account and investigating issues 

of importance to policing and crime reduction in London.  The Committee’s work involves a range of 

activities, including formal meetings with MOPAC, the Metropolitan Police Service (the MPS) and 

other stakeholders, site visits, written consultations and round table meetings. 

 

3.2 The Committee will usually meet twice a month (it will meet three times in October 2019).  One of 

the monthly meetings is usually to hold a question and answer (Q&A) session with the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime.  The Commissioner of the MPS has been invited to these meetings.  

The Committee will primarily use Q&A meetings to investigate topical issues and review MPS 

performance, including consideration of MOPAC’s approach to holding the MPS to account.  

 

3.3 The Committee’s other monthly meeting is used to consider a particular topic or aspect of policing 

and crime in greater detail.  These investigations will be conducted either by the full Committee or 

working groups.  Working groups will have delegated authority to prepare reports on the 

Committee’s behalf in consultation with party Group Lead Members.  Full reports will be approved 

and published by the full Committee. 

Page 185

Agenda Item 8



        

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1  The work programme has been designed to proactively examine issues of interest but also allows for 

flexibility to respond to topical issues and for the Committee to react to MOPAC’s work programme. 

Topics will be added to the timetable for Q&A meetings as they arise.  The Committee may choose 

to use its thematic meeting slot for roundtables, briefings and site visits as well as formal committee 

meetings.  

 

4.2 The Committee’s programme currently includes the meeting slots set out in the table below.  The 

topics for the Committee’s thematic meetings on 17 July 2019, 19 September 2019 and 

3 October 2019 are subject to the approval of the GLA Oversight Committee at its meeting on 

1 July 2019: 

 

Meeting Date 
 

Type of Meeting 

Wednesday, 3 July 2019 at 10am 
 

Q&A session  

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 at 10am 
 

Thematic: The effectiveness of MOPAC 
programmes in tackling serious violence. 

Wednesday, 4 September 2019 at 10am 
 

Q&A session 

Thursday, 19 September 2019 at 10am 
 

Modern day slavery. 

Thursday, 3 October 2019 at 10am 
 

Domestic abuse. 
 

Tuesday, 15 October 2019 at 10am 
 

Q&A (3 PCC meetings in October) 
 

Wednesday, 30 October 2019 at 10am Thematic 
 

Wednesday, 13 November 2019 at 10am Q&A session 
 

Wednesday, 27 November 2019 at 10am 
 

Thematic 
 

Wednesday, 4 December 2019 at 10am Q&A session 
 

Thursday, 9 January 2020 at 10am 
 

Q&A session 

Wednesday, 22 January 2020 at 10am Thematic 
 

Wednesday, 5 February 2020 at 10am 
 

Q&A session 

Wednesday, 12 February 2020 at 10am 
 

Thematic 

Wednesday, 4 March 2020 at 10am  
 

Q&A session 

Wednesday, 18 March 2020 at 10am 
 

Thematic 

 

 

Page 186



        

Site Visits and Briefings 

4.3 From time to time the Committee undertakes site visits to support its work.  The Committee has 

previously agreed that it will undertake site visits to the MPS’s Basic Command Units (BCUs), a 

custody suite and the Metropolitan Police Marine Policing Unit.  Members have also expressed an 

interest in visiting the Metropolitan Police Dog Support Unit.  These site visits will be arranged 

during the 2019/20 Assembly year. 

 

4.4 The Committee undertook a site visit to the Central South BCU on 19 June 2019, as part of its 

scrutiny review of sexual offences and rape.  A report at Agenda Item 6 gives more information on 

the visit. 

 

4.5 On 11 June 2019, Members of the Committee received a briefing from the Deputy Mayor for 

Policing and Crime, MOPAC’s Director of Strategy, Head of Engagement and Programme Manager 

(Active Citizenship) on MOPAC’s Public Engagement Strategy and the work that had been conducted 

to inform the programme.  Members heard about the public engagement programme to date and 

future developments. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 

 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  None 

 

Contact Officer: Janette Roker, Senior Policy Adviser 

Telephone: 020 7983 6562 

E-mail: janette.roker@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 187

mailto:becky.short@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 188


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	4 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript of Hate Crime
	PCC minutes - 4 June 2019
	Minutes - Appendix 1  - Transcript - Q&A MOPAC and MPS 4 June 2019

	5 Summary List of Actions
	Appendix 1 - Letter from Director of VRU to Chair

	6 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	7 Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service
	Appendix 1 - DMPC report to PCC  3 July 2019
	Appendix 1 - Annex A - MOPAC Quarter 4 Performance Report

	8 Police and Crime Committee Work Programme



